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PREFACE.

THE work published in  guarto inm 1820,
under the. title of a Narrative of the Political
and Military Transactions in: British India, under
the administration of the Marquess of Hastings,
has formed the 'basis of the present volumes.
_'The fntroduction of a particular-account of the

Nipil .War, and the completioni of the 'details .
of that with the Mahrattas to the taking of
Ascergurh, together with the addition. of a new
and fuller summary of the poluivi:i't;"a‘.l";,amf finan-
cial result of these operations, ‘have led to
the adoption of the more ambitious' title now
prefixed. In other respects, the present work:
'is only a revised edition of the Narrative.

. In the preface to .the quarto volume, the
“Author sufficiently explained the motives which
‘had induced him to publish. A connected state-
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ment of the events which had then recently
occurred, seemed to him to be a desideratum,
which, being opportunely placed for informa-
tion, it was in a manner his duty, faﬂing any
one more able, to endeavour to supply. The
compilation was, however, made at a time
and under circumstances that obliged him to
conclude it prematurely, and to give the results
. in anticipation from mere. estimate or conjec-
ture.: This.defect it was the Author’s intention
to have remedied by an ‘early second edition,
and ‘even before the published volume reached
him in India, some progress had been made in
 the collection of ‘materials for this purpose. . The
design .was,” however, abandoned, partly from
the pressure of ~official avocations, and partly
becaitse a succession of similar publications
threatened to exhaust the public. interest by
pressing the subject too much upon’ attention.
When, therefore, the Author came to England,
in the .course of the past year,” he had no
fixed intention of republishing; indeed, with
_exception ‘to the cliapters- .on the Nipal War,
which“-had been compiled in"the first instance,
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he brought with. him no materials but a few
loose .notes,3 takcn hastily in- the course of bu- -
vsinesé,‘ and hence for the most part irrelative,
-or incomplete. ' "Moreover, an accident whicl}
sep,aratedb him from his baggage, books, and:
papers during the voyage home, -and led to
the loss of several of the latter, must further,
have defeated such a purpose, had the desngn
been seriously entertained.

. Nevertheless, it ~seemed .to the Author, be-
fore he had been long in England, that many
circumstances combined to revive*the public
interest in Indian affairs. He found also
that his work was in demand, though long
out of print; its utility as an authentic exposé
of the events of the period not having been
superseded by ;my' of the publications’ which
had sincé: appeared. The time, therefore, ap~
pearing.‘ favourable, -the  Author was encouraged
to undertake the superintendence of a new
edition through the press, and -hence it bes
came necessary for him to complete. the nar+
_rative from: such materials as he could com-
mand, and more .especially to endeavour to
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bring: down ‘the results to the latest period,
according to the original design. From what
has been stated, however, it will be evident
that this part of the work has been executed
under great comparative disadvantages,

‘The author-has no longer had the same means
of ready reference to official and private corre-
spondence under which it was his boast to have
compiled the original narrative. He is sensible,
also, that much of the favour, and still more of
the credit and authenticity with which his first
publication was viewed, were owing to the official
sitiation he then filled, and the intimate rela-

"tion with the héad of the Indian government, in
which, from that circumstance, he was supposed
to be placed. This certainly is an advantage he
cannot claim for any thing new in the present
edition ; morecover, the distance from his friends,
amongst the actors and parties concerned in the
events recorded, has deprived him of the power
of reference to their judgment and superior in-
telligence, ‘an advantage of which he before
largely availed himself. In the present instance,
therefore, the public have the fruit of the Au-
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thor's unaided labours; and for any errors or
imperfections, or incorrect opinions which may
be found, the responsibility is entirely his own.
- With respect to the form of publication, it has
been the author’s aim ta place the work as ex-
tensively as possible within the reach of those
connected with India here or abroad, and teo
make it as useful as a regard to their con-
venience and its scope and des:gn have al-
lowed. To have annexed copies of the treaties,
and copious notes and references in support of
the text, would have had the effect of needlessly
swelling the size of the volumes; for the few
who require these minute details, can have no
difficulty in procuring the entire correspondence
as published at the India House, while the abs-
tract contained in the body of the narrative,
will suffice for every purpose of general infor-
mation. _

The plans and views introduced into the
quarto volume, in illustration of the events of
the Mahratta War, have, with exception to the
general map of the seat of operations, been
omitted in this edition, several of them having
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been found to be more or less incorrect, and all
greatly inferior to the topographical delineations
in the works of Colonel Blacker and Lieutenant:
Lake, to which any one needing such illustra-
tions may refer. 'The few, however, having re-
lation to the events of the Nipil War, are re-
tained, as necessary to show the nature of that
. country, and -its positions, and not to be found
elsewhere; one or two additional maps of the
seat of operations against that nation, have
further been inserted for the same reasons.
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CHAPTER I.

INTRODUCTORY MATTERS.

State of India on Lord . Moira’s arrival—Relationy of . the
British with Native Powers—Alliances,, subsidiary protec-
tive—disposition towards British—of States subject to their
influence—Nizam — Péshwa— other subsidiary Allies—of
protected Allies—Independent Powers—Holkur—Sindheea
—Nature of their power and administration since 1805—
military force—how employed—disposition towards British
turers not checked or suppressed—Pindarees in 1814~
their history—seettlement on Nerbudda---mode of warfare
—guccesses—rise of Kureem Khan—his power in 1806~
and fall—Cheetoo—Dost Mahommed—-Kureem's redemp-
tion—second rise—designs, and full-Durras in 1814~
Patans--~their - power—locality—Relations with Mahrattas
and Rajpoots—-Ameer Khan—his force in 1814.

THE Earl of Moira, now Marquess of Hastings,
arrived in India, and assumed the government-
general in October 1813. The seven years of
his predecessor, Lord Minto’s government, had
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been employed first in preparing the States of the
West to resist the passage of the French, whe
then were thought to meditate an invasion over.
land ; afterwards in composingthe discontents o
the Madras army ; and latterly, in wresting fron
the dominion of France, and the Continenta
Powers under her ,'ix‘iﬂu'ence,' their remaining in
sular possessions in the Indian Ocean and Archi
pelago. Hence this administration produced ver
little change in the political relations establishec
with the several native powers, during the se
cond- government of Lord Cornwallis, and tha
of Sir ‘George Barlow.  Some additional chiefs o
Bundelkhund had indeed been admitted to th
benefit of a protective alliance ; and in 1809 th
system of our relations was extended to the Sutle]
by the reception of certain Seikh chieftains als:
under protection, -as ‘a barrier to' the rising am
_ bition ‘of Runjeet ‘Singh. Moreover; in 1812
measures of compulsion were undertaken agains
the Rewa principality, in consequence of .thi
Raja’s having aided an incursion- of Pindaree
into the rich provinces of Mirzapoor and Soutl
Buhar. - These were, -however, still in progres
on the arrival of Lord Hastings, and the trac
was only finally subjected to our influence by hi
‘Lordship. In like manner an attempt made b;
Lord Minto, in 1808-9, to bring about a subsi
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diary alliance with the Bhoosla Raja, proved at
the time abortive; and though the hope of  even-
tually accomplishing this object was not finally
extinguished, the measure was one remaining for
the new Governor-General.
With the slight modifications above adverted
‘to, the relations of the British with the native
powers of India were precisely in the condition
in which they were placed at the close of the
Mahratta war, in_ 1805-6; but the course of
events had in this interval produced many impor-
tant changes, as well in the relative position of
the several powers towards .one another, as in
their temper towards ourselves. « It will be nsefud,
by way of introduction to the proposed Narrative of
the principal Political -and Military Transactions
of Lord Hastings’s administration, to give a brief
sketch of their actual condition at the time of his
Lordship’s arrival. ~
The States of India, that is, of Hmdoostan and
_the Dukhun, for external powets, as those border-
ing on Persia to the west, and the Burmese and
others to the east, are necessarily excluded from
the review, may be classed at this period under
four heads. First, those with whom the British
nation had formed subsidiary alliances. Secondly,
those enjoying its protection, without any subsi-
diary contrdct, and consisting for the most part of
small principalities, scarcely meriting the name
B2
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of substantive powers. Thirdly, acknowledged
princes with whom the British government was at-
peace, and connected by the mutual obligation of.
treaties ; but with whom it had no closer inter-
course, or recognized means of influence, except
in so far as thé residence of a British representa-
tive at the court was sometimes matter of stipu-
‘lation. Fourthly, independent chieftains and asso-
ciations never. yet acknowledged as substantive
states, and to which the British nation was bound
by no engagements whatsoever.

The states connected with the British by subsi-
.diary: alliances were, the Nizam, whose court was
at Hyderabad in the Dukhun; the Peshwa, resi-

. ding at Poona; the Gykwar, whose capital was
Brodera, or Baroda, and who held at one time the
greater part of Goozerat ; and the Rajas of Mysoor
and Travankoor. The Nuwab of Oudh ought,
perhaps, in strictness, to be added to these ; but
the cessions exacted of him by Lord Wellesley, in
commutation for the stipulated subsidy, had so
circumscribed ‘his territory and contracted his’
means, that although independent in the manage-
ment. of his. remaining possessions, and conse-
quently far superior to the pageant courts of Deh-
lee, Moorshedabad, and Arcot, {Urkat,) he was
nevertheless in too great dependence on the British
government, to be regarded as one of the political
statgs of India. '
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All the subsidiary alliances had been formed
upon the same. principles. The  British nation
stipulated to furnish a specific force for the protfec-
tion: of the country, and maintenance of the sove-
reign’s legitimate authority.. This force was not
ordinarily to be employed in the duties of civil
administration, nor in the collection of the reve-
_nues; and the British government generally
‘agreed not to interfere in such matters. A sub-
sidy, equivalent to the payment of the force, was
furnished by the protected state either in periodical
money payments, or by territorial cession; more
frequently the latter. A certain native contingent,
.as, 1t"was ‘called, was. also .to; be maintained in
readiness-to act with the British troops, and for
‘the efficiency of this, the protected state was an-
swerable. But the most material provision of the
treaties was, that the states accepting them, en-
-gaged to discontinue all political negotiation with
the other powers of India, except in concert with
the British government; and, to submit all claims
‘and disputes with others to its arbitration and
adjustment. This article, though an indispensable
correlative of the stipulation’ for protection, gave
-to the British a controlling power in all matters
.of external relation ; while the obligation to main-
tain the protected prince’s just authority, implied
the right of interfering, with advice at least, in
matters. of internal policy likely to bring it in
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question. Hence all the subsidizing states were
more or less in dependence,—a reference to the
British government being always necessary either
‘to prevent or punish the aggression of neighbours;
to quell insurrections, or enforce the submission of
powerful vassals, and guarantee their Jnst trcat-

ment ; or finally, to regulate the succession on a
sovereign’s demise,

The engagements for the simple protection of
chieftainships and principalities had the same con- °
trolling character, nor did they differ materially in
substance from the subsidiary treaties, except in-
asmuch as there was seldom any consideration
exacted for the protection to be afforded, and
never any obligation on the British government to
maintain a specific force for the purpose. The
principal members of this class were—the Rajas
of Bhurtpoor, of Dholpoor Baree, of Alwa or
Macheree, and various other chiefs round Dehlce
and Agra, with whom arrangements had been
made on the close of the Mahratta war in 1805-6.
The Rajés of Oorcha and Tehre, of Duttea, of

" Punna, and others of the Bundeela race,* together
with the Mahratta chiefs of Jaloun and Jhansce,
and one or two more taken under protection on
the conquest of Bundelkhund, or subsequently ;
also the Raja of Rewa, in Boghilkhund, and the

® See the nomenclature annexed to this edition.
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Seikh chieftains between the Jumna and Sutlej, to
whom allusion has before been made, as added to
the list in the time of Lord Minto. The Moosul-
min Nuwabs of Rampoor and Kalpee in Hindoos-
tan, of Kurnol and.Ellichpoor in the Dukhun,
and nuirhberless others,’ whom it would be tedious
to' recapitulate, belong-also- to this class. The
two Rajpoot states of Jypoor and Joudhpoor had
been included in this system by Lord Wellesley;
but in the settlement of 1805-6 they were left
without the pale of ourrelations, from an appre-
hension that these were already too extensive.
The Raja of Jypoor was considered,- by his con=
duct in the war with Holkur, to have forfeited all
claim to our further protection; while the Raja of
Joudhpoor had refused to- ratify -the treaty con-
cluded with Lord Lake, by his representative ; so
that no impediment arose out of any existing en-
gagements with either state, to counteract the
desire then felt by the British government to
withdraw from the connexion.

When mention is made of the extent of the
British influence, in estimating the national power
and resources in India, it is in allusion fo the '
states and principalitiés whose relation with us is_
of one or other of the above.two descriptions.
These must by no means be overlooked in such an
estimate, for it is one most striking feature of - the
connexion, generally indeed an express stipulation,
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that in case of exigency the whole resources of
our ally shall be at the command and under the
direction of the British government. It mustnot,
however, be supposed that of the states thus subject
to our influence, all were équally well contented with
their lot, or ready'to afford the aid’ of theirre-
sources with the same zeal and alacrity. Their
sentiment towards us was almost as various as the
circumstances in which they found ~themselves
placed. Sometimes the connexion originated in
motives of ;ambition ‘or interest, or present neces-.
sity; and upon gaining the temporary object
sought from the alliance, the restraints it imposed
on all schemes of further aggrandizement would
render the prince who' formed it restless and dis-
contented. Sometimes the British government
would, from motives of policy, be compelled to
pursue ulterior objects, and urge their acceptance
with an importunity very irksome and disagreeable
‘to the ally. Sometimes the personal character of
the prince or his minister,.and as often that of the
British representative at his court, would lead to
irritating disputes and mutual alienation.” But a
more, general source of discontent necessarily ex-
isted in the checks imposed, both directly and in-
directly, on the gratification of private revenge,
capricious cruelty, and other bad passions. Hence
it was but seldom that a prince’s gratitude and
sincere attachment could be depcpded upon, unless
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he owed to us his elevation to power, or came
to' the Musnud after the establishment of our
influence, with moderate views. and chastened
ambition, satisfied with the undisturbed enjoy-
ment of what he poséessed, and well convinced
_ that, but for the alliance, he would not be ‘able to
maintain himself in that.

_Of the subsidizing states, the Nizam was our
most useful ally, and the connexion with him had,
from various circumstances, assumed an anomalous
character.. Nizam Ulee Khan formed the alliance
in his old age, not long after he had received a -
severe defeat from the Mahratta forces at Kurdla,
and when the power and ambition of Tippoo was
also a subject of constant apprehension to him.
There were at the time two parties at his court
one devoted to the French interest, and placing
its reliance on the troops officered chiefly by that
nation, who, since the convention of Kurdla, had
. been greatly strengthened; the other attached to
the English, and headed by Azim ool Oomra, the
.prime minister. Nizam Ulee, sensible of his own
.weakness and increasing infirmities; desired only
repose and security for the future. He was
readily led to-conceive a suspicion of the French
party, from seeing the same interest predominant
at the court of his rival Tippoo, as well as in most
of the Mahratta durbars, and hence fell naturally
into the views of his minister ; -whose anxiety for a
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connexion with the British was not, it must be
confessed, wholly disinterested. Having brought
about the alliance of 1798, the same influence ef-
fected the more close connexion of 1800, which
secured to us the aid of the Nizam's resources in
the approaching contest with the Mahrattas ; but
this latter measure was rather yielded to the para-
mount influence of the minister, than adopted by
Nizam Ulee from personal conviction of its benefit
to his own interests; and, indeed, during the last
years of the reign of this prince, the ascendancy of
Avzim ool Omra was so complete as to enable him
to assume the entire direction of affairs at Hyder-
abad. Upon the death of Nizam Ulee, in 1803,
his eldest son, Meer Ukbur Ulee, who in his
father’s lifetime had the title of Sekundurjah, suc-
ceeded to the musnud without opposition. For
this advantage, and for the subsequent acquisition
of Berar on the close of the Mahratta war, this
prince felt indebted to the course of measures
adopted by the ministers of his predecessor, and
particularly to the connexion subsisting with the
British. Being of an indolent habit, and unambi-
tious character, he was well content to leave the
conduct of affairs in the hands he found them.
The ascendancy of Azim ool Omra therefore con-
tinued till this minister’s death in 1804. "He was
succeeded by his relation, Meer Alum, who found
his advantage in drawing closer the ties subsisting
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with the British government; for it was to its in-
fluence mainly that he owed his appointment, and
he continually needed its support against the in-
tricues of his rivals. Meer Alum died in 1808,
when the reigning Nizam made a feeble effort to
exercise the rights of sovereignty, by the selection
of a minister from amongst his personal favourites.
The competitars for the vacant office were three:
Mooneer ool Moolk, Meer Alum’s son-in-law, and
a connexion of the Nizam’s favourite wife; Shums
ool Oomra, commander of the household troops,
and a large jageerdar; and Chundoo Lal, a shrewd
Hindoo,'long employed under the two former mi-
nisters, and by far the most capable person about
the court. The British government espoused the
cause of the last mentioned, and assumed openly,|
on this occasion, the right of dictating that the
minister should be a person in its confidence.
After much discussion, the matter was compro-
mised, by leaving to the Nizam the appointment
of a nominal premier, on the condition that
Chundoo Lal should be the deputy, and the prin-
cipal never interfere with his administration.
After wavering a little, the choice of Ukbur Ulee
fell upon Mooneer ool Moolk, the least fit ; and in
setting aside the other competitor, he is said to
have been influenced principally by the discovery
that of the two we should have preferred him for
the station of nominal chief. The arrangement
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here described took ' effect in 1810; since when,
Chundoo Lal has managed all the affairs of this
‘state, while Mooneer ool Moolk passes his time in
consulting astrologers, and the Nizam, partly
from ill-humour, and partly from indolence and
imbecility, refrains wholly from intermeddling.
As the necessary result of such' a system, the
British influence assumed from this time forward
a more confirmed character: the efficient minister
was wholly dependent on its aid for the enforce-
ment of his daily measures and orders; and
through him the resources and means of the state
took whatever direction was pointed out by our
representative ‘at the court. Chundoo Lal was
naturally distrustful of the milifary establishment
of the Nizam, and of the chiefs, who wasted the
revenues of the state under the system of assign-
ments for. its maintenance. - Hence he readily:
adopted a suggestion, which the inefficient state of
the contingent gave us the excuse for offering, and
consented, as a means of reforming this force, to
raise battalions, to be officered and disciplined like
British sepoy ‘regiments. In 1814 there - were
two brigades of this description, whose services,
when not required in .the field as a comtingent,
were most useful in’ collecting the revenues, and
aiding the civil administration; and whose exist-
ence gave to the Nizam’s government a strength
independent of the British subsidiary force, thus
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saving our ally from the humiliating necessity of ap-
plying on all occasions for its aid. But while the
brigades thus effectually answered this avowed pur-
pose, they weie yet more useful to the minister’s per-
_sonal views; as they enabled him to set at defiance,
and ultimately to break down, all the military vas-
sals and retainers of the court, whose rivalry and in-
trigues had heretofore been the cause of so much
distraction. Being, however; officered entu‘ely by
British subjects, and chiefly by transfer from the
Company’s military service, the selection being
with the resident, -under the approval of the su-
preme government, the system rivetted for ever.’
the dependence of the country. In case of dis-
putes with the British, it was plain that the
troops must follow the party of their officers; but
this was a contingency that Chundoo Lal needed
- not to provide against, for he felt himself essen-
tially a British minister. :
" \Vhile circumstances had thus reduced the
state of Hyderabad to a condition little different
from' that of a  British province, Bajee ‘Rao
~ Peshwa was. pursuing a very opposite p‘oliéy' in
the adjoining Mahratta territory of Poona. He
was a prince of considerable’ ability, and needed
no: minister' to relieve him from the toils of go-
vernment. With consummate art he availed
himself of his connexion with the British to reco-
ver and improve his own resources; but, instead
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of implicitly trusting to this aid, he evinced at all
times the greatest jealousy of any attempt to ce-
ment a closer union. It had been distinctly fore-
seen by Lord Wellesley, that this prince only en-
tered into the defensive alliance from conviction
that “he had no other way of recovering any
part of his just authority, or of maintaining tran-
quillity in his empire ;°* and that on “his affairs
taking a favourable turn, he would, supported by
the sentiments of the different branches of the
Mahratta empire, be desirous of annulling the en-
gagements he had made with the British govern-
ment” Fourteen years had now passed since the
conclusion of the first subsidiary alliance with the
Peshwa at Bassein, and ten since the connexion
was matured by the arrangements consequent on
the successful issue of the first Mahratta war.
If, during this period, Bajce Rao had maintained
the character of a good ally, it was because the
interval was necessary—first, to consolidate his
own power, and then to court the general senti-
ment of the Mahratta nation, which had been so
prophetically designated as the foundation of a
future rupture. He was just reaching this eleva-
tion when Lord Hastings assumed the govern-
ment; and the prominent part he thenceforward

* Vide Pol. Despatch to the Court of Directors, Sep-
tember 1804.
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acted in the palitical drama, affords the best de-
velopement of his policy and actual disposition at
the time.

At the courts of the three remaining powers
with whom subsidiary alliances had been formed,
the ascendancy of the British influence was fixed
even more firmly than at Hyderabad. The terri-
tory and resources were, it is to be observed, in
each case, much -less considerable, whence the
conviction felt of the greatness of our power, and
of the utter hopelessness of any attempt to thwart
our views caused them all to give at once into
the policy of sparing no effort to secure our fa-
vour, on which rested all their hopes of pros-
perity. With the Gykwar, the same cause which
operated at Hyderabad, viz. the prince’s imbe-
cility, had contributed to establish a state® of
things in some respects similar ; but here the right
of the British government to interfere in-the in-
ternal administration of the country, was matter
of express stipulation by treaty. The Mysoor

* Soon after the subsidiary alliance, the utter incapacity of
Anund Rao, the reigning Gykwar, and the coafusion intro-
duced into his affairs by Arab mercenaries and bankers, to
whom the state was indebted, induced the leading men to so-
licit the Bombay government to take on itself the Bhundaree,
or guarantee of the public debt, and to give its support to

" Secta Ram, son of Raojee Apajee, as Dewan or prime wmi-
nister, with full powers. This arrangement failing to ve-
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Raja was the same Kishenraj Oodiavéer; who,
on the fall. of Seringapatam, was placed on the
. Guddee as an infant, by Lord Wellesley. Poor-
nea, his famous minister, died in 1810; and the
young Raja was now just beginning to take an
interest in public affairs. His disposition gave
early promise: of an habitual reliance on the Bri-
~ tish government ;- and ‘the circumstances of his
elevation were a sufficient guarantee of tlie sin-
cerity of his attachment. The Travankoor Raja
was in 1814 an infant, recently born to one: of
the sisters of the prince who’ abetted .the attack
on.Colonel Macaulay in 1808, and who died after
the subjugation of his country in 1810. The
state has not, since then, been entitled .to much
consideration in the scale of native powers; and
for some time the country was governed, in the
'name of the regent Toombratee,* by Colonel
John -Munro, ‘who succeeded Colonel Macaulay
as resident, and on whom the office of premier,

trieve the affairs of the state, from Seeta Ram’s want of
ability, he was deprived of power, and the administration
placed in the hands of a commission, whereof the British re-
sident was a member. Subsequently Anund Rao’s brother,-
Futeh Singh Gykwar, was vested with the sole direction of
affairs under the resident’s advice ; and this was the state of
things at Baroda on Lord Hastings’ arrival.

# The royal family of Travankoor are Nairs, amongst
whom the sister’s son has the prior claim to the inheritance.
Toombritee is the title of the royal sisterhood.
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with the title of Dewan, as;conferred by the
regent. ;
The- dlsposmon pf the second (;la,ss, viz. of Pro-
tected States, varied even more than that of the
subsidizing powers'; which was owing, perhaps, to
their being left more to.themselves, as few were
of sufficient importance to require. a political
agent, whose'sole business it should be to watch
over their actions and influence their conduct.
- The. Raja of Bhurtpoor’s object in accepting
protection, in 1805-6, was .to, recover, without
other equivalent than the nominal sacrifice of un,
restrained latitude of -political action, the fortress
of Deeg and the greater part of his territory, then
. in our hands. The successful defence of his capi-
tal against the army of Lord Lake had raised this
chief to a dangerous pre-eminence ; -and in all his
subsequent dealings with the British he dxsplayed
the .most arrogant haughtmess, not exempt. i'rom
suspicion, dlstrust, and fear. Feelmg that he
had, become a rallying point . of disaffection, he
seemed rather to .court than avoid the character,
and took the attltude of one ready again to try
his fortune against us. But while he openly
thwarted and irritated us to the full extent..of
our forbearance, he betrayed his real apprehen—
sions, by concedmg lmmedlately ‘whenhe found
he’ could safely r1sk no furthel pr ovocatlon
The other protected chiefs on the, same frontler,‘
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were,.for the most part, well contented ; and on
comparing their condition with that of: their
néighbouré beyond the pale of the British in-
fluence, they had. good reason - to congratulate
themselves on the connexion. - They were - all
‘under the general superintendence of the British
resident at Dehlee, who interfered with them as
little as pos51b1e ; so that they experienced all the
beneﬁts, with' few of the dJsadvantages, of ‘the
unequal alliance. -An éxample of the conduct
which oecasmna]ly called for an authoritative in-
terposxtlon may, 'however, be stated as 1t ‘0C=
curred about the time of the arrival of Lord
Hastings. The RaJa of Macherree; finding him-
self -in  the v1cm1ty of the distracted state of
Jypoor, thought the occasion a good one for: ‘ag-
grandlzmg himself at- its expense. He accord-
ingly seized some forts and v1llages to which his
family had an obsolete claimi but the British
govemment compel]ed him to make restitution,
mulcting him likewise for delaying instant obe-
dience to the orders for then' evacuation.

The eastern Seikhs,* ‘whom the terror of the
British name alone saved’ from the arms 'of
RunJeet Singh { and’ the Bundeelas who felt in:

* The management of the Bntlsh relatlons wuh the Selkh
chieftains was vested in Colonel Ochterlony, who commanded
likewise a division of the army stationed: at Loodheeana.
The Burideelas and Bogheelas were under the political charge
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debted to ‘it for a4 snmlar protectlon from ‘Sind-
heeas officer’s s, and’ the marauders of the Ner-
budda, Were, in’ every i'espect well satlsﬁed w1th
their lot, and evinced' orf‘all - 6ccasions ‘the most
zealous’ attachment and obedience. * But this was
far” from bemg the case with the RaJa of Rewa,
- who ylelded ‘only on compulsmn, and’ s1ghed again
for independence. Our limit forbids ‘a’ more’ mni-
nhuté éxplanation of the v1ews and feelings of the
various individuals of this class 3 nior indeed i xs it
necessary, for ‘in the" dealings “of ‘the *British go-l
vernment with them, advertance was. seldom “had
to the mmuter shades of dlﬁ'erence Whlch ma.rked
their respectlve situations. "All’were treated ‘ort
the same broad and hberal prmc1pIes and when
any one oﬂ'ended, it wassever the ‘wish to find ar
excusé ot palhatwe for his conduct rather than
make' it a ground of serious: quarrel. Indepen-
dently of ‘the’ circumstances attendmg ‘the" ‘cons
traction of the alliance in each “case, great’ allow- -
ance was’ always made for personal ‘character, and
for the capmclous views which native- prlnces are'
S0 apt to ente,rtam of what is ‘best. for their pre-
Sent ‘inerest. It would' have been unreasonablé
indeed to expect the daspos1t1on of such vanous—
alhes to be umformly favourable 'I‘he framers

of a clv1l supermtendent, who was, at the same tlme, head—
Judlclal officer of the British dlstnct of Bundelkhund Mr.
3. Wauchope filled this double situation in 1814, - v

c 2,



20 INTRODUCTORY MATTERS.

of the scheme of these extensive relations always
contemplated that, for a long time, several of the
confederates . would prove disaffected, many luke.
warm, and few zealous for the maintenance of
the system of. general regulation 1ntroduced.
The greatest forbearance towards all these dif-
ferent sentiments, and .extreme moderatlon and
consistency. in our dealings,. were essential to the
successful management of the stupendous machine
thus organized, particularly when a further even-
tual extension of the system was not an impos-
"sible contingency. .
. The states and powers of the third class, that

x_s to say, those not directly under our mﬂue_nce,,
and with whom our connexion was that of mutual
amity alone,” were the.Seikh chieftain. Runjeet
Singh, the Goorkha, nation which ruled Nipil, and
the three Mahratta governments of Central Indm.
na.mely, the Sindheea, Bhoosla, and Holkur fami-
. lies \Ve shall for the present conﬁne the review
to the Mahratta courts, and exclude the two ﬁrst
mentxoned powers as-not unmedlabely connected
with the purpose in hand. British residents were.
estabhshed at the head-quarters of the Sindheea
and Bhoosla families, but none had ever been
stationed at the Holkur durbar. Indeed, since
the derangement of Juswunt Rao’s mtellect, and
more especially since his death, which occurred m
1811, the power which had been reared and mam-
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tained by his personal alility, was fast falling to
decay ; while Ameer Khan, AMohummed Shah
Khan, and- others of the retainers of this family,
were raising themselves to consequence and inde-
pendence on the ruins of its fortune. Juswunt
Rao’s son and snccessor, Mulhar Rao, was a minor;
rents, superadded to the frequent mutiny of the
troops for pay, and the gradual desertion of the
different commanders to seek their fortune in a
Life of predatory adventure, were the only oocur-
mtobeﬁnmimd:em;ntsofﬂ:em
writers® stationed at this court.

Sindheea, since the peace conduded with him
in 1805, had steadily pursued the object of break-
ing the force and reducding the garrisons of the
chiefs between the Chnmbul and the Nerbudda,
$0 as to estalblish and consdlidate his own power
in that quarter. A person [ittle conversant in
the affairs of India, and observing on the map the
uniform colouring ef a given space, described as
forming the domirions of a Mahratta chief, would

® The mews-writer is a recognised functionsry of Indian
diplamacy, and thoagh possessing mo representative charac-
ter, is respected and made frequently a channel of imtercourse
by the mative princes, when there is no vakeel resident at the
were made through the news-writer, a chunnl this chief pre-
ferred to the more formal mode of representation by letter.
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be led to suppose, that his authority was peaceably
established over. the whole of that space, in like
manner as ‘the British authority is .established "
within the districts marked as its immediate
possessions.  This, however, is quite inconsistent
with'the character of Mahratta conquest. Instead
of commencing with the removal of ‘the existing
government, and. the general -assurmption :of .the
whole authority to himself, a Mahratta chieftain
begins, by appearing at the season .of harvest, and
demanding a consideration for. his forbearance in
withholding the mischief he has it. in"his power
to inflict. The visit is -annually repeated, and the
démand . proportionally enhanced. Whatever is
thus éxacted is called the Chout, and.the process
of. exaction a Moolkgeeree (country-taking) exe
pedition. When the same chieftain has been in
the habit of continuing his annual exactions from
a certain district for a number of successive years,
he considers the practice. of making them a mat-
ter of right and property, and resents the interfer-
ence of a stranget as an invasion of his possessions.
In process of time, perhaps, he has a cantonment,
ot reduces a fort and establishes himself in the
nelghbourhood his exactions swell to the full
amount of the" revenue ; and, in the end, the
authorities. .that may ‘heretofore have retained the
local administration by paying these exactions,
will either be superseded and reduced fo mere
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cyphers, or be subdaed and expelled by open force.

The interval- between the- occurrence of this last

act, and submission to the first exacﬁon, will have

" been short or long, according as the opportunity

- may have been favourable for encroachment ; or as

 the party, upon .whom it has been attempted, hap-
pened to possess the sagacity to perceive, and the
means to resist, the obvious tendency of such a
syStem. ‘ o : e .

‘At the epoch of the scttlement with Sindheea
and Holkur in 1805, when the British government
engaged not to interfere with the dependencies of
those chieftains lying: within, certain limits 5 that
is to say, in Malwa, Mewar, and Marwar (jn-

-cluding Kota; Joudhpaor, and .Oodeepoor) ; the
dominions.of both families exhibited every variety
of the intermediate state above. described. ~The
towns. and - villages, - of which they had: complete
occupation; were comparatively few, and were
moreover. ‘scattered about in different directions,
disconnected -and . intermingled one with another :
exceptin-these few, the army of ¢éither chief was
the whole machiiiery of .his government, and was
at'all times.kept in motion for the purpose of eny
, foféing“ contributions’ from reluctant- tributaries,
- who ‘regularly: resisted, -and = oftén successfully.
Under these circumstances,: the effect of the peace
concluded with the British was, - merely to restrict,
the: theatre of such warfare to their own assumed
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dominions, ‘and  to ‘allow the employment of the
‘whole mlhtary power of each with greater activity
agamst his respective dependents” and. nominal
subjects. 'Thus, the confusion in that quarter of
India, to which their operations were thenceforth
confined, was necessarily’ increased, rather than
diminished, by the peace ; and one cannot wonder
- at the rapid rise of predatory hordes to power and
consequence, under favour of such a state of af-
fairs. Lord Wellesley’s plan for the suppression
of this system was, to extend his subsidiary al- )
liances, which he expected would ‘have the effect
of inducing the native princes to discard. their
‘military establishments, as an useless expenditure
and needless incumbrance. This plan was, how-
ever, abandoned by Sir George Barlow, so far as
Sindheea and Holkur were concerned ; indeed,
‘their governments were so essentially’ military,
that it could scarcely have succeeded with them
under any ‘circumstances; unless, in _progress of '
time, they should assume a more. regular form.
In 1805, and for some years after, Dowlut Rao
"Sindheea apparently took 'but little personal in-
terest in the administration of his affairs. *. Until
1809, his government was, indeed, ‘one of: conti-
nual shifts and momentary expedients; and his
durbar a mere arena for the factions of a selfish
aristocracy; whereon' to bring to issie their strug-
gles for wealth and pre-eminence. ~ The -natural
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death of Ambajee Inglia, the too powerful Sooba
of Gwalior, and the violent one of Surjee :Rao,
the father-in-law of Sindbeea, both which occurred
in 1809, enabled this prince to introduce a minis-
try more dependent on himself. Since that year,
the control of affairs had been in the hands of a
banker of the name of Gokul-paruk, recommended
to office by his financial ability, and held in check
by the counteracting influence and rivalry of per-
sonal favourites. By skilfully managing - this
balance, Dowlut Rio had asserted and exercised a
more direct personal control over the affairs of his
principality, during the latter period.

Up to 1810, Sindheea generally was in motion
the whole of the favourable season, with the
greater part.of his army, employed either in
punishing his own reﬁ-actory officers, or in Aloolk-
geeree expeditions in Malwa, Bhopil, or Rajpoo-
tana. QOojein was his nominal capital; but, after
the forcible resumption of the Soobadaree of Gwa-
Lior from the family of his deceased vassal Amba-~
jee, he pitched his camp a short distance to the
south-west of that city and fortress; and as his
court has never been moved from the spot, except
. for occasional pilgrimages, a second city has arisen
on the site of his encampment, rivalling the old
- one in population at least, if not in the appearance
and structure of its edifices. :

The great body of his troops contmued to be
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distributed over the surface of the country, enforc-
ing tribute in the usnal way, and taking every
opportunity, by the capture of fortresses, and the
seizure or expulsion of the petty Rajas and chief-
tains in actual possession, to consolidate his power,
and acquire a firmer hold of what had hitherto
been more nominally than really under. his do-
minion. ‘The principal and most efficient of Sind-"
heea’s -commanders employed on this service was
Colonel Jean: Baptiste Filoze, a man of ambiguous
parentage on the father’s side, his mother having
been a common woman of a camp bazar attached
to one of the French battalions. He had, how-
ever, been brought up, if not acknowledged, by
the French officer whose name he bears; and the -
wreck of the infantry trained by the officers of
that nation was placed under his command, on
their desertlon in the course of the war. A con-
51derab1e portlon of Sindheea’s artillery was also
attached to this force : and, in the interval between
the settlement of 1805 and Lord Hastings’ arrival
as ' Governor-General, the forts and territories of
Bahadur-gurh Gurra-kota, Chanderee, Sheeopoor,
with several others, had been wrested from ‘their
petty feudal lords by this’ commander There
were three other divisions of Sindheea’s ‘troops
employed ‘in 'thé same manner, and ‘commanded
 respectively by Bapoo Smdheea, Juswunt" Réo,
Bhio (successor to" Juggoo Bapoo dcceased), and
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Ambajee Punt.; A fifth corps was stationed about
his. person; at .Gwalior,. under command of one
Jacob, a Portuguese half-cast, Arratoon, an Arme:-
nian,. and some other officers. * The strength of
each of these corps'was from seven or eight to ten
thousand men of .all arms; but it fluctuated ac-
cording to the personal views and interests of the
respective ~commanders; who. Wwere. individually
answerable to:their troops for pay,—the.greater
part. of Sindheea’s térritories being parcelled. out
_amongst. them, and- assigned in lots . for the sub-
sistence ‘of the several divisions, by the discretion-
ary levy of exactions and contributions by each
within the specified limits. Under such a system,
the Gwalior Durbar. could not be expected to exer-
cise a very -active control.over any of the chiefs so
employed ; indeed, .the intercourse of each with
the court was an uniform:. series of mutual decep-
tion and jealousy. .

The:disposition of the prince towards the British
government must, on-the whole, be considered to
havé been rather favourable than otherwise. ‘He
found us punctual paymasters of the annual stipend
of seven lack: of rupees, agréed in' November:1805
to be: paid.to him and his chiefs, in lieu of ‘the
Jageers they held in Hindoostan., 'Nor hadwe,
onany one occasion, interfered with the prosecu-
tion of his system of exaction upon the petty feu-
datories within the eircle of. his influence. Even
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when he sometimes trespassed beyond thoqe‘liiniis,
which, by the treaty of 1805, the British nation
had engaged to consider as his legitimate prey, we
had uniformly manifested ' the same - indifference 3
and, though free to have checked his aggressions,
and to have secured the advantage for ourselves,
we had never, except -perhaps in- the instance of
the Bundeela  chiefs, whom we received under
protection, stepped forward to thwart his views.
Thus he had felt, that so long as he abstained
from the territories of our actual allies, he might
fearlessly pursue his own schemes in any direction 3
and -as there was still abundant scope for his am-
bition, as well as' of -employment for his military
dependents, within' the limits from which we had
withdrawn,: he had scarcely been:sensible.of any
restraint' from our' neighbourhood and superior
power. This disposition resulted from his expe-
rience of our past conduct; but as he could have
no security for our continuing to act. on the same
system, and as €vents seemed fast verging to that
state which must force on us the adoption of. one
that could not but interfere with his plans and in-
terests, it was natural that he should entertain a
jealousy of our views, proportionate to the sense
of his own comparative mfenonty.

The disposition of Holkur’s court was: sumlar in
this respect ; and its Sirdars seemed to consider it
_ their policy to"avoid. giving 'oﬁ'ence to:the British
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government, even then they aﬂ'ected personal ins
dependence.. . =i . Lo D

» The resources: of Ragoq,ee Bhoosla had, been 80
reduced by. the effects of the war of 11803, which;
deprived . him' at. oncé: of Berar :and Cuttack
(Kutuk), that, he was scarcely strong enough.ta
defend, his. own_dominions; from . the aggression of
the ;predatory . bands, which had -collected ‘along
the Nerbudda. - The -military r;es,ta.blishments_ of
this prince, -with the exception of some eorps of
Arabs kept near the Raja’s person, were undoubt,
edly more defective than those of any.  native
potentate. ~While fewer. European improvements
had been grafted on the old Mahraqta system, the
latter had lost. all. those- qualities, that. ever had
made, it formidable; - Indeed 50- despicable  was
the character of his troops,.that, in 1809-10, Am‘eer
Khan, a Patan officer in Holkar’s service, and one
of those who was aspiring at independente, planned
an attack,on Négpoor in ;cpn‘xbination;w'ith,,thg
Pindarees; and _would- assuredly have: annihilated
-the: power. of Ragoojee,. had " not_the British. gra-
tuitously aided him in this.extremity. A simuls
taneous movement, from Hindoostan and the. Duk-
’hun induced Ameer; Khan to. abandon the design.}

e It was on thls occaswn, tbat a Madras and a Benaal forcé
. first' met on the north of the Nerbudda Colonel Sir Barry Close
having' advanced to. Seron_],bne of Ameer Khan's prmclpal poss
sessions, where he rpét Colonel Martindell from Bundelkhund,
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But' Ragoojee’s disposition towards us -was far
from friendly, notwithstanding the service thus:
rendered him : his resentment for:the loss of Berar
and Cuttack overpowered any feeling of gratitude
for subsequent benefits. Yet fear dictated to him:
thé necessity of keeping on the best terms with
the British government:' for the idea of his ability -
to call in its aid, was his main security; at this
time, against the ambitious designs of ‘the adven-
turers in’ his' neighbourhood. Under this ron.:
viction, he was nevertheless jealous in the extreme
‘of ‘his political indepéndence,’ and' very averse. to
the formation of a specific defensive alliance of the
samne ‘nature ‘ag- those subsisting with the: Nizam'
and Péshwa ; conceiving it a sacrifice’ of his dig-
hity and -reputation’ among the states of India,
to assume the character of dependence on a Brmsh
subsidiary force.

~ Such being the feehng and’ disposition of the
several- Mahratta powers, there- seemed little in
their ‘condition or motions calculated to excite any
~ present alarm. As far as-they were individual--
ly concerned, the object of the !settlement -of
1805-6 appeared to have been attained; - their
weakness afforded a security' against any one -of .
them meditating a separate hostlle enterprise; at
the same time, that the balance then established
remained unaltered, and the mutual jealousies
relied upon as the guarantee 'against a second
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coalition" were yet unextinguished. - Nevertheléss,
there was an-unsoundness in this system - of -our
relationis, which had beén: predlcted by inany, ‘at
* thé moment-of their establishment ‘oni this basis.
Its defects had ‘beguri -to: bé apparent some ‘time

before 1814, and it ‘could. no -longer ‘be ilisguised,'
that'the seftlement of -1505 was; after all, but an
incomplete -arrangement, ‘which must -ere long be
entirely remodelled. - It had become mariifest that
this settlement; of rather'the state resulting from
it, instead of* having a tendency to ‘wean the
population. of India- from habits ‘of “military ‘ad-
venture, in which so large a-fportion- of it had:
theretofore- been bred, rather miultjplied the- in-T
ducements to ‘engage in- that course of life.:
Thé 'class addicted to‘such habits was: evidently’
fast ‘increasing. -~ At -the' time of ‘the 'sétﬂe'xhent ,
though there were certainly some bands ‘of 'ma-
randers and bngands ‘associated ‘under différént’
leaders for purposes of general depredation, ‘their
number was not sufficient to.attract: notice ; and. it°
was thought that they must soon either bé dissolved:
through want of eﬂ'ectual bonds of”" union, or be i m—‘
corporated with the troops of the regular powers, or
at ‘ary rate, that these latter, as soon as they were
relieved from foreign wars and expedmons, would
have the means, and see ‘the advantage, of re-
.strammg bodies of men, who professedly sub-
sisted on the plunder of their nelghbours Instead
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of this result, however, either from weakness and .
indifference, or from some erroneous notion of
_the policy of':favouring\the lodgment, in their
neighbourhdod, of a military force, available as an_
addition to their .own ' strength in .the hour of
need, without the.chargé of any regular. pay :or
establishment, Sindheea and Holkur, if not active,
abettors of the growth of _\the_se'fi'eebooters, were,’
at least, very lukewarm in their efforts for- their,
suppression. . Their only. solicitude was directed .
towards preventing aggression on themselves, and
establishing - a sort of nominal . authority. over as
large a: portion'of the class as could be induced to,
acknowledge their supremacy. . They even made
liberal assignments of land to effect this object ;.
and if ‘a leader of a durra of Pindarees, so.the
associations were called, happened to make him-
self obnoxious, his ruin was attempted by turning,
against him- the arms of a rival leader ; without
reflecting that such a policy must, in its con-
sequences, rather perpetuate than suppress the
evil: the ruin of one chief serving but to consoli-
date the equally dangerous power of another. It
is by no means improbable, that the Mahratta:
states v1ewed the increase of the Pmdarees with
an eye to eventual service from their arms; for_
they avowedly attnbuted the “disasters, of the,
operations of 1803 to their, havmg imitated the
“European mode of warfare,, and aﬂ'ected, to behcve, _



INTRODUCTORY MATTERS. 33

.that, had they adhered to the Parthian method of
their ancestors, the results of the contest would
have been very different. The predatory hordes
still pursued the old method; and the wonderful
impu‘nit.y and success with which they engaged in
the most distant expeditions, passing the most
formidable barriers of nature and of military art,
and baflling -every attempt to intercept their
return, howsoever well concerted, gave a colour of
probability to this opinion; indeed, their calcula-
tion was erroneous in one. particular only, viz,
that there were no strong-holds in India which
could hope to baffle -our military skill, .in case we
should adopt the plan of pursuing the depredators
to their haunts. They were lgnorant of the
degree in which our means were superior to those
of Aurung-Zeeb; and recollecting that he, after
having driven them into their fastnesSes, could
effect no more, readily gave into the belief; that
the British power, now in: its zenith, was. only
to be combated by the arms and arts with which
Sevajee had foiled the Moghul in times of yore.

It is immaterial, however, whether accident or
design had permitted the predatory hordes to
gain the strength they had attained :in 1814,
Their -actual condition .at that. period entitled
them to be regarded as a- distinct political
interest of the day, requiring an equal exertion

of vigilance and circumspection, as' Hyder in
- D



.34 INTRODUCTORY MATTERS. -

the height of his power and inveterate animosity:.
The actual military force at the disposal of these
associations amounted to 40,000 horse, inclusive
of the Patans;  who, though :more -orderly and
better disciplined ‘than - the Pindarees of the
Nerbudda, possessed fhe same character, and
were “similarly circumstanced in every respect,
supporting themselves - entirely by depredation -
wherever they could practise- it.. This number-
would be doubled, were we to add the remainder -
of - Holkur’s ‘troops ‘of the irregular kind, which
were daily deserting the service of a falling house, .
in  order to engage in the more profitable career of
‘predatory enterprise; and the loose cavalry esta- .
blishments of Sindheea and the Bhoosla, which -
were bound by no-ties, but.those of. present en-
tertainment, and were always in great arrear of ~
‘pay. These -materials formed. the groundwork
of an interest ‘formidable at least to our repose,
if not to'our safety : and its centrical situation in
Indis;, nearly equi-distant from the dominions of
the three presidencies, imposed the necessity of
the most extensive annual precautions of. defence,
in spite of which the territories of our allies were
continually overrun.. .On- two: occasions, once
when they entered Guzerat in 1808-9, and again
in 1812, when the Bengal provinces of Mirzapoor
and Shahabad were devastated, they penetrated into
- our immediate territories, which for years before
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had been exempt from such a calamity. The
~ spirit of enterprise evinced on these occasions had
much advanced the reputation of these associa-
tions; and although they were not now united
under any single head, there had grown up among
them a principle of concert in prosecution of com-
mon objects, such as a man of superior energy
and abilities, had such an one chanced to arise
among them, might model into- the same descrip-
tion of force that Tymoor and Chungeez Khan
had directed to the devastation of the eastern
world. The rise of Sevajee and of Hyder, both
rapid and both formidable, was a proof that such
things could take place in India as well as in other
countries ; and the whole of the unsettled spirits
- of Central India were exactly in the condition to
engender such another conqueror. They resem-
bled the bands of Companions that swarmed all
over Europe in the fourteenth century; and
wanted but a leader, whose standard they could
rally roind with confidence. The lawless and in-
dependent character, of the Pindarees, and the
mode of their association, which rendered the
chiefs' responsible’ to nobody for their acts, and
made it impossible to hold- any of the regular
powers legitimately answerable for their danger-
ous existence, were the circumstances that made
it necessary to watch their motions with especial
caution, in order to anticipate the effects of any
D 2
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sudden combination. With this view, the British

power had interposed at once, when Ameer Khan

had attempted to collect a large body together, in

prosecution of his design upon the dominions of
the Bhoosla Raja; it being our uniform and

avowed object, to preserve things on their actual
footing, and to prevent any of those fluctuations of
power, which generally end in erecting a vigorous.
and ambitious domination on the ruins of a weak

superannuated government. It was evidently not

for our interest that either the Pindarees or the

Patans should build up such an edifice on the

site of any of the regular states with which we
were at that time connected ; and it was certainly

incumbent on our pohcy to make some effort to

prevent it.

A short sketch of the origin of the predatory

hordes, passing under the general denomination

of Pindarees, and of the chiefs under whom their

numbers were arrayed in 1814, will lead to a

more distinct view of their actual condition at

that time. The name of Pindara is coeval with

the earliest invasions of Hindoostan by the Mah-

rattas ; but the actual derivation of the” word is

unknown, notwithstanding the researches of se-

veral etymologists. The designationi was applied

to a sort of roving cavalry, that accompanied

the Péshwa’s armies in their expeditions, ren-

dering them much' the same serﬁce‘,as_t}ie"Cos— :
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sacks * perform for the armies of Russia. When
the Péshwas ceased to interfere personally in the
affairs of .Hindoostan, leaving that part of the
Mahratta empire to the Sindheea and the Holkur
chieftains, the Pindarees were thenceforth ranged
in two parties, assuming respectively the appella-
tion of Sindheea-shahee, or of Holkur-shahee,
accordingly as they attached themselves to the
fortunes of either family. -They still preserved,
however, all the peculiarities of their own mode
of association; and the several leaders went over
with their bands to orie chief or the other, as best
suited their private interests, or those of their fol-
lowers. In 1794, the principal leaders first obtain-
ed assignments of land from Sindheea, in the val-
ley of the Nerbudda, and amongst the hills which
skirt it on the north. From that time till about
1800, there were two principal chiefs, the bro--
thers Heeroo 'and Burun, whose standards were
annually raised in that valley at the season of the
Dussera, (an annual festival that takes place at
the end of October or the beginning of Novem-
her,) as a rallying point for all loose spirits and
‘unemployed military adventurers. Here they
consulted upon the best means of providing for
the necessities of the year, by the exercise of

* Pindara seems to have the same reference to Pandour
that Kuzik, U‘)’ has to Cossack. The latter word is of

Turkish origin, but is commonly used to express a mounted
robber in Ilindoostan. .
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rapine, accompanied by every -enormity of fire
and sword, upon the peaceful subjects of the re-
gular governments. Until the close of the rains
and the fall of the rivers, their horses were care-
fully trained, to prepare them for long marches
and hard work. The rivers generally became
fordable by the close of the Dussera. The horses
were then shod, and a leader of tried courage
and conduct baving been chosen as Luhbureea,
all that were so inclined set forth on a foray or
- luhbuy, as it was called in the Pindaree nomen-
clature. These parties latterly consisted some-
times of several thousands, All were mounted,
though not equally well ; out of a thousand, the
proportion of good cavalry might be 400: the
favourite weapon. was a bamboo spear, from
 twelve to efghteen feet long; but, as’ fire-arms
were sometimes indispensable for the attack of
villages, it was a rule that every fifteenth or
twentieth man of the fighting Pindarees should
* be armed with a matchlock. Of the remaining
600, 400 were usually’ common Jooteeas, indif-
ferently mounted, and armed with every variety
of weapon; and the rest slaves, attendants, and
camp followers, mounted on tattoos or wild
ponies, and keeping up with the luhbur in the
best manner they could. It is not surprising
that a body so constituted, and moving without
camp-equipage of any kind, should traverse the
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~“ whole of -India in defiance: of the most active pur-
suit by regular troops along the same line. of
march:  indeed, the rapidity with. which: they
spread their ,devastations to.the:southern: extre-
" mity of the Péshwa’s and of the Nizam’s ter-
‘ritories, over an extent of mot less than seven
degrees- of latitude’ from the Nerbudda, baffled
every atlempt to interrupt or overtake them.
The -crpelties they perpetrated were beyond
- belief. . As it was impossible for them to remain
more than a few hours on. the same spot, the ut-
most despatch was necessary in rifling any towns
-or villages..into which they- could force an en-
trance; every one whose appearance indicated
- the probability:of his possessing money, was im-
- mediately put to the most horrid torture *, till he
- either pointed out his hoard, or died under the
infliction. = Nothing was- safe from the pursuit of
~.Pindaree lust or avarice ; it was their .common
. ‘practice -to burn and destroy what could not be
.:-carried away j and, in the wantonness of barbauty, -

L]

- * A favourite mode of compulsion with them was, to put
+ hot ashes into a bag, which they tied over the mouth and
nostrils of their victim, whom they then thumped on the
back till he inhaled the ashes, The effect on the lungs of
the sufferer was such, that few long Survived the operation,

Another common’ mode -was, to' throw the victim on his
back, and place a plank or beam across his chest, on which

- two people pressed with their whole wgiglft.
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to ravish and murder women and children, under
the eyes of their husbands and parents.

. In the infancy of the establishment of the Pin-
darees on the banks of the Nerbudda, their devas-
tations were not carried to so great a distance '
as afterwards, when they began to feel their
strength, and when the desolation of the imme-
diate neighbourhood, or its submission to the levy
of contributions on the condition of exemption,
made it requisite to push their expeditions to a
distance, in order to make them sufficiently pro-
ductive. With the fruits of these expeditions,
the chiefs were, from the first, enabled to keep
together a large militar} force without much ter-
ritorial revenue ; and to offer the occasional sere
vices of a part of their strength to Sindheea,
Holkur, and other neighbouring chieftains, at a
cheaper rate than the same amount of assistance
was elsewhere procurable. By means of further
assignments obtained~in recompense for such ser-
vices, and of conquests made by the bands thus
kept together upon the Grassea (aboriginal) Rajas,
in the mountains bordering the Nerbudda, who
bad never yet submitted to the Mahrattas, the
Pindaree chiefs gradually extended their in-
fluence ; while, at the same time, the reputation
of these successes brought additional swarms of
adventurers to their standard.

About the year 1800, the two chiefs Heeroo



INTRODUCTORY MATTERS. 41

and Burun died, either in the course of nature, or
by violent means, the one at Nagpoor, and the
other at Aseergurh. Both left sons; the former,
Dost Mohummed and Wisil Mohummed ; the
latter, the two Rajuns; but it was not till after
some time that these individuals succeeded to any
part of their fathers’ influence: the pre-eminence
devalved, in the first instance, upon other Sir-
dars, 'according to their reputation and ability
as leaders. Kureem Khan, a Holkur-shahee Pin-
dara, was- the first who rose to consequence after
the death of the brothers ; indeed, he was not al-
together free from suspicion of having procured
the death of Burun at Aseergurh. . Kureem was
an active, bold, and ambitious adventurer, suffi-
ciently*devoid of principle to profit by the po-°
litics of the time. He commenced his career
by joining the rising fortunes of Jeswunt Rao
" Holkur, with a considerable party of followers,
pledged to consider their own and their leaders
interest as inseparable. His services proved va-
luable to Holkur, and were suitably rewarded.
A short time after, be was bought over by Sind-
heea, who gave him the title of Nuwab, and
several assignments of land -in the valley, and
above the ghits of the Nerbudda : thenceforth he
called himself a Sindheea-shahee Pindara, though
be was frequently found in arms against the ad-.
herents of his nominal superior. He enlarged his
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'possessions by interfering in’the internal affairs
of Bhopal, and in the contests of this state with
the Bhoosla. After worsting the latter, he ex-
cited a civil war in Bhopil ; and giving his “sup-
port to one party, was very near establishing his
authority over the whole principality ; but the
state was saved by the personal courage and con-
duct of Wuzeer Mohummed, with the assistance of
Dost Mohumined, the son of Heeroo, who began
about that time to rise into notice as a rival of
Kureem. During the prosecution of this ambi-
tious course of self-aggrandisement, there was
never any intermission of the systematic -pre-
datory expeditions, that still formed one of the
‘main resources by which the chieftains main~
tained their military power. Sindheea himself,
the Bhoosla RaJa, and the Hindoo chiefs of Bun-
~ delkhund, were the principal  sufferers by their
depredations at this period *. ‘
During the troubles of the Mahratta empire
consequent upon the war with the British, Kureem
Khan availed himself of the opportunity to seize
on some possessions of Sindheea and of the Pésh-
wa’s jageerdars in Malwa; insomuch, that after

-* The tolerance of this practice may, in part, be accounted
for by the recollection; that a predatory inroad is not consi-
dered derogatory to the dignity of a Mahratta government,
which avowedly regards rapme as a legitimate resource-of
‘the state,
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" the conclusion of hostilities in the year 1806, he
was in the occupation of a ‘territory of not less
~ than eleven perguhnas, whereof the principal were
Bairsea, Ashta, Shujawulpoor, Sarungpoor, Icha-
wur, and Sehoree, above the ghits of the Nerbud-
da, together with Sutwas, Chipaneer, and other
places. within the valley. His annual land-reve-
nue from this territory exceeded fifteen lack of
rupees, - besides compensations for immunity from
plunder, which he levied on most of the neigh-
bouring rajas and chiefs. He had also built
himself a fort in the part of his territory acquired
from Bhopal, which was called, after him, Kureem-
gurh. His power was now at the height; for
though there were several Pindaree leaders who
" had never joined his standard, and who even
affected a rivalry for the supremacy he had arro-
- gated ; still thére were none whose ‘means or in-
fluence at all approximated to those of Kureem.
Though bimself independent in every respect, and
even an usurper upon Sindheea on more occasions
-.than one, he still affected to be attached to that
chief’s interest, and to call himself a Sindheéa-
shahee' Pindara, for thé obvious purpose of retain-
ing some claim to protection in case of exigency.
His power, however, excited that prince’s jealousy ;
and in 1806, very soon after the settlement with
the English, Sindheea, by the proffer of his aid in
_ the reduction of a fort (that, for want of artillery,
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had long baffled the attacks of Kureem), inveigled
the Pindara to an interview, at which he seized
his person, making a simultaneous attack on his
camp, which was completely plundered.* Ku-
reem’s possessions were then quickly recovered ;
and, for five years, he was himself detained a
close prisoner in the dungeons of Gwalior. His
durra, in the mean time, was not broken up,
though reduced to no more than two or three
thousand horse, by the defection of the greater
part of the sirdars of inferior note; who had been
tempted, in the full tide of his success, to unite
their interest with his. The fall of this chief,
however, strengthened the durras of other leaders,
particularly of Cheetoo or Seetoo, a ‘chief under
whom the two Rajuns, sons of Burun, held a sub-
ordinate rank, and who had always been the
avowed rival of Kureem, though hitherto the
power of the latter had greatly preponderated.
The party .of Dost Mohummed also acquired a
great accession of strength by the ruin of Kureem,
whose durra had now little else than plunder to
subsist. upon. The search of this, however, it
prosecuted with considerable success under Ku-
_ reem’s deputies, and especially one Namdar Khan 3
who made Sindheea’s territories the principal thea-
tre of his depredations, in revenge for the trea-

N ’ LI
® For an account of this, vide Bronghton’s Maliratta Camp.
This officer was present, and witnessed the whole scene.
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chery employed against his leader. In. 1811,
Kureem purchased his release from Sindheea for
six. lack of rupees, which were punctually paid
through Zalim Singh of Kota. Returning to the
scene of his former power, he immediately raised
fresh levies of infantry, and invited. the Pindaree
“chiefs, who had before followed his fortunes, to
rally again round his standard. In a very short
time he recovered thé greater part of the territory
he had formerly possessed, and laid his plans to
effect a general combination of all the Pindarees,
preparatory to an-expedition of more than ordi-
nary moment. Even his rival Cheetoo was in-
duced to unite with his durra; and the Dussera of
1811 was celebrated by an assemblage of not less
than 25,000 cavalry. of all descriptions, -besides
several battalions of infantry newly raised for the
purpose. Kureem proposed to lead this force im-
mediately against Nagpoor, the weakness of which
was notorious to all the Pindarees, whose detached
parties had, a short time before, succeeded in car-
rying off a considerable booty from a suburh of
the city itself. The Bhoogla state had fortunately
won over Cheetoo by the recent grant of consi-
derable jageers on the Nerbudda. He accordingly
opposed the project, and retired with his durra in
discontent. ,
This division proved the ruin of Kureem; for
having a second time awakened Sindheea’s jea-
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lousy, Juggoo Bapoo, one of Sindheea’s principal offi-
cers, was sent against him with as large a force as
‘could be collected, and with a reinforcement. of
some battalions of Holkur. There is reason to
believe that this enterprise was invited by Cheetoo,
who feared the eonsequences of having thwartedthe
designs of Kureem in respect to Négpoor; at all
events, he was the main instrument of its success,
and the person who derived the greatest advan-
tages ;. the major part of his late rival’s possessions
being allotted by Sindheea as his share of the spoil.
Kureem, expecting from Cheetoo at least neutral-
ity and indifference to his fate, advanced boldly
to ‘encounter Juggoo Bapoo. His rival, however,
took an active part against him, so that he was
completely defeated near Munohur-Thana, and
obliged to fly, with a few adherents, and.seek
refuge in the camp of Ameer Khan, beyond the
Chumbul. The strong representations of Sindheea
and Holkur obliged the Patan chief to place him
in-a kind of restraint, in which he remained until
the end of 1816. His durra again declined to a
secondary condition in comparison with that of
Cheetoo, at whose cantonment of Nemawur, on
the Nerbudda, not less than 15,000 horse now
annually assembled at the Dussera festival, to issue’
forth under a leader of his nomination, in what-
ever direction he might prescribe.

In 1814, the following was supposed to be the
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relative strength of the: Pindaree durras : Cheetoo
5000 good ‘horse ; total of all . descriptions. about
10,000, exclusive of the Holkur-shahee Pindarees,
mustering from 4 to 5000 more, who latterly
attached themselves. chiefly to his standard.- The
remains of Kureem’s durra amounted to 2000 good
horse ; total of every description, at least 4000.
Under Dost Mohummed 6000, with the usual pro-
portion of .the best quality ; this chief held consi-
derablé jageers above the  ghits of the. Nerbudda,
and usually cantoned in the Bhopal territory.
There were, moreover, at least 6 or.8000 horse
under independent leaders of inferior note,;. who
joined one or other of the superior chiefs, as occa-
sion suited. The party that penetrated into the .
district of Mirzapoor through Rewa was of the .
durra of Dost Mohummed, who planned the expe-.
dition a short time before the second fall of Ku.
reem. It was led by Fazil Khan; and, turning .
east as soon as it reached the Mirzapoor frontier,
advanced to the, neighbourhood of Gya, and then .
disappeared up the. course of the Soane, on its
way back to Malwa by the Chandya Ghit, before
a single soldier from any British cantonment could
come up with its track. Such:was the anomalous .
and. undefinable power that had grown up into.
consequence out _of the political arrangements of
1805-6. Iis leading feature was hostility to a
regular governments, and of course most particﬂ
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larly to ourselves and our allies, whose territories
offered the richest booty. The existence of these
+ hordes imposed the necessity of coristant vigilance
along the whole extent of the south-west frontier
of the Bengal presidency ; while, for the security
of the Dukhun, the subsidiary forces of the Ni-
zam and Péshwa were. annually obliged to. move
to the northern frontier of their respective terri-
tories ; notwithstanding which precautions, the
dominions of those States were continually pene—
trated and overrun. :

Ameer Khan and Mohummed-shah Khan, the
two Patan chiefs, who were rising into a similar
and equally formidable pre-eminence, commanded
forces of a very different description from those of
the Pindaree chiefs, though actuated by the same
predatory spirit : each of them, besides horse, had
- large bodies.of infantry and several guns. Mo-

hummed-shah Khan’s infantry were the old batta-
lions of Tukojee Holkur, undoubtedly the best in
India not under the actual command of European
officers. - Ameer Khan’s were scarcely inferior.
"The cavalry were besides paid by the month, in-
stead of living avowedly on plunder alone, like
the Pindarees. Indeed, the grand difference be-
tween the two classes was, that the Patans were
banded together for the purpose of preying on
governments and powerful chiefs: to this end,
their force moved about with the materials of re. .
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gular battles and sieges, so as to work on the fears
of princes'and men in power, extorting contribu-
‘tions and other advantages from them, by such
intimidation as an efficient army only could im-
press. The object of the Pindarees, on the con-
-trary, was general rapine; they preyed upon the
~ population at large, without arrogating an ability
to cope with the governments; their form and
constitution, therefore, were framed with a. view
to this exclusive purpose.

RaJpootana was the principal ﬁeld for the exhi-
bition of the species of depredation practised by
the Patan-leaders. The nature of the principali-
ties of that tract, each of which was a petty feodal
government, at war with.its neighbours and with
its own vassals, seemed to.mark it out as their
destined prey. Nor was it a new game that they
were pldying in that quarter; they merely. follow-
ed up what Sindheea and Holkur had long been
" habitually pursuing.- .Indeed, although the objects
of the Patan chiefs. were wholly personal, and
prosecuted with perfect independence of each other,
still they represented the Holkur interest- in the
country, and had introduced their forces under
sanction of that name. The very means they pos-
sessed, viz. the artillery and regular battalions,
had belonged to the Holkur famlly, though now
-employed in supporting and establishing an interest
virtually distinct..

E
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 Notwithstanding this virtual independence of
the Patans, Sindheea did not leave them in the
undisputed enjoyment of the contributions and
‘other advantages to be extorted from Rajpootana.
A division of his army, under Bapoo Sindheea lay
‘at Ajmeer, acting precisely on the principles of
the Patans, and living on the plunder it could
exact from Jypoor and Joudhpoor. Another force
was stationed in the Oodeepoor territory, encroach-
ing on the power and possessions of the Raja there,
and devastating the country. The Rajpoots, how-
ever, were considerably more jealous of Sindheea’s
apparently consolidated power than of the Patan
chiefs ;- whose very loose connexion with the Hol-
kur family gave them the character of mercena-
ries, that, for objects of private interest, might
be hired and discharged at pleasure. Thus in
1809, when Sindheea seemed to meditate an inva-
sion of the Joudhpoor territory with a very consi-
derable force, the Raja called in Mohummed-Shah
Khan, and took his army into pay for the purpose
of repelling the attack.
This facility of transferring their services ac-
cording to their personal views, gave the Patan
chiefs the further advantage over Sindheea and his
commanders, of a pretext and power to interfere
in the passing intrigues amongst the Rajpoots
hemselves, and to become partisans of the several
actions, from each of which they took care to
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Teap some personal advan‘tage -So lobg as they
had the prospect of such’ recompense, they weéré
not over scrupulous of the ‘meéans’ of earning it.
Ameer Khan twice sold his semces for the trea-
cherous assassination of obnoxious persons, and
accomplished his purpose, on both occasions, at con-
ferences held under the most solemn guarantees.

This chief was the acknowledged head of ‘the
Patan interest. His views of ambition’ were;
however, not conﬁned to Rajpootana. until 1814
when, finding ‘from tﬁe activity of our prepara-'
tions, whenever heé seemed ‘to be medltatmg an
enterprize against the Bhoosla, that we were re-
solved to prevent his aggrandlsement in that quar-
ter, he moved from Malwa across the Chumbul
towards RaJpootana and having strengthened his
interest at the durbar of Holkur (then held at
Rampoora-Bhanpoora), "took upon lumself the
supreme management of ‘the Patan forces and in-
terests. Mohummed-Shah Khan, J umsheed Khan,
and the other sirdars, a.greed to act in subordma-
tion to him." The former of these dying about
the end of 1814, the troops he had commanded
became incorporated with those under the person.jal
command of Ameer Khan. This military adven-
turer was thus placed at the head of a force of at
least 30,000 horse and foot, furnished with an
artillery well manned and served ; yet he had no
claim to.be recognised as a substantive power;

E 2
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though, on the other hand, no one of the regular
governments could fairly be held responsible for
his acts. The field of his operations lay, it is to
be observed, in a quarter where there was every
likelihood of his coming ere long into contact with
the British government, or with those under its
protection.

Against this power, as well as the Pindarees,
we were obliged to be continually armed, and on
the. alért The want of any determinate territory
or home, or of any other stake to be hazarded by
the first act of hostlhty, left us entu'ely without
-security for their peaceable demeanour ; there
was nothing to restrain them but mere motives of
convenience, and the sense that the calculation of
the chances of success was against them. This,
however, was the result of continual and most
expensive preparation,—the necessity of which was
a part of the evil that required a'remedy.

‘Such was the state. of Central India at the
beginning of the year 1814. The events which
.led to the final catastrophe of the year 1817-18
will be traced through the intermediate period,
with as much conciseness as may be found con-
sistent with the object of exhlbltmg a distinct
view of the origin of those occurrences, and the
share which the conduct of the British govern-
- ment may have had in producing them.
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) Before, however, entering on this narrative,~
it will be necessary to detain the reader with an

account of the origin and progress of the war
forced upon us by the Goorkha government of
Nipil, with which “negotiations had been some
‘time pending when Lord Hastings arrived in
India. -
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It is foreign to our design to attempt any con-
sistent relation of the means and gradations by’
which the Goorkhas had risen to power, in the
mountainous tract stretching between the plains of
. Hindoostan and the high lands of Tartary and
Tibet. Suffice it to say, that when Lord Hastings
took charge of the supreme government, he found
their dominion to extend as far as the river Teesta
to the east, and westward to the Sutlej; so that
this pation was then in actual possession of the
whole of the strong country which skirts the
northern frontier of Hindoostan.
This extent of dominion had been acquired en-
. tirely Quring the last fifty years, by the systematic
prosecution of a policy likened by the Goorkhas
themselves, and not inaptly so, to that which had
gained for us the empire of Hindoostan. The hill
Rajas, whom they had successively conquered and
displaced, were mere ignorant, selfish tyrants, on
bad terms with their subjects and neighbours, but
most of all, with their own relations. Thus, while
there was amongst them no principle of combi-
nation for mutual defence against a common
enemy, not one of the petty principalities was suf-
ficiently strong or united within itself to be capa-
ble of substantial resistance.

The Goorkha chiefs were at all times as ready
to apply the influence of intrigune as open
force, and could well combine both for the pro-
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ecution of their ends. They.had a regular army,
obedient to its officers, and the whole in proper
subordination to the state. This was always
available to the weaker party upon conditions,
and the  frequent internal dissensions of the Rajas,
which . successively came to form  the Goorkha
frontier, never failed to produce the invitation.

Prithee Nurayun Sah has the merit of establish-
ing the system which- raised this nation to power.
Taught by the example of our early victories in
Bengal, he armed and disciplined a body of troops
-after the English fashion; and after a struggle
‘of more than ten years, finally subjugated the
valley of Nipéal by their means in 1768. The
‘Moorshedabad Nuwab (Kasim  Ulee Khan) at-
‘tempted to interfere in 1762-3, but sustained
a signal defeat -under the walls of- Mukwanpoor ;
“and the British government was not more success-
ful in an effort made some years after to succour the
last of the Sooruj Bunsee dynasty, who reigned at
Katmandoo.* |

* The expedition was undertaken at the recommendation
of Mr. Golding, the commercial agent at Betia, who feared
. that the success of the Goorkhas would ruin the trade he
before carried on with Nipal: it had been interrupted for three
or four years in consequence of the subjugation of Mukwanpoor.
Major Kinloch commanded the party destined for the relief of
the Nipal Raja. Hewas a good officer; but advanced into the
hills 2 month at least too early (in October 1767), and had not
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" Prithee Nurayun dying in 1771, his son Singh
Purtap, and, in 1775, his grandson Run Buhadur
came successively to the throne; the latter; how-
ever, being an infant, Buhadur Sah, another son of
Prithee Nurayun, struggled long with his brother’s
- widow for the regency. Her death at last gave him
the ascendancy, which he kept till 1795 ; when
‘Run Bubadur came of age, and forcibly assumed
the sceptre to the destructlon of his uncle.
~ Run Buhadur, proving a tyrant, was expelled
in '1800, and took refuge for a time at Bunarus.
In the interval of his exile, the Bengal govern-
ment established a commerc1al treaty with' the
ruling faction; and Captam Knox was sent’ re-
sident to Katmandoo-in 1802. "Colonel Kirk-
patrick had before been employed on a’mission
‘to that capital by Lord Cornwallis, but was
obliged to return without effecting any thing ; and
the same jealousy of the object with which the
connéxion was sought by us being still alive,

strength enough to establish a chain of depdts to” secure his
communication with " the plains ; consequently, having pene-
trated to Hureehurpoor, he was detained there by a nulla, not
fordable, and the bridge and raft he constructed were carried
. away after a fall of rain, which swelled the torrent unnatu*
rally. The delay thus experlenced exhausted his supplles,
and produced sickness ; so that, ﬁnally, he was obllged to
return early in December,—the time when, properly, he should
" have set out.
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Captain Kuox was recalled, and the connexion
broken off in 1804.

Run Buhadur left Bunarus, and was received
again with open arms by his subjects of Kat-
mandoo, soon after Captain Knox's recall ; but his
disposition proved to be incorrigibly tyrannical :
his bad propensities had been exasperated rather
than chastened by adversity, and by the restraints -
of a residence within the British frontier. The
principal people of the court therefore, who found
themselves the objects of a revengeful persecution,
a second time formed a conspiracy against the
Raja, which was brought to a desperate issue
prematurely. The conspirators, having some
reason to apprehend that they were betrayed,
suddenly resolved to sell their lives as dearly as
possible ; and one of them, the Raja’s half brother,
rushed forward and cut Run Buhadur down nearly
to the middle by'a blow of his koka,* as he sat
in ‘full durbar in 1805. A barbarous affray
followed, in which the brother was himself slain
" with most of the chief men of the state, and the
royal family- was nearly extinguished. An infant
son of Run Buhadur’s was, however, with diffi~
culty secreted in the women’s apartments, and
thus saved from the massacre by Bheem Sein
Thapa, who proclaimed him a few days after, by

* The koka is a short but heavy sword, the edge of which
is on the inner side, like that of a scythe.
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the name of Kurman Jodh Bikrum Sah, and who,
by his influence with the regent-mother, suc-
ceeded in introducing himself to a large share
in the government. The Raja was still in his
minority when thewar broke out with the British ;
and the power of the state was in the -hands
of an aristocracy, composed of the highest military
officers, with. whom were associated some of the
Raja’s distant telatiops, and -some Brahmins.
The Panres, or Pandees, were at the head of
the faction which had -expelled Run Buhadur, in
1800, but on that chief’s return, they were for the
most part cut off “or expatriated; and since then
the Thapas had acquired the paramount au-
thority. Bheem Sein Thapa, who assumed and
still uses the English- title of General, had the
principal conduct of affairs at the capital. He
was the son of a chief named Kajee Umur Singh
Thapa, governor of Palpa on the Gourukhpoor
frontier, and who died in October 1814.

. All the territory held by the Goorkhas west of the
Gogra. had been acquired ‘within the last fifteen
years, by the arms of another Umur. Singh Thapa ;
who, having been for many years at the head of a
successful army, had clothed himself with a power,
which the nationality of his troops and his own
patriotism alone prevented him from making
independent. The terms on which he stood to-
wards those who conducted affairs at Katmandoo,
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and the politics of the court, generally, will be
better understood from what we shall presently
have to relate: we shall first state briefly the
nature and origin of the disputes which ultimately
brought on the war.

The whole range of hills is skirted along its
southern base by a magnificent forest, chiefly of
Sil trees, (Shorea robusta). The timber is useful
in ship-building, though far inferior to the teak of
Malabar, and of the Burman empire. The boats,
however, which navigate the upper Ganges, and
the beams and rafters for building throughout
Hindoostan, even down to Calcutta, are almost
exclusively made of it. The forest therefore is
valuable* ; it abounds in elephants, which are
-chiefly prized for their teeth, the animals being
less fit for carriage, and in other respects greatly
inferior to what are caught at Chittagong, Ceylon,
and in the countries nearer the Line. Beyond the
forest, towards Hindoostan, is an open plain, called
the Turaee or Tereeana, which is chiefly valuable
on account of the fine pasture it yields during
the months of April and May, when the periodical
hot winds entirely destroy the herbage of the more
southern regions. The bunjaree bullocks from
‘Malwa, and even from the northern parts of the

. It is a saying of the Goorkbas, that every tree is a mine
of gold.
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Dukhun, come here ‘to -graze in those months;
and the Kahchuraee, or pasturage-rate, levied by
the border Zemindars, is a very productive branch
of their revenue. ‘ .

The soil of the Turaee is for the most part ex-
tremely rich; -and though the number of wild
elephants, rhinoceroses, and buffaloes that find
shelter in the adjoining forest, makes it very un-
‘certain whether the husbandman will reap the
fruits of his tillage, cultivation' has nevertheless
.made rapid advances there. The insalubrity of
the climate during a great portion of the year,
prevents the establishment of any considerable
towns in the tract. The population is, indeed, for
‘the most part migratory ; the several classes re-
tiring either into the hills, or to a distance in the
plains, when the unhealthy season commences.
There are ruins, however, at Sumroun, and -in
other parts of the Turaee, which would seem-to
indicate that, at some former period, the capital
of an extensive province was situated there, and
that the tract therefore was not always so un-
healthy as it is now deemed; but nothing satis-
factory on this head has yet been ascertained. -

“From time immemorial, the country with-
in the hills and on the borders has been divi-
ded amongst petty Hindoo Rajas, and the forest
and Turaee have naturally been a perpetunal
‘bone of content_ion to them; a .chieftain pos-
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sessing fastnesses in the -hills could always en- -
fore¢ contributions, by issuing thence and car-
rying off booty from those who hesitated to
comply. Hence every hill Raja had a sweep of
the forest and low country attached to his estate,
and this he was continually endeavouring to ex-
tend, either by intrigue, or by violence, or by any
_ means that presented. The superior wealth and
greater number of followers at the command of .
some -of the Rajas of the plains, enabled them
occasionally to penetrate and reduce to subjection
a hill neighbour ; but ordinarily, such enterprizes
were beyond their skill or resources; and the
border-war was handed down from father to sén,
in their respective families. ' .
Neither Ukbur nor any of his descendants on
the throne of Dehlee made any attempt to add
the tract of hills to the Moghul empire § its re-
venue was not an object of cupidity, nor was its
population -sufficiently formidable to make the
subjugation of the country necessary as'an act of
political precaution. The Rajas of the plains, on
the other hand, though -compelled to submit to
the Moosulman yoke, retained their territories,
and became tributaries of the empire ; which did
not prevent their prosecuting their hereditary feuds
with their neighbours in the hills, in the same
manner as heretofore. The Moghul officers, not
sorry to see a powerful vassal weakened, would
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sometimes foment these disputes, and make
grants of their tributary’s lands in the plains, for
the aggrandizement of a hill Raja ;3 whose name
would thus be added to the list of subjects. Or-
dinarily, however, the Soobas did not interfere in
the management of the affairs of this remote
tract. The Rajas, therefore, were at perfect
liberty to pursue their old system; and such
continued to be the state of this frontier, until
the low countries fell under the British- dominion,
‘and the hills were gradually overrun by the
Nipéilese, and consolidated by them into one
sovereignty. N

The British government, -assimilating its con-
duct to that of its predecessors, did not' interfere
with the possessions of the Rajas in the plains;
but contented itself with a money-tribute, or at
least with a composition for the rights asserted by
the Moghuls, which becoming fixed in amount at
the perpetual settlement, may be so described.

The Goorkhas, on the other hand, as each
Raja in the hills successively fell before them,
extermipatéd the family ; and, becoming heir to
all its” possessions, took up likewise the old Raja’s
claims and contests: with: his' neighbours. This
bronght them into contact with our Zemindars,
who were, of course, unable to maintain them-
selves against such an enemy, and generally
therefore had. to resign the object in dispute; for,.
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unless when the encroachment was gross and
easy of proof, it was vain to hope to interest the
British government in their favour. That go-
vernment was, in the first place, no loser by the
usurpation, for the public revenue was fully se-
cured by the perpetual settlement, and by the
increased value of the entire estate against any
loss from a partial aggression. Moreover, it was,
on principle, distrustful of the pretensions of its
own subjects, which were generally exaggerated ;
while it regarded the Goorkha nation as a well-
disposed nelo'hbour, whom it was desirable to con-
ciliate; hence an injured Raja of the plains would
seldom succeed in procuring any powerful sup-
.port to his cause, unless, as above observed, the
case were very flagrant, when the Goorkhas would
on remonstrance make reparation.

-It will be proper to ‘illustrate this view by an
appeal to facts;.and ‘the disputes on, the Sarun
frontier, one of the main causes of the war, afford
a case strongly in point. '

The Raja of Chumparun, who resides at Betia,
was perpetually at war with the Raja of Mukwan-
poor within the hills, for different portions of the
Turaee ; and amongst other sources of dispute,
each of them had pretensions to sovereignty over
part of a Perguna called Sumroun, the same in
which the ruins before alluded to are situated.
A\Ve shall endeavour to explain the circumstances
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of this dispute. with some mmuteness, at the risk
of appearing tedious. .

The Mukwanpoor famxly granted Roteehut
and Puchroutee, two tuppas (sub-divisions) of the
above Perguna, in Jageer to Ubdoollah Beg, 4 Moo-
sulman, who had influence énough with the Moor-
shedabad family to get there a confirmation of the

-tenure by the Nazim. The Betia Raja, who had
claims on the tract, and was, there is reason to
believe, then in possession, at first resisted; but
“in the end, gave likewise to-Ubdoollah a sunud®
for the same lands.” Thus was the Moosulman’s te-
nure secured, to whichever party the right belonged ;
but as-the Mukwanpoor grant was the oldest in
‘date, and had been acknowledged at Moorshéda-
bad, this Raja’s - title to resume evenfually ac-

“quired a kind of preference. In 1763, Prithee"
Nurayun, having subdued the Mukwanpoor Raja,
claimed to be feodal superior over Ubdoollah ; and
resolved, as soon as he had secured his conquest,
to resume the Jageer. Accordingly, after a year
or two, he seized not only Ubdoollah’s lands, but-
twenty-two villages more, which he claimed to be
part of Roteehut, though not in the: Jageerdars
possession.

Ubdoollah fled to the Enghsh authorities ; ‘who
took up his cause, and made his injuries one pre-
text for the declaration of war issued prior to the

* Sunud, a deed of gift,
F .
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advance of Major Kinloch in 1767. This officer,
having failed in penetrating. into the hills, was
desired to occupy the whole Turaee, asa means of
remunerating the British government for the ex-
pense incurred. Ubdoollah then claimed his Jageer,
and Roteehut and Puchroutee were in conse-
quence given up to him. When peace was re-
stored with the Nipilese, they sent an agent named
Deenanath to claim the territory given up to
Ubdoollah Beg as part of Mukwanpoor. This was
opposed by the Betia Raja, and a long investiga-
tion ensued ; .when, upon the strength of the first
deed of grant to Ubdoollah, which was on copper,
and of a date falling in 1743, Mr. Hastings finally
decided, in 1781, that Roteehut and Puchroutee
belonged to Mukwanpoor, and were not parcel of
‘Betia or Chumparun. While this contest was
undetermined, the Goorkhas courted Ubdoollah,
.and promised to maintain him, for without his help
their title could not have been established. After -
it was decided, however, they resumed his Jageer,
and occupied it for themselves. -The twenty-two
villages seized, on the first invasion of the Goorkhas,
on pretente of theirbelonging to Roteehut, had never
been given up either to Ubdoollah, or to the Nipa-
lese; and no demand was ever made for them. On
the contrary, from the time of Major Kinloch’s
occupation, in January 1768, the revenue of them
was uniformly collected as parcel of the Tuppa of
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Nunnor, or Noor; belonging equally with Roteehut
to the Perguna of Sumroun, but falling in that por-
tion of it which was annexed to Chumparun. At
the perpetual settlement concluded by the British
government in 1790, Nunnor formed part of the
lands for which the Raja of Betia engaged: and
thus the matter stood on this frontier till 1810:
the twenty-two villages continuing all the while
in this Raja’s possession.

From the above statement it will be seen that
Roteehut, which appears: to have originally be-
longed to the Raja of the plains, was finally dis-
membered from his territory, and annexed to the
hills, by the effect of the intrigue of the hill Raja
with Ubdoollah Beg. It was even more common,
however, for a hill Raja to become possessed of an
estate by usurpation, and then to have his title
acknowledged by being permitted to engage for
the revenue. The offer of an advance in the
yearly rate, or a present payment in cash, was
always sufficient to effect such an arrangement
with a temporary Amil: and after once procuring
possession, with an acknowledged title, all future
payments were of course dependent on circum-
stances, and the interest of the moment.

Of the confusion incident to this conduct in
native Amils, more than one instance was brought
. to light upon our occupying the territory ceded by
the Nuwab Vizeer in 1801. The most notable

F2
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was that of the Raja of the independent hill ter-
ritory of Palpa, who had contrived to possess him-
self of Bootwul, lying for the most part in the
plains; for the revenue of which he accounted to
the Nuwab. Vizeer’s government. In like manner
the Goorkhas themselves had usurped Sheeoraj on
the same frontier ; and they further held two
Talooks, called Tilpoor and Bunaeekpoor, by the
same sufferance ; professing to be accountable for
the revenue, though they pald or not, according
to circumstances.

The Bootwul case requires particular mention.
On our first occupying Gourukpoor, the Raja of
Palpa’s family had been recently driven out of. the
further hills, and obliged. to take refuge in Boot-
‘wul, which: is situated in the mouth of the first’
pass. - At the settlement' of the district in 1801-2,
the Raja's manager engaged to us, as be had
heretofore done to the Oudh government, for the
lands of Bootwul, at a juma, or annual assessment,
of 32,000 rupees. The Raja himself was then at
Katmandoo, negotiating  about his territory in the
hills.. He came, however, to the plains shortly
after, and confirmed the engagement with the
British Collector, which had been entered mto by
his manager.

The Goorkhas subsequently mduced him to re-
turn to Katmandoo, where he was committed to
prison, and in the end put to death. The family
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upon this, fearing the continued enmity of the
Goorkhas if they resided on the frontier, obtained
permission to give up Bootwul to the Company’s
Khas, or special management, and took up their
residence at the station of Gourukpoor, upon a
pension being assigned to them in Leu of their
profit from the management of the estate.

The Goorkhas in 1804, on the ground of having
subdued the Palpa Raja, claimed Bootwul as part
of his territory. They immediately, therefore, be-
gan sending people to collect the rents, instead of
allowing them to be received by the company’s
manager. By November 1805, they had esta-
blished their influence over two-thirds of the Per-
guna; but the circumstance having been brought
to Sir G. Barlow’s notice, when he was at Allaha-
bad in that year, he addressed a letter to the
court at Katmandoo, calling upon them to eva-
cuate Bootwul; and giving them to understand
that the company’s right to the Soveneignty of
Sheeoraj also was undoubted,—the Talook being
included by name amongst the Oudh cessions, and
the Goorkhas having no title but that of usurpa-
tion. Since, however, the date of the seizure of
this place was anterior to our possession of Gou-
rukpoor, Sir George professed a willingness to
give up his claim to Sheeoraj, on the condition of
the instant evacuation of Bootwul. The Goork-
has answered this by an offer to farm Bootwul as



72 CAUSES OF THE NIPAL WAR.

dering and making collections in eight others of
them, stating that they belonged to Roteehut.
The Raja of Betia’s people resisted this aggres-
sion, and an affray followed, in which Luichun-
geer was killed. This occurred on the 19th’ of
June, 1811. ‘The British government, on first
* hearing of the circurnstance, directed the Assistant
to the Maglstrate of Sarun to proceed to the
frontier, in order to inquire into the particulars
of the ‘affray ; but, before he arrived there, a
reinforcement had been sent down from Katman-
doo, Wthh immediately seized on the whole of
the twenty-twq villages. Mr. Young’s proceed-
ings were, therefore, confined to the ascertain-
ment of -this fact, and of the circumstances of
Luchungeer’s death; both which being established,
he submitted his report, and returned to Sarun.
In this stage, thé case was referred for the inves-
tigatidn of -the Commissioner, whom it had al-
ready been resolved to send to Gourukpoor, and
the instructions as to the further measures to be
adopted were addressed to him.

PMaJor Paris Bradshaw, first Assistant to the
Resident at Lukhnou, was the person nominated
by Lord Minto to settle these frontier disputes ;
and in the season 1812-13 he met the Goorkha
Commlssmners in the Gourukpoor part of the
‘Turaee, and _proceeded first to investigate the
 title they preferred to Bootwul and Sheeoraj.
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- The inquiry wa$ extended to both estates, in
- consequénce of the court at Katmandoo not
having closed with either of our offers to resign
the latter conditionally.

- The result of the investigation established the
facts above related, in regard to Bootwul, beyond
the possibility of doubt. Sheeoraj was proved-to
have been seized by the Goorkhas sixteen years be-
fore the ‘cession of Gourukpoor to us; and great
importance was attached by them to some per-
wanas, or written -orders, addressed by British
commanders to the Goorkha Sooba,-at the time
of Vizeer Ulee’s flight from Bunarus to the Tu-
raee, after the murder of Mr. Cherry, in 1798.
They argued that thé demand then made of aid
- for that delinquent’s apprehension, impliéd an
acknowledginent of right to ‘the territory within
which the ‘exertion was called for. The docu-
ments were certainly evidence to the power and
possession of the Goorkhas; two points which
-were not denied ; but for ten of the sixteen years
they had held Sheeoraj, the revenue had been
;accounted for to the Amils of the Nuwab Vizeer’s
-government, while ‘the origin of the Goorkha
title was clearly traced to open usurpation.

" The investigation having been: brought to
this’ issue, Major Bradshaw was instructed to
demand - the -evacuation both of ‘Bootwul and
Sheeoraj. The Goorkha Commissioners declared
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a Zemindaree, on the terms agreed to by the .
Raja and his manager at the first settlement:
this, however, was refused, and instant evacuation
ordered. But Sir G. Barlow, having shortly after-
wards gone as governor to Madras, and Lord
Minto’s attention being occupied with other
things, the matter remained for some years with-
out further notice; and, in the mean time, the
Goorkhas occupied the whole of Bootwul.
Emboldened by the indifference thus mani-
fested, in 1810-11, they crossed the small river
that forms the boundary of Bootwul, and began
to occupy some villages of the adjoining Perguna
of Palee. They also advanced from Sheeoraj, till
at last their encroachments in this quarter again
attracted the attention of government ; and in the
beginning of 1812, after remonstrating against
the aggressions, Lord Minto repeated Sir G. Bar-
lIow’s offer, to resign his right to Sheeoraj, on con-
dition of the immediate evacuation of Bootwul
and all subsequent occupations. Bheem Sein’s
father, Umur Singh, who was now the Goorkha
governor of Palpa, answered the proposition on
this occasion by asserting a distinct right to all
he had taken, and even to more. This circum-
stance, combined with what occurred simulta-
neously on the Sarun frontier, induced the Bri-
tish gdvemment to nominate a Commissioner, and
to invite the Goorkhas to send others to meet
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him, in order to settle finally the boundary line
of the respective territories. Considering that
the peremptory demand made by Sir G. Barlow
in 1805 for the evacuation of Bootwul, had ‘been:
answered by an offer to farm it, which was a dis-
tinct admission of our right, the nomination of.
a Commission to investigate the matter now, be-
fore enforcing the evacuation, was an act of most:
exemplary and undeserved moderation.

- What had passed, however, on the Sarun fron-
tier remains to be told. The lands forming the
Jageer of Ubdoollah remained, as resigned by Mr.
Hastings, in the hands of the Nipilese, without
aggression on the Betia territory, till the end of
1810, as has been before-mentioned. In 1811,

‘7 one Luchungeer, the Goorkha Sooba (governor)
of Roteehut, crossed the frontier with a party.
of armed men; and having seized and stock-
aded Kewya, one of the twenty-two* villages oc-
cupied in Prithee Nurayun's time, began plun-

* As these twenty-two villages are continually recurring,
it may be useful to give their names, and to state that they
all lie to the South of the ruins of Sumroun :—1. Bijbunee ;

2. Atmoha; 3. Gora Suhun 5 4. Sree Nugur, a Tola;

5. Kewya, or Byrajputce ; 6. Poornyhia; 7. Korya; 8. Su~

munpoor ; 9. Busuntpoor; 10. Bejace; 11. Bhulooas 12.

Kudumooa; 13, Bunkutwa; 14. Nemya; 15. Puku-reea;“
16. Kurwa; 17. Ambooa, a Tela; 18. Jujhoora; 19. Go-
gawa; 20. Simree; 21. KhUJllal'ee 22. Chynpoor, a Tola

of Kurwa, No.16.
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dering and making colléctions in eight others of
them, stating that they belonged to Roteehut.
The Raja of Betia’s people resisted this aggres-
sion, and an affray followed, in which Luchun-
geer was killed. This occurred on the 19th of
June, 1811. The British government, on first
hearing of the circumnstance, directed the Assistant
to the Magistrate of Sarun to proceed to the
frontier, i order to inquire into the particulars
of the ‘affray; but, before he arrived there, a
reinforcement had been sent down from Katman-
dot_), which.immedia'tely seized on the whole of
the twenty-two villages. Mr. Young’s proceed-
ings were, therefore, confined to the ascertain-
ment of -this fact, and of the circumstances of
Luchungeer’s death; both which being established,
he submitted his report, and returned to Sarun.
In this stage, the case was’ referred for the inves-:
tigatidn of the Commissioner, whom it had al-
ready been resolved to .send to Gourukpoor, and
the instructions as to the further measures to be
adbpted were addressed to him. -

Major Paris Bradshaw, first Assistant to the
Resident at Lukhnou, was the person nominated
by Lord Minto to settle these frontier disputes;
and in the season 1812-13 he met the Goorkha
Commissioners in the Gournkpoor part of the
Turaee, and proceeded first to investigate the
title they preferred to Bootwul and Sheeoraj.
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- The inquiry was extended to both estates, in
" comsequénce of the court at Katmandoo not
having closed with either of our offers to resign
the latter conditionally.

- The result of the investigation established the
facts above related, in regai‘d to Bootwul, beyond
the possibility of doubt. Sheeoraj was proved to
have been seized by the Goorkhas sixteen years be-
fore the cession of Gourukpoor to us; and great
importance was attached by them to some per-
wanas, or written orders, addressed by British
commanders to the Goorkha Scoba, <t the time
of Vizeer Ulee’s flight from Bunarus to the Tu-
raee, after the murder of Mr. Cherry, in 1798.
They argued that the demand then made of aid
for that delinquent’s apprehension, implied an
acknowledgment of right to the territory within
which the exertion was called for. The docu-
ments were certainly evidence to the power and
possession of the Goorkhas; two points which
-were not denied ; but for ten of the sixteen years
they had held Sheeoraj, the revenue had been
;accounted for to the Amils of the Nuwab Vizeer’s
-government, while the origin of the Goorkha
title was clearly traced to open usurpation.
~ The investigation having been- brought to
this” issue, Major Bradshaw was instructed to
demand - the evacuation both of Bootwul and
Sheeoraj. The Goorkha Commissioners declared



74  CAUSES OF THE NIPAL WAR.

themselves not satisfied, and begged to refer the
matter to Katmandoo. The Major accordingly sub-
mitted his proceedings for the orders of his govern-
ment, while he himself went on to the Sarun frontier,

Here it was in hisinstructions thathe should insist
on the restitution of the twenty-two villages occu-
piedin 1811, as apreliminary to any investigation of
the claim set up by the Goorkhas. After much eva-
sion, he procured this; but when he proposed opening
the inquiry, the Nipalese Commissioners, affecting
to have taken some personal offence against the
Major, refused to have more discussion with him,
and suddenly returned to Katmandoo, leaving him
alone on the frontier. B

This occurred in March 1814, and was evi-
dently a result of the determination formed by the
Goorkha government upon the Gourukpoor cases,
which had previously been brought to issue.

Lord Minto, being perfectly satisfied with the
proceedings forwarded by Major- Bradshaw, ad-
dressed aletter to the Raja, in June, 1813, de-
manding the immediate evacuation both of Boot-
wul and Sheeoraj. The answer to this did not
arrive till December: it was replete with fulsome
professions of respect and attachment; but de-
clared the right of the Goorkhas to both Bootwul
and Sheeoraj to have been clearly established by
the result of the investigation. No reasons were
assigned, and as far as concerned Bootwul at least,
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the assertion seemed to be in the face of all the
evidence. Lord Hastings, who had in the interval
assumed charge of the government, as soon.as he
had examined the voluminous proceedings and
papers, and made himself master of the case,
addressed to the Raja of Nipdl a peremptory:
requisition to evacuate the two districts; and he
sent the letter through the Magistrate of Gouruk-
poor, giving that officer authority to order the
advance of a body of troops to occupy the con-
tested lands, in case the Ri’:tja’s'order for their eva-
cuation should not arrive within twenty-five days
from the date of his forwarding the letter. The
Goorkha government was further informed that the
Magistrate had these orders.

It was the receipt of this letter that had pro-
duced the senmsation at Katmandoo, which occa-
sioned the sudden recall of the Commissioners from
Sarun, and ended in the resolution to abide the
issue of war. In April 1814, a council was held,
at which the Goorkha Commissioners from the
frontier, and two and twenty others of the prin-
cipal people of the courf, were present, and the
question of war or peace was fairly debated, ina
sitting which lasted from nine o’clock in the morn-
ing till eight at night. )

There were some in the council who had appre-
hensions of the result; but an overweaning con-
fidence in their own power and resources, and the
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.opinion of their entire invulnerability in the hills
prevailed.* The advocates of war, indeed, argued
that by remaining in their native fastnesses, and
issuing thence on predatory excursions into the
plains, a state of war could be made even more
proﬁtable and advantageous, than peace would
be with the loss of the power of encroachmg with
impunity.-

The Goorkhas, as before stated, came to this
resolution in April; they gave, however, no inti-
mation of their hostile intentions, and answered
the "Governor-General’s letter on the subject of
Bootwul and Sheeoraj, by mere common-place as-
surances of respect, and of a desire to keep on
a good understanding with the. British, omitting
all mention of the specific subject in discussion.

In the mean time, Sir Roger  Martin, the Gou-
rukpoor Magistrate, receiving no orders from
Katmandoo for the evacuation of the disputed
districts, addressed the commanding officer at the
station; and on the expiration of the period,
three companies marched to occupy the lands.
The Goorkha officers retired before them, without
making the slightest opposition. For nearly a
month, too, that the troops remained in the
Turaee, they attempted nothing ; but suffered the

. ‘Vide in the Appendfx a curious report of the opinions of
some of the chiefs, as forwarded to the Palpa governor, with
instructions to prepare for war.
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magistrate to. establish three police. Thanas in

Bootwul, at Chitwa, Bisourea, and Sourah, and
one with "two-subordinate outpos_ts at Sheeoraj,

without-even. making a remonstrance against the

manner of ‘occupation. The above arrangement

was made merely with a view to the ordinary ad-
ministration. of the districts, upon the retirement

of the troops, and wholly without anticipation of

attack or hostility of any kind on the part of the

Goorkhas.

Early on the morning of the 29th May, 1814,
before the regular troops had reached Gouruk-
poor on their-retuin, the. three thanas of Bootwul
were surrounded’ sunultaneously, and the people
attacked without warning. At the. three stations
eightéen men were killed and four. wounded; the
- daroga, or chief officer of the thana of Chitwa, was
murdered in cold blood, after he had surrendered,
and in the presence of Munraj, the late Goorkha
governor of Bootwul, who was the leader of this.
enterprise. As the season was too’ far advanced
for our troops to take the field, the magistrate.
ordered his thanas in Sheeoraj to concentrate and
retire on Bansee ; thus relinquishing forthe present.
- all he had occupied.. One of the outposts was, how-
ever, surprised at Rourah on the 3d of June, when
four men more were killed and two wounded by
the Nipélese.

While “hostilities were thus commencing in
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Gourukpoor, the disputes on the Sarun frontier
were fast coming to the same issue. The Marquess

) of Hastings, on first hearing of the conduct of the
Nipélese Commissioners, ordered the permanent
annexation to the British territories of the twenty-
two villages, and the other disputed tracts of that
frontier; and he sent a force of a few companies,
which remained in the Turaee during the rains, to
secure this quarter. The formal declaration of
war was purposely delayed till the close of the
rains, in order to allow time for persons engaged
in trade with Nipdl to withdraw their capital,
as well as to give the Nipilese the opportunity
of disavowing the act of Munraj, and punishing
the perpetrators, if so inclined. They showed no
.disposition to do so; but, on the contrary, made the
most active military preparations along the whole -
extent of their frontier. The declaration of war
was accordingly at length issued by his Lordship
from Lukhnou, on the 1st November, 1814.

The aggressions on the Sarun and Gourukpoor
frontiers are the only ones that have been related
at length, and were doubtless the most important ;
but there were innumerable others equally unwar-
ranted, along the whole Turaee. The magistrate
of Tirhoot. reported, that between 1787 and 1813

1 upwardsof two hundredvillages had been seized on
one or other unjustifiable pretext. On the Purneah
frontier, the Goorkha governor of Morung had,
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in 1808, seized the whole Zemindaree of Bheem-
nugur; but this case being particularly flagrant,
was ‘taken up immediately, and in June 1809, a
detachment .under an officer was sent to the.
frontier, when th? Nipélese, yielding tc‘ the threat
of ‘an immediate appeal to the sword, evacnated
the lands in the course of 1810. Towards Rohil-
khund the Goorkhas had seized five of eight
Talooks, composing the Perguna of Khyreegurh:
three of which were taken before and two after
the cession to usin 1801. They also advanced a
claim to Kasheepoor, and other lands of Morada-"
bad; but were deterred from seizing them. In
the Seikh'’ country, beyond the Jumna, Umur
Singh, the Goorkha commander, was engaged in
hostilities with Sunsar-Chund, of Kankra, and with -
.other hill Rajas, who held likewise landsin the
plains; to which, as each successively fell before.
bim, he advanced a eclaim. In 1813 he came
down and .seized some villages on this plea ; but
on receiving a vigorous remonstrance from Major-
General, then Colonel, Ochterlony, who conmmand-
ed at Loodheeana, he retired. It appeared, indeed,
that both his situation and general views of policy
made him averse to pushing things to extremity
with the British; and he early expressed a decided
opinion against the measures adopted in Bootwul
and Sheeoraj, which he declared to have origina-
ted in the selfish views of persons, who scrupled



80 CAUSES OF THE anAL WAR.

not to .involve the nation in’ Jyar to gratify their
personal avarice.* The msmuatmn was levelled
at Bheem Sein, whose father;had made the usur-
pation, and whose family . dérived most of the
advantages. The revenue of the usurped lands, it
is to be observed, could not have been less than a
lack of rtipees ayear to the Goo_l_'khas, taken altoge-
ther, in the manner t'hey collected it : the retention
of this income was therefore an object of no small
importance to the ambitious vie’ws of Bheem Sein,
and to the preservation of the influence he had
contrived to establish for his family. t

* Vide Umur Singh’s opinion in reply-to the question sub-~
mitted by the Raja, Appendix A.; also his mtercepted
letter, B.
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CHAPTER IIL

MYPAL WAR.-—~FIRST CAMPAIGN.
1814..

Governor General leaves the Presidency—Plan of operations
—General Gillespie’s division takes the field—his failure
before Nalapanee—and death—Second assault—unsuccess-
ful—Evacnation of the fort, and pursult of the garrison—
Change of plan—GeneralMartindell takes the command—
Operations against Jythuk—Defeat of Major Ludlow's de-
tachment—Major Richards retires with loss—General
Ochterlony’s division—Capture of Nalagurh—Umur Singh’s
position at Ramgurh—Skirmish before it—Operations to
turn its flank—Affair at Deboo ka Tibia—New position of
Umur Singh—General Ochterlony’s movement ‘on Belas-
poor—Occupation of Maloun ridge by Umur Singh—Gou-
rukpoor dlvxslon—General J. S. Wood’s unsuccessful attack
of Bootwul—Defensive proceedings—Sarun frontier—At-
tempt of Chundur Seekur Opadheea to negotiate —Defeat

- of Purseram Thapa by Major Bradshaw—General Mar-
ley’s arrival—Posts of Captains Blackney and Sibley cut
_off by the Nipdlese—~Indecision of the General—his de-
parture from camp—Sikhim Raja gained by Major Latter
—Repulse of the enemy at one of his outposts.

THE Marquess of Hastings, very soon after his
arrival in India; determined to make a tour of
_-inspection to the western provinces. Accordingly,

o G
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in prosecution of this intention, he embarked at
Calcutta in June 1814, and reached Cawnpoor
(Kan,hpoor) by the end of September, after a
tedious navigation up the Ganges. The discus-
sion with the Nipilese had been brought to issue
by the murder of the police-officers in Gourukpoor,
a short time before his Lordship left the presidency.
The interval of the journey, therefore, was em-
ployed in preparation' for the vigorous prosecution
of the war in the hills, and in defensive arrange-
ments against the probability of another violation
of our frontier by the Pindareces. The leaders of
those associations might, it was thought, be tempt-
ed to seize the opportunity to annoy us that
would be afforded by the employment of our,
troops in the opposite direction. The nature,
however, of the defensive arrangements resolved
-upon will be explained hereafter. First, we shall
relate the occurrences of the campaign in the hills,

and it will be convenient to pursue them without
mterruptlon from their commencement in October
1814, to the. close of the campaign in April of the
following year.

The frontier which was to be the_ scene of war
stretched a distance of about six hundred miles;
* and the enemy had the command of all the passes
of the forest, as well as the hills, This, and the
general suspiciousness of the Goorkha character,
rendered it extremely difficult for Lord Hastings to
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collect intelligence for the arrangement of his-plan .
of operations. He, nevertheless, resolved to act of-
fensively against the enemy along the whole line of Q
frontier, from the Sutlej to the Koosee ; and the
following was the allotment ultimately made of
this space to the several .divisions that were
brought into the field.

It was assigned to Colonel Ochterlony,* who
commanded the post established at Loodheeana in
1808-9, to operate in the hilly country lying near
the Sutlej. The force under this officer’s command

. was exclusively native infantry and artillery, and
amounted to about six thousand men ; it had a
train of two 18-pounders, ten 6-pounders; and four
mortars and howitzers.

‘From Meeruth in the Dooab, Major-general
Gillespie, whose conduct at Vellore and in Java
had given his name a high celebrity, was to pro-
ceed first against the Dehra Doon (a rich valley
stretching between the Ganges and Jumna, within
the first range of hills), and as soon as this should
be reduced, which it was expected would not be
an operation of much time or difficulty, the force
was to divide; and while a detachment ‘attacked
Gurhwal and Sirinugur, under the snowy range,
the main body was to proceed against Nahn. to

* This officer’s commission of Mq)or-general arrived soon
af‘ter the opening of the campalgn ; we shall therefore hence-
forth designate him as of that rank.

a2
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the west of the Jumna, in aid of the operations-
of Major-general Ochterlony against Umur Singh.-
General Gillespie’s force originally consisted of
his Majesty’s 53d, which, with artillery and a
few dismounted dragoons, made up about one
thousand Europeans, and two - thousand five
hundred native infantry. This division, and that"
under General. Ochterlony, were ordered to take
the field towards the end of October; the
unhealthy season of the rains being generally"
over to the north-west by the beginning or
middle of this month. Kumaon, and Almora, its
capital, were to be attacked from Rohilkhund ;
but, according to the orxg'mal plan, this movement
was to follow the occupation of Gurhwal to the
north of the province; and the operations under-
taken here in December and January were an after-
thought, suggested by the peculiar circumstances
that attended the commencement of the war..
From Bunarus and Gourukpoor a force was
collected, and placed under the command of Major-
general John Sullivan Wood, and his instructions
were to penetrate by Bootwul into Palpa. This
division consisted of his Majesty’s 17th foot, nine
hundred and fifty strong, and about three thou-
sand native infantry ; it had a train of seven 6 and
3-p31@hders, and four mortars and howitzers. The
15th of November was fixed upon as the day on
which this force was to take the field at Gourukpoor,
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- Further east from Patna and Moorshedabad,
another force of a strength of near eight thousand
men, including his Majesty’s 24th foot, nine hun-
dred and seven strong, was collected for the main
* attack, which was intended to be made direct
upon the capital of Katmandoo by the passes
between the Gunduk and Bagmuttee. Major-ge-
neral Marley was intrusted with the command of
this army, and there was a train attached to
it of four 18-pounders, eight 6 and 3-pounders,
and fourteen mortars and howitzers. The Ganges
was to be crossed by the troops from Patna on
the 15th of November; and a further brigade
was formed, from troops at more distant stations,
to follow the army and secure its dep6ts and rear,
as it advanced into the hills. ’ ‘

Beyond the Koosee eastward, Major Latter was
furnished with two' thousand men, including his
district battalion, for the defence of the Pootnea
frontier. This officer was desired to open a com-
munication with the petty Raja of Sikhim, and
to give him every assistance and encouragement
to expel the Goorkhas from the eastern hills,
short of an actual advance of troops for the pur-
pose. The Raja’s minister had invited the com-
mon ;anemy, who thus had acquired a footing at
Nagree and in the pass of Nagurkoét; but little
advance had yet been made by the Nipilese in
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the subjugation of the country, and the struggle
with the Raja’s adherents was still actively going
on when the declaration of war issued. Sikhim
is tributary to Lassa and the Chinese : the fron-
tier towards the plains is small, being bounded by
the Teesta to the east, and by the Michee to the
west ; but the territory extends northward to the
snowy range, and was found to afford a more
ready communication with Lassa and China than
that through Bootan, by which route Messrs.
Bogle and Turner penetrated in Mr. Hastings’
time.

Such were the dispositions made for the cam.
paign. Major-general Gillespie was the first to
penetrate the enemy’s frontier. On the 22nd of
October hé seized the Keree pass leading into the
Doon, and thence proceeded to Dehra, the princi-
pal town in the valley, without meeting any oppo-
sition. The whole of the hill country, west of the
Ganges, was still under Umur Singh; who had
allotted a force of about six hundred men under
the command ‘of Captajn® Bulbhudur Singh,

# The use of English terms for their grades of command
was general in the Goorkha army, but the powers of the dif-
ferent ranks did not correspond with those of our system.
The title of General was assumed by Bheem Sein, as Com-
mander-m-cblef and enjoyed by himself alone; of Colonels,
there were three or four only; all principal officers of the
eourt, commanding more than one battalion. The title of
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for the defence of the Doon. About five miles
from Dehra was a hill five or six hundred feet
high, surmounted with a fort of no great size or
strength, called Nalapanee. Here Bulbhudur re-
solved to make his stand : and employed himself
in strengthening and adding to the works, which
were still in an unfinished state, when General
Gillespie appeared in the neighbourhood,

Misled, in some degree, by his information as
to the strength of the place, which had been col-
lected before Bulbhudur had put in hand his re-
cent additions, the Major-general first sent on
Colonel Mawbey, with a detachment, to expel the
garrison, intending to march immediately with
his main body on Nahn. Colonel Mawbey, how-"
ever, seeing the nature of the works, was deterred
. from attempting any thing, and solicited fresh
instructions. Upon this, the General himself ad-
vanced with his whole army; and, after a rapid
reconnoissance, resolved on carrying Nalapanee by
assault. - On the 30th of October he seized, with
a part of his force, one end of the table-land, or
rather ridge, which, being more than half a mile

Major was held by the adjutant of a battalion or.independent
company; and Captain was the next grade to colonel, im-
plying the command of a corps. Luftun, or Lieutenant, was
the style of the officers commanding companies under the
Captain; and then followed the subaltern ranks of Soobadar,
Jemadar, and Havildar, without any Ensigns.
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in length, was not fully occupied by the fort.
Here he formed a hasty battery at six hundred
“yards for his light guns, intending to try the
assault next day. In the course of the night he
disposed his division in four parties, which, upon
.a given signal, were to move simultaneously from
the battery and surrounding valleys, with ladders,
to escaladé the walls. Unfortunately, the signal
to be given was the firing of guns in a “particular
manner from the battery ; a method of communi-
cation at all times open to accident, and particu-
larly uncertain in a rugged country like that in
which Nalapanee was situated, where the columns
were necessarily out” of sight of the battery ; and
some of them so far off, that the report could not
be heard distinctly. 'The Major-general also gave
the officers commanding each column reason to
expect the signal after ten o’clock in the day ; but
having early in the morning fired for some time -
on the walls, without producing so much effect as
he expected, the impetuosity of his temper led
him' to give the signal an hour before the time.
Hence it was only obeyed, when given, by two of
the four columns, those led by Colonel Carpenter,
and Major Ludlow; the former six hundred and ele-
ven strong, and the latter, nine hundred and thirty-
nine; . officers included. Captain Bulbhudur had
made the best possible preparations for defence ;
besides manning the walls, he opened the wicket
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gate, which jutted out so as to enfilade a great
part of the wall, then barring the entrance with
cross beams, he planted a gun through the em-
brasure thus formed, and loaded it with grape.

The columns  approached steadily under a
heavy fire of musquetry from the walls, but igno-
rant of this arrangement to take them in flank.
Lieutenant Ellis led his. pioneers close under the
wall, where they ‘planted the ladders. He was,
however, killed immediately after, by the fire of .
the gun before mentioned ; and the greater part
of the pioneers, and of the head of the columm,
were swept down with him. '

‘An attempt was then made to gain the wicket,
but without effect; whereupon the troops, find-
ing it impossible to enter the place, fell back to
the shelter of some huts, at a little distance out-
side the walls. The Major-general had stayed this
while in the battery ; but immediately he saw the
troops retire,-he hastened forward with three
fresh companies of the 53d, determined to carry
the fort or perish. General Gillespie attempted
to lead the columns again to the ramparts; but
as the men saw no. practicable means of sur-
mounting the wall, he was not so readily followed
as he wished, - He pushed forward, however,
 with about a hundred dismounted men of the
Sth dragoons; a regiment he had once com-
manded, and which was much attached to hjmr

T e



90 NIPAL WAR.

These he led on to within a few yards of the
wicket, where, as he was waving his hat, close
under the wall, he was shot through the heart,
and fell dead. His aidecamp, Major O’Hara, was
killed by his side; Captain Byers, his brigade-
major, was wounded ; and of the men of the 8th
dragoons, four were killed, and fifty wounded.
The fall of the General was the signal for retreat ;
and the total loss suffered on this occasion was, -
besides the General, ~four officers, and twenty-
seven men killed, and fifteen officers and two
hundred and thirteen men wounded *,
General Gillespie’s death gave the command to
Colonel Mawbey of his Majesty’s 53d, the se-
nior officer present. His first act was to retire

* # Killed—Lieut. and Adjut. O’'Hara, 6th Native Infantry;
Lieut. and Adjut. Gosling, Light Battalion ; Ensign Fother-
gill, 17th Native Infantry; Ensign Ellis, Pioneers. v

Wounded. — Lieut.-Col. Westenra, slightly ; Capt. Brut-
ton, severely; Lieut. Heyman, slightly; Lieut. Taylor, se-
-verely ; Cornet Macdonald,'severe]y, 8th Light Dragoons,—
" Lieut. Young and Lieut. Anstice, severely, his Majesty’s
53d.—Ensign Davidson, slightly, 7th Native Infantry.—
Lieut. Broughton, dangerously, 19th Native Infantry.—-
Major Wilson, and Lieut. Thackeray, severely; Lieut.
Monteath, slightly, Light Battalion.—Lieut. Elliott, Pio-
neers, severely; Lieut. Blane, Engineers, slightly; Capt.
Byers, Aidecamp, severely. Mr. William Fraser, of the
Civil Service, the Political Agent with this division, was also
wounded on this occasion, by an arrow, in pis throat.
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. to Dehra, until a train of heavy guns could arrive
" from Dehlee, the nearest dep6t. This occupied
till the 24th of November ;. and on the 25th, the
army recommenced operations. A battery of 18-
pounders was now constructed, within three hun-.
dred yards; and by noon of the 27th of Novem-
ber, a large part of the wall was brought down.
A sally was attempted from the fort, but the
enemy were driven back by grape from the bat-
tery ; and the breach appearing to be practicable,
an assault was ordered the same day. On ap-
proaching the breach, some few of the grenadiers
of the 53d mounted it ; but, being immediately
"shot from within, the rest of the troops hung
back, and remained at a short distance, in perfect
self-possession, firing at the garrison ; but exposed,.
in return, to the showers of grape, musquetry, ar-
rows, and even stones, which the enemy poured
incessantly from behind their defences. The Bri-
tish officers exerted every effort to induce a se-
cond attempt to mount the breach, but without
effect.  Lieutenant Harrington of the 53d ad-
vanced personally, to prove to the men how easily
it was to be ascended ; but, being unsupported,
he fell a victim to his zeal and gallantry. The
British commander, seeing from the battery
" what was' passing, thought it would be of good
effect to send up one of his light guns, which,
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being fired into the breach, might, he conceived,
clear it of the enemy, and allow the men to
mount in the smoke. Lieutenant Luxford, of
the horse-artillery, undertook this perilous ser-
vice ; but he had no sooner carried up his gun,
and executed what was proposed, than he .re-
ceived a mortal wound. The minds of the sol-
diers were impressed with so superstitious a con-
viction of the impracticability of the breach, that
they would not advance, even with the advantage
of the smoke of the gun. The retreat was,
therefore, at last soinded, after two hours had
been spent by the assailants in the exposed situa-
tion above described, at an immense sacrifice of
valuable lives. Four officers, Captain Campbell,
6th N. L. ; and Lieutenants Harrington, his Ma-
jesty’s 53d, Cunningham, 13th N. I., and Lux-
ford, horse-artillery, were killed, with fifteen
Europeans and eighteen Natives; while seven
officers*, two hundred and fifteen Europeans, and
two hundred and twenty-one ‘Natives, were
wounded on this occasion. Thus, including the
loss incurred in the first attack, this petty fortress
bhad already cost us considerably more than the
entire number of its garrison. :

* Major Ingleby, Captain Stone, Lieutenants Horsely,
Green, and Brodie, and Ensign Aufrere, of his Majesty's
538d; and Captain Blake of the 13th Native Infantry.
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It was now determined to shell the place, in the
hope that from the want.of bomb-proofs, or other
protection from this arm, it might be made unte-
nable. The efforts. of the besiegers were also
directed against the ‘water, ‘which there was reason
to believe was got from without the walls. After
three days the wisdom of this plan was shown by
the evacuation of the fort; which was left by the. -
remnant of its garrison on the night of the 30th of
November. It is truly mortifying to reflect, that
the same plan, if adopted at the commencement,
must have secured the fall of the place with the
same facility ; and would thus have saved to the
nation all the blood that was spilt, besides the loss
of two months of the favourable season, and the
disrepute of two disastrous failures. Bulbhudur
carried off seventy survivors, all that remained
unhurt of his garrison of near six hundred. With
these he secretly passed the line of posts established
round the fort, and joined a party of about three
hundred, which had been sent from Nahn to rein-

- force the place.. They had been seen for seme days
hovering about the neighbouring hills, but it had not-
been -thought necessary to send a detachment after
them. Colonel Mawbey, aisappointed that the gar-
rison should escape after all, resolved on an effort
to: surprise Bulbhudur. He proposed the enter-
_prise to. Major Ludlow, who undertook it with
alacrity. Having marched the greater part of>
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the night of the Lst of December, the Major came .
by surprise upon the Goorkha bivouack ; it dis-
persed so quickly that only the advance party were '
in sight,of the enemy ; but a number were cut up,
‘and the pursuit was continued for some distance.
Captain Bucke, who commanded the advance, and
Ensign Richmond, his adjutant, were wounded,
with about fifteén of the Sepoys.

Nalapanee, when occupied by Colonel Mawbey,
was found in a shocking state, full of the mangled
remains of mew and women killed by the shot and
‘'shells of our batteries; a number of wounded
were likewise lying about, and the stench was in-
tolerable. Upwards of ninety bodies were collected
and burnt ; and the wounded were sent to our hos-
pitals ;- after which the fort was razed, and Colonel.
Mawbey proceeded to execute the further opera-~
tions assigned to the division.

Experience having shown the determined bra-
very with which we must expect to be opposed,
Lord Hastings so far varied his plan of operations
as to forego the detachment of a part of this divi-
sion to occupy Gurhwal. He accordingly in-
structed Colonel Mawbey to leave a few men in a
strong ‘position for the occupation of the Doon, and
to carry his undivided army against Umur Singh’s
son, Colonel Runjoor Singh Thapa, who was, with -
about two- thousand three hundred elite of the
Goorkha army, at Nahn. It was further intended
to reinforce the division considerably ; and Colonel



FIRST CAMPAIGN. - 95

. Mawbey was informed that the command had been
conferred on Major-general Martindell. This offi-
cer was at a distance, and did not join till the 20th
of December. In the mean time Colonel Mawbey
had led back the division through the Keree pass,.
leaving Colonel Carpenter posted at Kalsee, at the
_ north-western extremity of the Doon. This'station
commanded the passes of the Jumna, on the main
line of communication between the western and
eastern portions of the Goorkha territory, and
thus was well chosen for procuring intelligence.
The letters te and from Umur Singh and his offi-
cers, which developed every secret motive of the
Goorkha policy, were chiefly intercepted at this
* point ; and after a short time, the disaffection of
the inhabitants, and want of supplies, obliged the
Goorkhas to abandon Burat, an elevated and
strong position north-east of Kalsee; which, being
likewise occupied by Colonel Carpenter, entirely
cut off Umur Singh’s communication with Ku-
maon and Katmandoo, except by the very difficult
routes close under the snowy range.
The division left the Doon on the 5th of Decem-
ber, and taking the route of the plams, entered the
valley below Nahn, by the pass of Kolapanee, and
encamped at Moganund on the 19th. Nahn was
* only seven'miles distant,and though upon a hill two
thousand feet high, was not deemed by the enemy
to be of sufficient strength for their main stand.
Accordingly Runjoor Singh had received Umur
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Singh’s orders to- retire to a position north of the
town, and to occupy the surrounding. helghts and
the fort' of Jythuk, situated at a point where two
spurs of mountainous ridges meet, and the peak at
the intersection rises to a height of three thousand
six hundred feet above the level of the plains of ;
Hindoostan. .- - : :

General Martindell havmg ascertamed the eva-~-
cuation of Nahn, caused it to be occupied by Major ’ N
Ludlow on.the 24th of December ‘and follow-»
ing with his whole force on‘ the 25th, planned an-
offensive movement against Jythuk,.after a cur- -
sory examination of the position ‘as it towered to_
the skies, and ethblted itg several peaks to the.
‘view from Nahn. N RN i

Two detachments were formed to occupy diffe-,
rent arms of the ridges ‘above descrlbed Ma‘]or,r
Richards, of the 13th N. 1. was mtrusted with one
of a strength of seven hundred and t}urty-elght A
men,* which was to make adetour, and estabhsh it-
self on a height to the north of Jythuk, subsequent- -
ly called Peacock-hill. Major Ludlow, of the 6th ..
N. L. was intrusted with the command of the other, .
which was to occupy the southern and nearest arm
to Nabn: its strength was a- thousand ﬁghtmg

hd Major Richards :—light company of hls Ma)estys 53d;
three and a half light companies of Native Infantry ; the bat-
talion companies of the Ist Battalion, 13th Native Infantry,
and 50 Pioneers. ' '
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STOCKADED POSITION of the GOORKHAS at JYTHUK.
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‘men.* Mountain-guns, on elephants, were attach-
ed to each detachment, but the ground was too
rugged to allow of their keeping up on the march.
The roads, indeed, were mere mountain pathways,
difficult of ascent for a single person, without arms,
or accoutrements; and scarcely in any part ad-
mitting a march of troops otherwise than by single
files.

Major Richards, having farthest to go, set off an
hour earlier; but Major Ludlow, who moved at .
midnight, came first upon the enemy. He fell in
with Runjoor Singh’s outer picquet at three in the
morning, at about a mile’s distance from the point
to .be occupied. The party retired, and the
Major’s advance-guard pushed up the hill in pur-

- suit, exposed to its irregular fire. At the top of
the hill was the vxllage and temple of Jumpta in

_ ruins, where was ‘a second post ‘of the pralese' ,
which similarly retired.

Major Ludlow pushed on immediately with the
grenadier company of the 53d, in order to seize
the point assigned to-him; and on reaching it called
a halt, until the rest of his détachment should come
up and enable him to secure himself. There was,
however, a stockade a little further on, aund the
grenadiers, mistaking for pusillanimity in the

b M;jor Ludlow: grenadier company of his Majesty's 53d,
three and ahalf light companies Native Infantry, nine compa-
nies of the 1st bat. 6th Native Infantry, and fifty pioneers.

H
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epemy the easy -acquisition they had made of
several defensible poipts, thought to redeem the’
credit that had been lost before Nalapanee, and
crowding round the Major entreated to be allowed
" tostorm the post. ‘The impulse of the trpops was
in unison ‘w_itﬂ the natural ardour of the coms
mander, and he gave way at the sacrifice of his
better judgment. He saw, indeed, that the
stockade. itself was of no great strength, and he
~ thought it might be carried by a coup-de-main
before the Nipales¢ should have time to reinforce ‘
its garrison.. The occurrences at N alapanee ought
to have suggested greater caution. | '
~-Juspao Thapa, Runjoor Singh’s_best officer, was
the Goorkha commandant here; and the greaterpart
-of the force at Jythuk had, on the first alarm, béen
collected within or behind the stockade out of sight
.of the assailants. Juspao allofzred .the British to
come close underthe stockade, and then from either
51de, a little down the ndge, he pushed ouf parties
round both ﬂanks, who opened a fire on the grena-
diers ﬁom all quarters at once.. Not having expect- ‘
ed sucha i'ecéption, the meh were confounded, and
drew back; whereupon the Goorkhas, seizing the
opportumty, charged them sword in hand from the
stockade, and, in the end, droye the detachment
from all the ground it had gained, in spite of three
efforts of Major Ludlow to:rally his men. On
coming to the Jumpta temple, the Major found his
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main body of native infantry still unformed, and
standing confusedly, in a state to afford no support..
Indeed, the Sepahees, on seeing the Europeans

giving way before the enemy, were panic-struck,

and could be brought to no order by the few officers

that remained with them. The retreat to Nahn
after this was a perfect flight, in which we suffered

severely ; and so quickly did it pass, that the de-

tachment had returped to camp by ten o’clock in the

day ; having lost thirty-one Europeans and about

one hundred and twenty natives killed and wound-.
ed. Lieutenant Munt, Ist N. I. was amongst the

former, and there were three officers® in the latter

return; : B ' , ’

- Major Richards had a detour of sixteen miles to

make'’ before hé could reach the post assigned to.
him, to the north. It was ‘eightin the morning, .
therefore, before he came to the foot of the ridge:
on which he was to establish himself. Finding
water, he halted tillten, to allow the men to refresh-
themselves after the march; then continuing his.
_.advance, he came on the ‘enemy’s first: pijuet at

" about a ‘mile from Jythuk, and, following as it:
retired, took possession of all the ndge to Peacock+’
hill, within' eight hundred yards of the fort. - The:
water of the posxtlon was three hundred yards below

m a hollowto the left which renderedaseparate post

: ® Lieutenant Scott, 5th; Lieutenant Donpelly, 27th;-

Lieutenant Sayer, 6th N. L, -
: : H 2
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“ there necessary. The defensive arrangeménts were.
complete by noon; but the troops were .astonished
to hear nothing in the direction of Major Ludlow’s
post; where, indeed, every thing was over some
time before Major Richards arrived .at his' ground.

While the troops were ‘speculating on' this sub-.
ject, Runjoor "Singh’s drums beat to arms; and.
at about one o’clock he paraded his whole force -
under the walls of Jythuk, preparatory to an
attack. The mountaineers advanced boldly at
first, but not being able to face a steady volley,
they separated ; and availing themselves with won- -
derful dexterity of every jutting rock or the like
that afforded cover, kept up a continued irregular
fire, charging every now and then when there was
any advantage to gain. The ground was, for the
most part, too rugged,to allow of a charge to dis-
lodgeé these  isolated parties, consequently, during;

“the whole day, our troops had to abide this method-
of attack without having any cover -to shelterv
them. : :

At _four P, M. MaJor Richards, feanng that his-
ammunition Would not last, for the bullocks and-
hill-porters* with the spare rounds had not come,

- up, wrote to-Major-general Martindell to solicit a

" These were under an escort of the rear-guard “which bad
separated from the column in the dark of the mght, and,
losing its way, was observed and cut off ‘by a party from one
of Runjoor Singh’s stockades.
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reinforcement. At the same time, as the Goorkhas
were beginning to be more: bold and troublésome,
. he ‘concentrated his force, and gave up the post at
 the watering-place. By sunset nine 'chargds had
been made by the enemy, and repulsed each time
by a volley; but as it became necessary to husband
the ammunition, the pioneers were employed 'in
collectmg stones, which. the: position was steep
enough to render an effectual weapon of defence. "

Thus was the post maintained till half-past seven,
two Lours after sunset, when a positive orderarrived
from the Major-general to retire. Major Richards
had not by this. time lost. more than twenty
or-‘thirty men ; but .having now no hope of a
reinforcement;. or of fresh ammumtlon, he: had no
choice but to obey He made, thérefore; the best
dispositions for ‘retreat that his circumstances
‘would admit; but as there was only a single nar-
row pathway for the troops .to file down, and that
skirted sometimes the most.tremendous precipices, .
so: as to require careful footing, confusion and
loss would have been inevitable, had it been broad
day: by night it was, of course, much worse.

. “The important duty of covering the retreat was
1mdertaken by Lieutenant Thackeray, with his -
llght company belongmg to .the 26th N. L
This officer’s self-devotlon ‘contributed mainly
to save the detachment from being entn'er cut
off ; for while the troopa ‘were filing down the
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pathway, his company kept the whole Goorkha
force in check, charging them several times in dif-
ferent directions. Its situation, of course, grew
every instant more desperate, still not a man of the
company thought of his individual safety while
the Lieutenant lived to command. After more than
half of his men had fallen, he was himself at last
~ killed; and Ensign Wilson, who served under him,
fell nearly at the same time. The covering party
was then overpowered, and it was supposed at first
that the company had been cut off to a man ; but
it was found afterwards that Runjoor Singh had
given quarter to about forty men and a soobadar,
whom he treated well, and, having vainly tempted
to-enlist in his ranks, dismissed a few days after
_on parole not. to serve again during the war.
Every thing was in confusion in the rear-after
Lieutenant Thackeray’s fall; but most of the
troops had filed down the pathway while he was
engaged, so that the loss, on the whole, after the
stragglers had come in, wasthree officers killed,* five
wounded; and of the men, seventy-eight under the
_ former, and about two hundred and twenty under
the latter return. The number of missing, whose
fate was for some days uncertain, greatly swelled
the first returns; and six officers were amongst

® Killed. —Lleutenant Thackeray, 2-26th Native Infin-
trys Ensngn Wilson, 2-26th Native Infantry; Ensign
Stalkart, 1-13th Native Infantry.
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these; but the last, Lieutenant Turner, came.
in on the Ist January, three days after, havmg
had several hair-breadth escapes.
. The disasters of this day weré owing solely to
the irretrievable error of Major Ludlow, in allow-
‘ing himself to attempt the stockade before he had
-formed his men, and ‘established the post he was
ordered to occupy. Had he first secured his foot-
-ing on the ridge, those who were driven back would
have found a point to rally upon, and the attempt-
at a coup-de-maini, whether successful or not, would
have been of no consequence. It must, at the
same time, be acknowledged that had theé native
troops been sufficiently officered, it would have’
been easy to have made head at the J umpta tem-
ple; and it was natural for Major Ludlow to con~
clude that he would have found his main body
_ready formed there to support him ; but the fault
.of the system, and the casualties of the war, had
“unfortunately so thinned the ranks of officers,* that-
 the nine companies of thelst bat. 6th N. I. had no
. more than three on duty, and this deficiency was
.the prmclpal cause of the disastrous event on this:
. side. o
- The *prudence and good conduct of Major
Richaxds in the occupation and defence of his po-

“® Thirty officers had been killed and wounded in the opc-
rations before Nalapanee alone.

.
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sifion, produced one most advantageous result, as
it fully convinced the troops of this division of
their great superiority over the -enemy in a fair
combat.. Every man of the detachment felt that
‘had the post 'been reinforced, or even furnished
with fresh ammunition, it might easily have been'
maintained.. Hence the loss was attributed to its
proper cause, and the effect of the day’s struggle
~ was not diminished by the subsequent retreat.
Still, however, something more decisive was want-"
ing to restore complete confidence; and many cir-
cumstances contributed at this particular juncture
to lead to an exaggerated estimate of the military
character of .the Goorkha nation.
- Thus closed the year. 1814 upon this d.lVlSlon
No active enterprize was for some time afterwards
. attempted by Major-general Martindell ; but,. be-
fore relating the ‘operations in which- the rest of
the season was consumed by him, it may be as
well to show what was passing in’ other quarters,
which had similarly become the scene of war.
" - General Ochterlony, who took: the field at the
same time with Gillespie, and was opposed to
Unhur Singh in person, formed from the first a just
estimate of the character of his enemy, and of the
difficulties he would have to encounter. He re«
solved, therefore, to proceed with the utmost cau-
tion. On'thé 31st of October, the day of Gillespie’s
fall, he reached Plaseea, situated in a valley within
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the h1]l=, which he entered from the SutleJ, by a
pass less_difficult: than most of those further east..
Umur Singh was at this time at Urkee, considera-
bly within the hills. They run here -in broken
ridges, stretching N.N.W.; and each ridge affords,
of course, a series of positions. The ‘outermost
ridge was surmounted by the fort of Nalagurh,
which, with an outpost at Taragurh, commanded
the principal route -into. the hills. ‘On the next
range stood Ramgurh, Joorjooree, Chainba, .anda
second. Taragurh'; above- this again, towered the
~ heights ‘of Maloun; behind which, lay Urkee on

~one side, and. on- the other, the capital of Umur
Singh’s staunch ally the  Raja of Belaspoor. Be-
tween, was a compara’uvely fruitful valley, whence
Umur Smgh could draw his supplies in case of his
occupying any of the above ridges..

- Having thrown garrisons_into the forts of the
Nalagurh and Ramgurh hills, and reckomng, ap-
.pa.rently, that General Qc_hterlony would be occu-
pied some time before them,. Umur Singh was in
no hurry to leave his position at Urkee. The
British General, resolving to put nothmg to hazard,
‘made a road with great labour, and sat himself
~.down, with his heavy guns; before Nalagurh on the
1st of November.. Having breached the wall, the
. garrison surrendered on the 5th, cap1tu1atmg also
for the stockade on the-same. rldge, called Tara-
gurh. : Umur Singh came 'down, and took position

\
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it fully convinced the troops of this division of
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fore relating the -operations in which- the rest of
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well to show what was passing ‘in other quarters,
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" . General Ochterlony, who took: the field -at the
same time with Gillespie; and was opposed to
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the hills, which he entered from the Sutlej, by a
pass less difficult; than most of those further east..
Umur Singh was at this time at Urkee, considera-
bly within the hills. They run here -in broken
ridges, stretching N.N.W.; and each ridge affords,
of course, a series of positions. The outermost
ridge was ‘surmounted by the fort of Nalagurh,
which, with an outpost at Taragurh, commanded
the principal route -into. the hills. ‘On the next
range stood Ramgurh, Joorjooree, Chainba, anda
second. Taragurh'; above- this again, towered the
heights of Maloun; behind which, lay Urkee on
~one side, and on. the other. the capital of Umur
Singh’s staunch ally:-the Raja of Bélaspoor.. Be-
tween, ‘was a comparatively fruitful valley, whence
Umur Singh could draw his supplies in case of his
occupying any of the above ridges..
Having thrown garrisons into the forts of the
- Na.lagurh and Ramgurh hills, and reckoning, ap-
parently, that General Ochterlony would be occu-
pied some time before them,. Umur ‘Singh was in
no hurry to leave his position at Urkee. The
British General, resolving to put i_lothing to hazard,
‘made a road with great labour, and sat himself
~.down, with his heavy guns, before Nalagurh on the
1st of November.. Having breached the wall, the
garrison surrendered on the 5th, capltulatmg also
for the stockade on the same. mdge, called Tara-
‘gurh, - . Umur Singh came "down, and took posmon

v
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or. the Ramgurh range the same day, leaving
small garrisons at Urkee and Sabathoo behind
him. , L :

~ 'Having established dep6ts at the captured forts,
‘Major-general Ochterlony proceeded, on the 13th
of November, against the Ramgurh positions, send-
ing on Colonel Thompson with a bngade one day’s
marchi in advance. The position of Ramgurh was
$o steep on the side towards the plains, that the
Major-general determined fo -turn it if possible,
and operate on its rear. 'These ndges, it must be
observed, are all so many stéps to the Heemachul ;
each, therefore, as it approximates to that stupen-
dous range, towers over that before it, and as you
look from the plains, the steeper side is always
‘opposed to yoir.

Ramgurh stood nearly in the middle of the -
ridge, and formed Umur Singh’s right. Major-
‘general Ochterlony, in advancing from Nalagurh,
turned his left; and in the ‘course of November
‘had seized a point from which he hoped to be able
to batter one of the stockades of that wing. By
the 26th of November, after immense ‘labour in
making roads and dragging up the guns, a battery
‘was constructed for 6-pounders; but when it be-
gan to play, the stockade was found to be so dis-
tant, and so much the higher of the two, that the
shot had little effect. Lieutenant Lawtie, the en-
gineer, seeing this, advanced with a small party
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to reconnoitre another point: a little further on.
The. Goorkhas,. however, sallied out to. prevent
this, and obliged hini to seek the shelter of an old
wall that stoed near. His critical situation being
-observed, Lieutenant Williams was sent with twa
~companies from thé battery to support the recon-
- noissance; but’a much stronger body came down to
the Goorkhas and surfounded ‘the wholé party;.
who thus found themselves under the necessity of
cutt_ing their ‘way through' the enemy, to securg
their ‘retreat*.. The manceuvre: was successfully
executed ; but with the loss of Lieutenant Williains;
who was killed, besides seventy-five Sepoys killed
-and wounded. - This affair was of no manner of
‘consequerice;. except as it afforded to the ‘enemy
an occasion of triumph. - Next day the Goorkhas
gavé pex"miésion' to remmi'e and bury the dead,~a
_ * The author of the Military Sketches of the Goorka Wa\’
“gives a different account of this affair, :

He says that Lieutenant Lawne, in the course of his re-
connoissance, came suddenly on a post, which he deemed i it
safer to attack than to rgtlreat from. He carried it ; but the
Goorkhas being reinforced turned upon him ; and his Sepoys,

- afiér firing away the tippet Iayer of theif cartridges,-aband
doned the' past and fled. - Lieutenant Williams, who was
. movmg to the support, was, he states,. s:mllarly abandoned
Aby his men, who were pamc-struck and fled without exert-
ing themselves. The account given in the text was prepared
froin official records, before the work here c1ted was pubhshed.
The latter will be better authority. ' S
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courtesy they never refused during the war, and
not. the only one we experienced at their hands.
‘General Ochterlony was .busily employed all this.
while in surveying and improving the roads, and
reconnmtermg Umur Smgh’s position on every - -
side. By the 2d of December he was enabled to"
form a-plan of attack, the object of which was.to
make a lodgment on a point within' the position.
The advance was to be made from: the battery
above mentioned, and was extremely hazardous; -
~ inasmuch as there was but one road to the point,
and that led. under fire of one of Umur Singh’s
principal stockades; which the advancing column
would have to receive on its flank, and perhaps
to abide a sally from the garrison as it passed.
However, seeing no other way of seriously annoy-
ing the enémy, the Major-general ‘submitted the
plan to his two Brigadiers, Colonels Arnold and
Thompson, in - order -to learn their opinion of it.
The propriety of makmg the attack was still un~ -
der deliberation, when news arrived of the second
fallure before Nalapanee and General Ochterlony
. also heard of a reinforcement being on its way, to
" his own army, by order of Lord Hastings, which
determined him to abandon the plan, and thence-
forth to put nothing to hazard. The Major-gene- -
ral had at_this time serious doubts of our ultimate
success. in -the struggle, and he feared that our
native army, with all its discipline, would be found
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‘il adapted to warfare in a country too rugged to
admit of its superior tactics being brought to play.
These a'tpprehensions :were, however, ‘expressed .to
none but his Commander-in-Chief ; nor could his
most familiar associates detéct in his demeanour
the slightest interruption of that :cheerful flow of
spirits by which Sir D. Ochterlony has been cha-
racterized through life. -
_ While waiting the arrival of the promised rein-:
forcement, Major-general Ochterlony exerted him-
self in, winnitg over the Plaseea Raja,*: and having
succeeded :in 'this ‘object, he got' him-to. lend his
exertions in making a road for artillery from Muk-
ran, by Khundnee, to Nehur, thrée miles N.N.E.
of Ramgurh, where he had for some time fixed his
‘head-quarters. This wa$ preparatory to an at-
tempt. to .carry some points in Umur ‘Singh’s
rear. On the 27th of December, the 2nd bat. 7th
N. L, with an -additional train_of light guns,
hav.ing; joined, :Colonel Thompson was detached,
with fourteen strong companies, two guns, and twa
howitzers, to .attack two 'stockades which were
opposed to. General Ochterlony’s right, and were
situated on a kind of spur from the Ramgurh ridge;
projecting : north-eastwards in" Umur Singh’s rear: -
The stockades were, if possible, to be carried, and
a third point, on which -there was_no stockade, was

" RaJa Ram Surwa Sen was at thls tlme Ra_]a of Hmdor
and Plaseea.
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then ta be occupied by the detachment.. Colonel
Thompson set off in the night, and late in the
morning came opposite the first stockade; but on
reconnoitering, thought it not safe to try a coup-de~
main. . He passed om, therefore, in order to seize a
tidge about seven hundred yards distant from a stone
“redoubt belonging to the enemy, and which'led to
within five hundred yards of Deboo-ka Tibia, the se-
~cond stockade to be attacked. Here he waited for his
guns, and on their arrival fired at Deboo till night,
in the hope of effecting a breach. ' The Goorkha
defences are génerally proof against light artillery;’
hence, no impression being mazie, Colonel Thomp~
son was compelled to be satisfied with establishing
himself ‘on the ridge.. In the course of the‘night:'
the Goorkhas. evacuated: Deboo-ka Tibia," which .
Colonel Thompson discovering, sent a party to
“occupy. - The. Goorkhas' further' employed. the
night in concentrating their force, preparatory to
a strong effort to dislodge the detachment. Just
before:: daybreak they commenced a serious’ attack
from' &-stockade called -Mungoo-ka Dhar, which
crowned the heights ‘of 'the' Ramgurh ridge, at
the ‘point where it was. joined by that on which
Deboo’ was ‘situated: The detachment was well
on its guard, ‘and drove back the Goorkhas -after
a'.few vollies, with a loss of near one -hundred
and. fifty men, whereof sixty were counted on
the ground. We had twelve killed, and fifty-
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seven. wounded, but no officer’ was .of the num=~;
ber. General Ochterlony, on hearing the firing, sen¢.
the 2nd bat..7th N. L. to reinforce the post ; and in.
the course of the 29th of Decemgber, it was stock-
aded afresh, and otherwise secured, It has been:
mentioned that Ramgurh formed Umux_“Smgh sright -
as his position fronted the plains, Colonel Thomp-:
son’s present post was in the rear of his centre, so’
as entirely to intercept the suppliés he received by .
. the Urkee road, and to incommode the communi-
cation with Belaspoor. Seeing this, the Goorkha.
General shifted his ground, deserted all his stock-
“ades to the left of Ramgurh, and keeping that fort
still as. his_right, took up .a: reversed.-position on
the other side of, it,. so.as ta.oppose a ew front to
our army, which had turned his left. " Umur Singh
likewise strengthened Mungoo-ka Dhar, and made:
it his head-quarters, - It was soon found thait the
ridge on which Colonel Thompson was lodged did-
not afford any means of approaching the main.
stockades of the ‘enemy’s new position, - the ‘inter-:
vening ground ' heing :particularly rugged.. . It:
hence became necessary to devise: a different plax:
of operatigns, and pn the 16th of J anuary, General ;
Ochterlony; still: seeking: the 'Theans :of "straiten<'
ing the enemy’s supplies, which, sincé the occupas'
tion of the Urkee and . Suhathoaroads, had been
drawn wholly from Belaspaor; put ‘in ‘execution’
the- following masterly movemert :—Crossing the:
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Gumba river from Nehur, north-east of Ramgurh,
he went along the Urkee road, till he turned the
Maloun ridge, and thence, sending on Colonel
Thompson a-head, made a ldng detour in the di-
rection of Belaspoor. By the 18th of January a-
-party of irregulars, under Captain Ross, occupied
.the heights of Punalee, commanding Belaspoor,
and the valley of the Sutlej, in which it is situated.
ColonelIThompsc;n was at the same time a kos
beyond Jynugur, on the road to the same place, -
and General Ochterlony himself about to join him.-
Thus Belaspoor was open ; and the power of opera-
ting against the north-east face of Maloun, from -
the valley of the Gumrora, gained. At the same
time that this movement was made, Colonel Ainold
was left at Deboo-ka Tibia, to watch Umur Singh ;
and, as it was expected that he would not quietly
wait the result,. the Colonel had instructions to be
on the look-out for a move; and, if the Goorkha:
army likewise took the route of Belaspoor, to
occupy .the stockades that would be abandoned,
and follow at its heels by a road that would place
the enemy. between the two British divisions, each
of which ‘was more than a match for his whole-
force. If the Goorkhas merely retired to Maloun,
leaving garrisons in the Ramgurh stockades,
Mungoo was to be first proceeded against, in order
to maintain the direct communication with the
plains and other divisions; and as soon as that
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point was gained, the brigadier was ta advance to
Belaspoor. General Ochterlony left- his heavy
guns with a bagtalion at Nehur, to be made availa-
ble in the reduction of Mungoo, and eventually of
the Ramgurh forts likewise; after Colonel Arnodld
should have proceeded to his ulterior destination.
As was expected, Umur Singh no sooner saw the
object of the detour made by the head-quarters of
the British army, than he moved off with his whole
force to take up the stronger position of Maloun,
which he feared the British might else preoccupy.
Thus Mungoo-ka Dhar was abandoned and occus
pied by Colonel Arnold .on the 18th January ; but
small Goorkha garrisons were still left in the stone
védoubts of . Ramgurh, Taragurh, Chamba, and
Joorjooree. . Against these: Colonel Cooper com-
menced operations, while Colonel Arnold proceeded,
according to his instructions, . towards. Belaspoor.:
The. latter  officer marched. along thé Ramgurh:
ridge and.under the walls of the remaining
Goorkha forts, without experiencing any obstruc-:
tion from ‘the gatrisons. 'The. moyemént, never<
" theless, took up several days, which were passed in
" fnuch- anxiety ‘and hardship; for, besides the ex
treme - fuggednéss of the pathway, the progress of
the division was- further :-delayed by a week’s
heavy rain and- snow. It was not, therefore, tll.
the beginning of February, that-the brigadier
reached Tulsoora, the point assigned to hirm;: and:
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established himself at the extremity of the Maloun

range; subsequently he reduced Rutungurh,—a fort

disjointed from the ridge, but lying directly be-
“tween Maloun and Belaspoor.

Some -time was consumed in reducing the
Ramgurh forts; and, during the interval, General
Ochterlony employed himself in bringing over the
Raja of Belaspoor, who, after an unsuccessful at-
tempt to dislodge Captain Ross from the Punalee
heights, had fled across the Sutlej. .This Raja,
though connected with Umur Singh’s family by a.
recent marriage, was induced at last, through fear
of seeing his capital and country given over to
another, to make his terms and submit.

Here we shall leave this division for the present,
in’ order to bring on the operations in the Turaeesof
Gourukpoor and Buhar. Umur Singh had fully jus-
tified the reputation he enjoyed as a soldier, by the
mannerinwhich he met,and sometimes defeated, the -
sagacious plans of the British commander. Nothing
decisive, indeed, had yet been done by either army;
but, considering that the British had been rein-

/ forced to mear seven thousand men, while. Umur

‘ Singh had never more than two thousand .eight

_bundred, or at the most three thousand, this
| was the best possible proof of the skill with which.
he had availed himself of the advantage of ground,
which was all he had to compensate for his nume-
rical inferiotity.
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The division assembled at Gourukpoor was
ordered to take the field on the 15tb November ;
but, owing to the . difficulty of collecting' hill-
porters for the carriage of the baggage and sup-
plies in sufficient abundance in that thinly-peopled
district, it was late in December .before Major-
general J. S. Wood proceeded into the Turaee.
Having waited some time to-collect information
as to the best mode of penetrating to Palpa, he
came at first to the'determination of leaving Boot-
wul to the right, and attacking Nyakot, a post .
which crowns’ the hills to the west of the town.
Having ascertained, however, that the Goorkhas,
u_nvdel_' Colonel Wuzeer Singh; a nephew of Bhéeem
Sein's, had taken post at the mouth of the ‘pass,
within which Bootwul is situated, and had built
there a stockade called Jeetgurh, it was resolved
to reconnoitre the works, and carry them, if pos-
" sible, before proceeding further. On the 3d: of
January, General Wood marched from his camp
at Sinira, in the Turaee, with twenty-one com-
panies of infantry to put this plan in execution.
He acted on the information of a Brahmin, in the
‘employ of .the family of the old Palpa Raja, re-’
siding  at Gourukpoor, and -the Brahmin offered
his ‘services as guide. The road ran ‘along the
banks of the Tenavee, which here is likewise
called Goonghee, and the last seven miles' of
the way led through the Sal forest; but General
12
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Wood had .been told to expect an open space im-
mediately about the stockade. He was himself,
with the advanced guard, still in the thick of the
forest, when the road brought them suddenly
in front of the stockade, at not more than fifty
yards distance. A smart and destructive fire
was immediately opened on the advanced party,
and the General’s Brigade-major, Captain Hiatt,
* and. subsequently his engineer officer, Lieutenant
Morrieson, were wo_urided,“tlie latter mortally.
This loss was sustained in’ attempting to recon-
noitre the post, preparatory to the advance of the -
main column, which was headed by his Majesty’s
17th regiment, under Colonel Hardyman. Imme-
diately on its arrival, the colonel formed his men,
arid .advanced against the stockade, driving in the
party of the enenmiy who- had sallied out on the
advance guard; Captain Croker, who led the
grenadiers, followed the enemy up the hill, and suc-
ceeded in ascending with his own, and two other
companies of the regiment, round the left flank of
the enemy’s work, Thus a position was gained
that commanded it entirely, for it was merely a
hollow stockade, running along the declivity. The
carrying of the work was therefore certain, indeed
the enemy were already retreating from it up the
hill behind. General Wood, however, thinking it
was not possible to carry the hill also, while,
" without doing so, the stockade itself séemed"td
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him to he untenable and of no value, ordered a
retreat to be sounded, to the great disappointment
of the troops, who were. flushed with the prospect,
of acertain and easy victory. The British loss
was twenty-four killed, and one hundred and four
wounded; besides the two staff-officers above
mentioned, Captain MDowell, of the. artillery,
and Lieutenants Pointz and Pickering, of his
Majesty’s 17th, were severely wounded. The
-enemy lost a sirdar, named Soorwj Thapa, and
~ many more men than we did; but the retreat
gave to them the triumph: of a decided victory.
_The result. of this action, and the bravery the
enemy-had displayed, left in the general's mind an
impression of the inadequacy of. his force to the
objects ,assigned to it, which influenced all his
future measures : instead of endeavouring to pene-
trate the hills; he confined his operations to-defen~
sive precautions. At his solicitation, parties of
irregular horsé were added to. the force; andy in the
end, the 8th native cavalry was -sent.tol dssist inl
scouring, the country, and repelling. the enemy’s
incursions,; Report magnified. the Goorkha army ta
twelve thotsand menj whereas; their regular vtroops!
scarcely reached: so .mahy- hundred. The. major-\
general, however,. giving credence o these exag-
gerated statements, threiv up works at Lotun, and'
put a garrison: there to defend the direct road to
Gourukpoor, while he himself moved:with his main
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body to repel an incussion into Nichloul. These

' measures contributed to make the enemy bold, and
produced a disastrous ‘alarm in our own subjects,
which, indeed, was not altogether unfounded: for
scarce a day passed without some village being
plundered and burnt by the Goorkhas. The same
state of things continued during the whole of
January, February, and even March; and though
reinforced .by another native battalion, and with
further artillery, General J. 8. Wood still consi-
dered himself too weak to act offensively.

What had passed simultaneously on the Sarun
frontier, and to the eastward, imfortuxiately tended
to confirm this impression ; and it is time now to
advert to the operations in that quarter.

Major’ Bradshaw, the negociator, rema.med,
during the rains, in military charge of the frontier,
and disputed lands of Sumroun, as has before been
mentioned. - The posts he established were not
molésted, nor had he much communication of any
kind ‘with the Goorkhas' until October. By that
time, some alarm began to be entertained, at Kat-
mandoo, at the extent of preparation witnessed ;
wherefore, though determined to concede nothing,
they still thought it worth while to attempt to
amuse the British government with further nego-

_ tiation, so as, if possible, to spin out the season of
operations in empty discussion. In the course of
November, Chundur Seekur Opadheea came down
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to the Turaece, and sent ipformation to Major
Bradshaw that he had a letter and presents for the
Governor-general ; wherefore he desired a passport
to enable him to carry them to Calcutta. The
letter was one of congratulation, in the form usual
on the arrival of a new governor-general, and was
written as if there were no matters whatever in
dispute between the two governments. Major
Bradshaw sent to Chundur Seekur a copy of the
proclamation of war, issued the first of the month,
and refused to let any one pass, or to réceive the
Opadheea himself, unless he brought full powers to
treat for a pacification. The letter was forwarded
to the Governor-general, who confirmed the inti-
mation, and further ordered Chundur Seekur to be
desired to return to Katmandoo, or remain on the
_ frontier at his peril. '

Notwithstanding this intimation, Chundur See-
kur lingered in the Turaee, and attempted to get
a passport surreptitiously from the Tirhoot Ma-
gistrate, who, he thought, would not be aware
of the circumstances. He was still at work on
this intrigue, when Major Bradshaw, having
heard of General Marley’s crossing the Ganges, on
his way to the Turaee, resolved to defer active
operations no longer, but to attack the Goorkha
post of Burhurwa, situated on the right bank of
the Bagmuttee, and close on the frontier, prepa-
ratory to occupying the whole Turaee for the
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British government., Accordingly he concen-
trated his force on the 24th of November; and
early in the morning of the 25th, surprised and -
carried the post; killing the Goorkha com-
mander, Pursuram Thapa, and making prisoner
Churidur Seekur Opadheea, with his attendants.
Major Bradshaw by this means obtained pos~
session of the Opadheea’s instructions, which en-
tered fully into-the points at issue between the
.two governments, and completely showed the
object of the deputation to have been merely to
gain time. The Goorkhas were very indignant
at the seizure of Chundur Seekur, who, they
thought, should have been respected as an am-
bassador, since 'he had been -deputed as such.
They forgot, however, that the reception of the
individual, or the sanctioning of his deputation,
at least, is the thing that plights the faith of the
government to whom an agent is accredited, and
that this alone gives a claim to the respect of
person enjoyed by the envoy of 4 hostile powers
and distinguishés him from a spy. Lieutenant
Boileau, who commanded the Major’s escort,
was wounded in personal conflict with Pursuram
Thapa during the affair; and there were, besides,
two Sepoys killed, and fourteen wounded. Of
the enemy, seventy-five were killed or wounded,
and ten soldiers were made prisoners,besides Chun-
dir’ Seekur’s attendants. The Turaee was imme-
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diately ‘evacuated by the Goorkhas, and occupied
and annexed, pro tempore, by proclamation, to
the ‘British possessions. Major Bradshaw then
established the following posts for its defence, till
General Marley should arrive. Captain Hay,
with the head-quarters of the Chumparun light
" infantry, swas posted at Baragurhee; Captain
Blackney, with a wing of the 2und battalion,
22nd native infantry, wds at Sumunpoor, to. the
right ; while Captain Sibley was-stationed, with
about five hundred men, at Puisa, on the high
road to Hetounda, very considerably to the left
of Baragurhee. -

- Genéral Marley amved in thé Puchroutee
Tuppa, with the main army, on the 12th of De-
cember. An outpost of Captain Hay’s had been
driven in on the 7th; and the Goorkhas, though
threy kept within the cover ‘of the Sil forest, had
shown many symptoms of- an actively hostile
_ spirit. Some attenipts at poisoning the wells and
pools were discovered; and their spies were
known to be. busy, several having been detected
i our camps. General Marley formied: his army
into three divisions, intending himself to. attempt.
the Bicheeakoh and Hetounda pass, with twenty-
two hundred men; while Coloriel Dick, with
about fifteen hundred, took the route of Huree«
hurpoor; to the eastward; and Major Rough-~
sedge, with oné thousand two hundred and eighty.
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men, ‘moved by the Sukteeduree pass and Joor-
jooree, which was between ‘the other-two, and
in advance of Baragurhee. The remainder of
“the army was. to-be prepared to support either
division that might need it, and to keep open the
communications through the forest, till the arrival
~ of the brigade allotted to this duty, which had '
not yet assembled. .

The month of December was spent in devising
this plan, and in collecting information prepara-
tory to its execution. In.the mean time, the main
army was stationary in the Puchroutee Tuppa;
and except that Major Roughsedge was at one
time, sent to Janikpoor, to the extreme right, the
posts above described remained .as before. .- That
of Captain Sibley was twenty miles to the left
of the main army, which was encamped behind
Baragurhee; Captain Blackney was nearly as

_ far to the right,—both without support ; and, not-
withstanding the length of time that they had
occupied the same ground, no substantial works
had been thrown up by either officer. This state
of things induced the Goorkhas-to plan a simul-
taneous attack on both points. ‘
The main army of the Nipalese was collected -
at Mukwanpoor, under Colonel Rundhér Singh;
but the forest was in the possession of different
parties, who were always on the alert. Rundhér,
having exact intelligence of the positions occupied
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by Captains Sibley and Blackney respectively,
ordered them both to be attacked on the morning
of the Ist of Januaty. Shumsheer Rana com-
manded the party sent against Pursa; and Surb-
jeet Thapa, that which attacked Sumunpoor :
both were captains, that is, commandants of inde-
pendent companies or corps in the Goorkha ser-.
vice, and were of high repute with their nation
for bravery and conduct.

Captafn Blackney was taken completely by
surprise by Surbjéet, who came upon him before
day-break of the mew year. Himself, and his
second in command, Lieutenant Duncan, were
killed in the first onset; and, before the action had
lasted ten minutes, the sepoys, who had but par-
tially Tun to their arms on- the alarm, broke, and
fled in every direction. To increase the confu-
sion, the Goorkhas set, fire: to the tents, having
penetrated to the heart of the camp before re-
sistance was offered. Lieut. Strettell, the only
surviving officer, seeing things in this state, and-
percelvmg that the day was quite irrecoverable,
himself Jomed the fugitives, and retreated to Gora
Suhun’ with “the remnant of the  detachment.
The communication with Captain Hay had pre-
viously been cut off, so that it was not possible to
retire on Baragurhee.

Captain Sibley was better on. his guard at
Pursa;” where many circumstances had led him
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to expect an attack. He had, indeed, only re-
cently stated his apprehensions to General Mar-
ley, who, on the 31st of December, 1814, sent
him a reinforcement under Major Greenstreet.
The post was more than twenty miles distant, as
before mentioned; and the ' detachment, having
marched in the evening, unfortunately encamped
on the road. On the morning of the new year,
however, hearing .the report of artillery in the
direction of Pursa, the Major hastened his march,
and got within three miles befire the firing had.
ceased. The coming-in of the fugitives then
sufficiently explained how the affair had énded..
It seems that Shumsheer Rana came to the at-
tack in three columns; Captain Sibley’s advance
had been thrown very considerably forward, and
the ground of the. position lay between two nul-
las, the windings of which allowed the enemy to
penetrate sufficiently on either flank, to cut off
the communication between the front and rear.
‘The latter quarter, moreover, was left to the de-
fence of about seventy irregular horse, and was
therefore a weak point, especially in a night~
affair. The attack commenced in front, where it.
was. checked by. the advance-guard, commanded
by Lieutenant Smith. Finding himself pressed,
however, this officer sent to ask of Captain Sibley
the reinforcement of a light gun, (a one-and-a-
" half pounder of mew construction,) which was
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with the detachment. The Captain brought it
forward himself ; but when it came, the cartridges
were found too large for it to be turned properly
to account; and in the mean time, the firing
having begun in rear and on both flanks, Cap-
- tain Sihley found it necessary to return imme-
diately. While on his way back he was wounded,
first in the leg, and soon after, mortally, by a
shot through the body, from parties of the enemy
who had availed themselves of the winding of the
nulla, to come close in upon the live of commu-
nication with' the advance. Lieutenant Smith,
the next in rank, was immediately summoned
from the front to take the command ; and, as the
 firing in the rear was heavy, he judged it right to
carry in his advance-gyard. On reaching the
line, he found that Shumsheer Rana, while he
* had thus kept the detachment in play in front
and in both flanks, had made his chief attack
from the rear; and, having overpowered the irre-
gulars, had penetrated to the officers’ tents, and
possessed himself of the magazine and bazar.
The six-pounder, with the detachment, had been
turned towards the rear by Lieutenant Matheson,
the artillery-officer ; and on the junction of Lieu-
tenant Smith with the advance-guard, all that
could be done was to form a circle, in order to keep
the enemy at a distance. They had established
_themselves at. the magazine,” where there were
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" some trees and other cover, from behind which
they picked off nearly all the  artillery-men.
Both Lieutenant Smith and Lieutenant Mathesou
were sensible that, unless the Goorkhas could be
dislodged from' this point, the day was lost. On
proposing, however, to the sepoys to charge and
- recover it, they showed a disinclination.to the
undertaking; and kept on firing, nearly at random, _
until their ammunition was expended.. A retreat
was then resolved on; and it was effected by
crossing one of the nullas at a place where it was
not properly fordable, and at a time when the
Goorkhas were intent on the plunder. Thus
many were saved ; but the two guns, the maga-
zine, and stores of every kind, fell a prey to the
enemy. Every European of the artillery, except
Lieutenant Matheson himself, was either killed or
wounded ; and our whole loss amounted to one
hundred and twenty-three killed, one hundred
and eighty-seven wounded, besides. seventy-three
missing. The detachment originally consisted of
about five hundred fighting men; and the prox-
imity of Major Greenstreet, combined with the
enemy’s eagerness to secure the booty, was what
alone saved the wounded and stragglers.

The activity and enterprise shown.in these at-
tacks was so' unexpected by General Marley, that
‘he began to entertain some apprehension for his
train of heavy artillery, which was at the time
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coming up from Betia, in the rear. Having
therefore strengthened. the post of Baragurhee,
by ordering Major Roughsedge there from Janik-
poor; the general himself made a westward move-
ment to cover his train; moreover, considering
his force to be insufficient, he abandoned all idea
of penetrating the hills in the manner indicated
in his instructions. The two brigadiers, Colonels
_ Dick and Chamberlain, agreed with him in repre-
senting the army not to be sufficiently strong for
offensive measures; and, perhaps, in this respect
‘they :were not wrong at the time. '

The Marquess of Hastings was seriously- dis-
appointed at all these untoward occurrences.
Every nerve was strained to increase the strength
of all the divisions, but particularly of this, from
which so much was expected. .All the military
stations ‘of Bengal and Buhar were drained o
troops, in order to furnish reinforcements 3 but it
was not so easy to restore confidence to the mind
of the commander.

Major-general Marley, notwithstanding the high
state of the equipments of his army, and the daily
approach of .fresh troops, continued inactive dure
ing the whole of January ; making indeed some
marches in - the open Turaee, but without once
venturing into the forest. Repeated orders came
from head-quarters, enjoining some’ effort at offen<
sive measures. When, however, the general hegan
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to deliberate upon the plan he was to adopt, he
was distracted by the different opinions entertained
by -those he was. in the habit of consulting, and
came, in the end, to no resolution. In thé mean
time, the enemy, whose army was at Amowa,
burnt several villages at no great distance from his
camp, and threatened.even to attack Baragurhee,
where there were upwards of a thousand men in
garrison. They -raised a stockade at Soofee,.a
short, distance from the post; and were inspired
with such confidence .from past successes, that
orders were issued, under the red seal, for the at-
tack ; but the Goorkha commander, Bhugut Singh,
had better information than the council at the
capital, and wisely refrained. The court, however,
not satisfied with his reasons, attributed his conduct
to cowardice; and summoning him to the capital,
to answer for the disobedience, made him appear
at the Durbar in woman’s attire, as wanting the
spirit and courage of a man. They were soon -
afterwards undeceived ; and on the.7th February
remoyed the post they had soimpudently established.
But to the mortification of the troops, and discredit
of the British general, it had continued thus to
-insult us for near a month with impunity. Major
Roughsedge,indeed, a day or two before the evacu-
ation, sent- Captain Hay with a party from Bara-
gurhee to reconnoitre, and, if possible, dislodge the
enemy ; -but that officer, finding his approach inter-
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-cepted by a morass, and seeing that the post was
too" strong for his detachment to carry by assault,
contented himself with firing a few shrapnell shells
from a couple of 6-pounders-he had with him, and
retired again to Baragurhee. )

"On’the 10th February, General Marley, unable
longer to endure the irksomeness of his situation,
and feeling strongly the impossibility of answering
the expectations of his commander-in-chief, took
the sudden and extraordinary resolution of leaving
the camp, which was then at Bunjaree Pookureea.
.He set 'off before daylight in the morning, without
publishing any notification of his intention to the
troops, and without taking any means of providing

_for the conduct of the ordinary routine of com-
-mand during his absence:
- The tesolutjon had previously been formed by
Lord Hastings of providing. another commander
for the Sarun army but the unadvised step into
which General Marley was thus betrayed, séemed
.to him to require his perma.nent removal from
the staff.

Major-general George Wood. was- ordered up
from the presidency to succeed General Marley ;
and Colonel Dick, the senior brigadier, assumed
and continued to exercise the command until his
arrival. : :

" 'We have now brought up the operatlons of this
campaign to the period when the succession of
K .
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disasters had reached its crisis. General Ochterlony
alone had not been foiled. . He was steadily pur-
suing his plan by slow and secure manceuvres, but
had yet gained no brilliant advantage over his
equally cautious antagonist. General Martindell’s
division had failed three several times: twice
before Nalapanee, and the third time in the at-
tempt to take up positions before Jythuk. More-
over, the aggregate loss sustained by this division
had.amounted to a third of the numbers that ori-
ginally took the field from Meeruth.. The army
assembled at .Gourukpoor had allowed itself to
retire before the enemy under circumstances
amounting to a repulse ; while, as we have seen, the
Bubhar division, which was thought strong enough
to have penetrated to Katmandoo, had lost two de-
tachments of five hundred men each, without an
equivalent success of any kind. From the fron- -
tier of Oudh to Rungpoor, our armies were com-
Ppletely held in check on the outside of the forest ;
while our territory was insulted with impunity,
and the most extravagant alarms spread through
the country. We had lost nothing, indeed, on the
Morung frontier ; on the contrary, the cooperation
of the Sikhim Raja had been gained, the commu-
nication having been opened by an overture on his .
part, and a request for a few military stores. In
this quarter, also, an attempt made by the Goorkha
commander in Morung to cut off a post of ours
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stationed at Moodwanee, had failed; Lieutenant
Foord, of the 9th N. I. having repulsed their
night attack, after the assailants had succeed-
ed in firing his tents and baggage. We had
several killed, and Lieutenant Thomas, of the 9th,
was amongst the wounded, in this affair, which
was very creditable to the troops and officers; but
as the position was next dhy evacuated, there was
little to boast of in the victory. Major Latter,
indeed, was led by the vigorous nature of the
attack to solicit the aid of some reinforcements,
then on their way to the Sarun army; and thus, by
withholding. them from their destination, yielded
the enemy some adw?antage from the attack, not-
withstanding its failure. The alarms of the civil
authorities of Tirhoot had produced a similar di-
version in that quarter; and it was not until the
end of -February, or, indeed, the beginning of
March, that the division destined for the main
attack was augmented to the full strength pro-

posed for it.
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CHAPTER 1V.

NIPAL WAR.—FIRST CAMPAIGN.
1815,

Reflections —Successful skirmish on Sarun frontier —General

" G. Wood takes the command—his inactivity—General J.
S. Wood's proceedings in Gourukpoor— Resolution of
'Governor-general to attack Kumaon—Levies for the pur-
pose—Lieut.-colonel Gardner penetrates by the Kosila—
turns the Goorkha position—takes post at Choumou—
Major Hearsey penetrates to Chumpawut—Colonel Gard-
ner again turns thé Goorkha position, and arrives before
Almora—Colonel Nicolls sent.by the Governor-general to
support these operations—Defeat and capture of Major
Hearsey by Husteedul—his death in an affair with Major
Patton’s detachment—Attack ofthe Goorkha positions be-
fore Almora—Night sally of the Niplese defeated—Fall
of Almora—Proceedings before Jythuk— Plans of General
Martindell—unsatisfactory results—Resolution to cit off
the enemy’s supplies—Major Richards sent to occupy a
post for this purpose—Dislodges the enemy with loss—
Jythuk surrendered to General Ochterlony—his further
proceedings—Reduction of Ramgurh, &c. by Colonel
Cooper—Final operations against Maloun—Lodgment at
Ryla and Deothul—Death of Captain Showers—Bhugtee
Thapa leads a desperate attack on Deothul—his defeat and
death—Goorkha chiefs desert Umur Singh—his surrender
—Arrangements for disposal of the conquered territory.

THE uniform success which had hitherto at-
tended the Goorkhas produced, in January 1815,
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an effect on the public mind in the independent
portion of India which is more easily imagined
than described. Although jealous, naturally, of
our preponderance, and suspicious to a degree of
any relinquishment of the pacific policy, the
native powers had so little knowledge of the
strength and resources of the Goorkhas, that the
war at first excited little sensation. It was re-
garded as a mere affair with a troublesome Raja
“of the frontier; and, but for the greater mag-
nitude -of our preparations, might have been as-
similated to the measures taken in 1812 against
the Rewa chief. As one check, however, fol-
lowed" another, speculation grew more active,
and: the events of the campaign became matter
of intenser interest; until, at last, more than one
of the mnative courts began seriously to think it
was time to prepare to take advantage of cir-
cumstances. Runjeet Singh, the Punjab Seikh, .
kept an army at Lahore, and seemed to fnenace
us in the extreme north-west; while Ameer
Khan' collected together his Putan battalions, and
made an ambiguous offer of their services, from a
point only a few marches from Agra. The tone,
moreover, assumed in Sindheea’s durbar and at
Poona was any thing but conciliatory.

- It is not our business in this place to explain
at length the attitude assumed by the native
powers, in consequence of the altered view of our
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. position presented by these disasters. Suffice it
to say, that the intrigues which were set on foot
throughout the ‘whole independent portion of In-
dia, and which led to- such: important results a
few years afterwards, date their commencement
from this period. In proportion as their exist-
ence became manifest, it was of course more ne-
cessary that we should persevere and conquer the
subsisting difficulties in the hills; for the name
and character of the government and of the British
nation were felt to be committed on the issue. -
The Marquess of Hastings never doubted for
an instant of his ultimate Success in the came
paign ; and notwithstanding the unfavourable as-
pect of -things at-the commencement of 1815,
there were abundant sources of consolation, and
of a just confidence, to ‘those who looked beyond
the surface. Every check our arms had ex-
perienced was clearly traceable to a want of due
precaution in those who directed the operation,
and ‘this was an error- that was sure to be re-
- medied as soon as felt. Thus every encounter,
even when unfavourable in its result, brought
more strength in the lessons of prudence it incul-
cated, than was detracted in the physical loss
sustained. 'The soldiers and sepahees of the Bri-
tish army had, for some time, been unused to
war ; but though somewhat open to the influence
of panic from the strangeness of the scene, and
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novelty of their situation. amidst the forests and
mountains of this extraordinary region, and more-

over a little disheartened, at first, to find their

-best efforts. thwarted. by this semi-barbarous ere-
- my, they yet showed a wonderful buoyancy of|

spirit- in soon recovering their wonted nerve.

'The Goorkhas, on the other hand, were abun-

dantly satisfied with repulsing an attack or

cutting off an outpost. They never pushed their

. success beyond this; and were indeed too deficient
in military science; as well as' in physical méans,
to assume a superiority in the campaign, or act
offensively on a large scale, against any one of 'o'urk
djvisions. Their tactics were purely defensive;
somuch so, that howsoever severely their assailant | '
might suffer from the indiscretion of his first |
attack, they left him ample time to collect fresh
courage, and approach them “again with' more
caution.

.To the officers of the Bengal army, in parti-
cular, were the lessons of this war salutary ; pre-
cipitancy and want of caution were qualities bred.
in them, by an uninterrupted course of easy vic-
tory. From the days of Clive to those of Lor
Lake, they had only to show themselves, an |{

/

¥

march straight against their enemy, to ensure his },
precipitate flight. They naturally carried into
" the hills the same contempt of the foe which
their victories in the plains had engendered’; and
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were taught only by painful experience to make
sufficient allowance for the entire change of cir-
cumstances in the new field of action. They
had, however,  to guard against another influence -
as prejudicial as over confidence; and that was,
too.great distrust and apprehension after the- ex-
perience of a. check. It is doubtful which ex-
treme was, in its results, most injurious to the
British cause : but more than one of the officers
in high command afforded an example of the
facility with which the mind passes from one to
_the other, as well as of the obstinacy with which
distrust maintains its hold when once it finds-
‘admittance. - - .
It must be allowed to the Goorkhas that they
were an experienced as well as a brave enemy:
they had been continually waging war in the
mountains for more than fifty years, and knew"
well how to turn every thing to the best advan-
tage. Caution and judgment were, therefore,
more required against them, than boldness of
action or of decision ; but most of all, that power
of. intelligence and discrimination which is never
without a resource in circumstances the most un--
expected. -
" It will be perceived that little advance was
made in the campaign until we had learnt to turn
the same advantages to account against the enemy, ’
by the help of which he foiled us so often at the

-
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commencement ; for with all the experience of
Indian warfare, combined with the professional
science of Europe, our officers found yet some-
thing to learn from these Goorkhas. Ve adopted;
from them the plan of stockading posts, whichj!
the nature of the campaign frequently rendered it
necessary to place beyond the limit of prompt,
support. Had this plan been adopted from the
first, the detachments of Captains Sibley and
Blackney would have been saved. It was, how-
ever, altogether a new thing to the Bengal army ;
for, from the earliest days, there had never been
works thrown up for the defence of an outpost ;
nor in a war of the plains, could there ever be oc-
casion for such a precaution. Sir David. Ochter-
lony has the merit of having first resorted to this
plan,* and of having adopted it, too, as a resource
of prudence which occurred to his own mind, not
tanght to him by the experience of disaster, as
was the case with others. Such, however, was
the nature of Umur Singh’s positions that they
could not have been turned or surrounded, so as:
to cut off his communications without occupying a
large circuit, and throwing out detachments for
the purpose at considerable distances from one
another; many of which, being necessarily much

* The first stockade erected after the Goorkha fashion was
at Khundnee, where a battalion was left with some irregulars,

while the division turned Umur Singh's left, by marching to
Nehur. * *
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exposed, would have been hable to be overwhelmed
separately, but for this sxmple thoubh substantlal
defence.. TN
The strength. of the.. stockades was orlgmally‘
greatly mlscalculated srnade up_ of rough hewn
wood . and. stones, heaped together. between an-
inner.and outér pahsade, ‘they'were’ in appearance
) contemptfbl_e, as to invite assault without - e\:en
seeming t6' require .breaching. On the plains,
much more ‘fdi'midable-looking .places . were' con-
stantly. carried . in<that ‘way: but appeara_qges
were deceitful; and | the Gaorkhas, havmg a just
confidence in their defences, always stood boldly to
them, and made the assailants pay dearly for their
temerity. The lighter artillery made little or no
impression, and the ‘difficulty of bringing up heavy
‘guns, rendered them, in truth, most formidable de-
fences. The wood and. materials for raising them
were every.where ‘at hand, and the celerlty -with
{w}uch thley could: . be prepared in any posxtlon
- formed . 4; main--source .of - the -strength -of* the
Fcountry But this was a resource équally. avallable
[ to an mvader, and bne which’ pla.ced the jssue in the
power :of contmuance, that:is, 'in ' the. length of ghe-
purse. By the:adoption of this system; the opeta~.
tions. of the divisions.which penetrated. the hills
were entirely converted into a war of posts, as will
have Dbeen alreddy suﬂicxently manifest. from “the
_character of' Genelal Ochterlony s pn oceedmgs

r—
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The same plan was, ultimately. put in practice at
Jythuk, Kumaon, and ‘elsewhere. Its'.gﬂ'ect will
presently be fully'shown; but first, it will be proper
to mention: the result: bf the efforts made against
the more central possessions of the enemy.

+ The operations of the Sarun and Gourukpoor
armies may be dismissed with a very few words.
Major-general George Wood was: appointed Gene-
ral Marley’s successor, and joined the camp.on the
20th of February. The very day before his ar-
rival, an event occurred that struck terror into the
enemy, and raised the courage of this army to the
highest pitch of confidence. Lieutenant Pickersgill,
an active officer of the intelligence department, dis-
_ covered, while out reconnoitering, a party: of about.
fiye -hundred ‘Goorkhas. at no. great distance from:
camp. He immediately sent.intimation to Colonel
" Dick, the senior officer, whohad assumed the com-
mand on General Marley’s departure, and himself re-
mained with hispersonal eseort towatch the enemy.
Colonel Dick sent a‘party of irregular horse, under
Cornet Hearsey, to strengthen Lieutenant Pickers-
gill, and himself followed, with all the picquets of -
the army, in the hope of cutting off this detach-.
ment. The ' Goorkhas, who had taken an advan-
tageous positior in'a hollow, finding ‘themselves"
unmolested by Lieutenant Pickersgill, and seeing
his ‘small ‘numbers;. .came to the -resolution of
attacking him. Just, however, as they debouched
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from their position for the purpose, they perceived
the .cavalry, and the further. support that was
~advancing. Appalled by this, they attempted a
precipitate retreat, when Lieutenant Pickersgill,
waiting .only to be joined by Cornet Hearsey’s
horse, fell upon them, and cut the whole detach-
ment to pieces. - A number of officers of the army
had ridden out, from camp immediately on its
being known that a party of the enemy were in
sight, and these joined in the .charge, and were
mainly instrumental to its success.

The Goorkhas were so intimidated by this result
that they hastily withdrew every position they had-
established in the forest and Turaee ; and when
General G. Wood arrived next day, the passage of
the forest was free to him,—not a Goorkha being
to be seen below the hills.

The season was doubtless very far gone for any
thing now to be commenced, nevertheless, there
remained a month to make some effort to redeem
the consequences of his predecessor’s . inactivity ;
and the army naturally expected to be led through
the forest after the enemy, if not into the passes
of the hills. The new General, however, adopt-
ed an opinion that the season of the fever
had arrived, and that it would be risking the
health and efficiency of his fine army, which
was now augmented to thirteen thousand four

~ hundred regular troops, were he to attempt to
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penetrate the forest. He accordingly contented
himself with sweeping its skirt, in a long march
eastward to Janikpoor and back again; and thus
the season closed, actually without his seemg a
single enemy.

In Gourukpoor, Major-general John Sullivan
Wood burnt a few of the Goorkha villages'in re-
-taliation of their excesses, and marched wherever
*he heard the ‘enemy ‘were advancing. He was,
however, still deceived by false Teports, and could
mnot get rid of the impression that his force was
too weak to effect any thing against Wuzeer Singh,
‘whom he represented to head-quarters as command-
ing 4n army numerically much superior to his own.
On the necessity of ascertaining this point, by
‘coming actually into contact with the enemy, being
strongly urged by the Commander-in-chief, General
Wood was induced at the close of the season, that
‘is, in the month of April, to appear again before
-Bootwul. He accordingly, on the 17th of that
month, drew up his army, and opened a desul-
tory fire against the place for some hours, from his
artillery and line. The manceuvre produced no’
result whatever, though attended with several ca-
:sualties. The General, however, described it as a
recohnois_sance calculated to create a diversion by
alarming the enemy on this frontier, at the same
‘time that it enabled himself to ascertain that he
‘had not miscalculated the strength of the army -
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opposed to him. General -Wood immediately
after this manceuvre laid waste the Goorkha por-
tion of the Twuraee, and then retired to canton-
ments at Gourukpoor. :

It is fortunate for the interest of thls narrative
that the spirit of enterprize was not-every where so
wanting as in the leaders' of the two- central divi-
sions. In proceeding westward, it now becomes
our duty torelate a series of operatlons of a very
opposite character.

It was ascertained by Lord Hastings, while on
his tour: through Rohilkhund, that the province of
Kumaon, which: gkirts the north of it, was nearly
destitute of troops; the whole Goorkha force having
been drawn off to ‘oppose the British- divisions
operating to the east or west. It seemed to him
that .a diversion in this quarter, while it would
distract the enemy by multiplying the points of
attack, would furtherbe of ‘use in preventing any
reinforcements from proceeding westward to Jy-
thuk. If successful, it might lead to very important
results, even to the conquest of the province, and
entire separation of the eastern from the western
territory : if the contrary, the effect would be pro-
- duced in other quarters without much loss. It is
' to be observed that the Kumaonese were known to
' be disaffected to the Goorkhas, who held them in
| rigorous subjection, frequently seizing and selling
into servitude their women and children, in order
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to .enforce the most -arbitrary exactions. The
consequent alienation of the population from their
masters, was reckoned upon as likely to aid greatly
the projectéd énterprize. o

There were no regular troops that could be .
spared at this juncture (December); for the threat-
ening tone and position-of several chiefs and
associations : of thé south and north-west réquired
that a warlike attitude should be maintained on
both frontiers} whilst the demands :for ‘reinforce-
ments to the-divisions already in the hills, were so
urgent as to require every disposeable man. In
order, therefore, not to lose thé.'opporﬁunity, Lord
Hastings resolved to avail himself of the warlike
population of Rohilkhund, who are Puténs, of a
race trained from infancy:to the use. of the sword.
and matchlock, and naturally brave and impetuous,
though "not easily subjected to discipline. Two
officers, itsed- to such troops, were -accordingly
ordered to make levies of Rohillas, to be employed
against. Kumaon. The - persons. selected were
- Lieutenant-colonel. Gardner, and ‘- Major, - then
Captain, Hearsey; neither of them of the regular
establishment, .but both. Ma,hratta officers of great
merit, who had come over under the proclamation
of Lord Wellesley, on war, breaking out with
Sindheea .in: 1802-3.. . Lieutenant-colonel Gardner
had since been retained in command of a corps of
police-horse ; Major Hearsey had not been em-
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ployed in a military capacity for some years, but
was the companion of Mr. Moorcroft’s adventurous
journey across the snowy range to the lake Ma-
nusararwa, and had been detained in Kumaon as
a prisoner, along with Mr. Moorcroft, on their
return, the very year before the war broke out.

To the former officer it was assigned to pene-
trate from Kasheepoor in the Moradabad district ;
while the latter was to operate against Chumpawut,
to the east of the province, by the passes near

Peeleebheet and Khyreegurh, where the Deoha,
or Gogra, forcés its way.into the plains. Both
officers received their instructions late in December,
and proceeded at once to organize levies.

- 'On the 11th of February, 1815, Lieutenant-colo-
nel Gardner commenced his march from Kashee-
poor, accompanied by a civilian, his relation, the Ho-
nourable Edward Gardner, to whom was assigned
the function' of political agent for the province. On
the 15th, the force reached the foot of the first
passes, and dislodged a Goorkba picquet from
Deklee : from hence they could see distinctly a
party of Goorkhas stockaded on the summit of
Kat-kee-nao, an elevated post which overlooked
the entrance of the pass, by the bed of the Kosila;
while another party ‘of the enemy occupied the
Gurhee, or fort of Kotha, considerably to the right. -
Having reconnoitered the two positions, the Lieu-
tenant-colonel determined on an attempt to pene-
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trate them, so as, if possible, togetbetween the
garrisons and Almora.

On the 16th, in order to put the above design
into execution, the Lieutenant-colonel made a
short march up the Kosila to Chookum, and next
day halted: that the same hill porters who attended.
the advance, might return to bring up the rest of
the baggage and supplies. Heavy rain commenced
on the 18th, which soon filled the river, and
otherwise impeded the advance. In the evening,
however, a party was sent in the direction of Kotha,
as if to threaten that post ; and at the same time
two hundred Rohillas, and one hundred Mewatees
marched up the river, to endeavour to seize a strong
pass, called Thangura, where the Kosila rushes
through a defile commanded by lofty and precipitous
mountmnaonexthersule. This party, from some_
miscondrict of the guide, ‘did not secure the pass
on both sides of thé river; but established itself
on the hill overlooking it to the south-east.. The
detachment sent in the direction of Kotha, fell in
with the garrison on a hill called Ronseldeh, be-
tween the Thangura pass and Kotha. Lieutenant-
colonel Gardner, therefore, deeming it necessary
to dislodge'‘the enemy from this post without loss
of time, moved next morning with five hundred
men for the purpose. The object being effected, he
‘turned towards Thangura, and encamped for the
night at Ookul Danga, where his party had esta-

- L
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blished themselves, as above mentioned, on the
evening before. On the 20th, the Goorkhas
evacuated Kat-kee-nao, and retired to Googur
Gurh, on the right of the Kosila, near Thangura,
Kat-kee-nao was immediately secured by a party
of observation sent for the purpose the preceding
day;-and in the evening, the Lieutenant-colonel
in person crossed the river, and dislodged the
enemy from Googur; thus securing both sides of
the important pass of Thangura.' On the 21st,
seven hundred Rohilla-Putans moved forward to
Seethee, where they bivouacked, and were next
day pushed on to a point where two roads to
Almora meet, at a peepul-tree. The more open
route, by the valley and town of Boojan, was found
occupied by the Goorkha Surdar (Rungelee), with
the concentrated garrisons of Kotha and Kat-
kee-nao. After a short halt therefore to refresh,
the Lieutenant-colonel marched with all haste to
seize the Choumou hill, the first steep ascent on
the other road ; which, leaving the valley, runs along
the ridge to the north or left of the direct line of
advance. The whole day was consumed in this
arduous march j and at the close of it, there was an
ascent of three kos to the summit which it was
intended to occupy. The fatigue was so great,
that only about forty men of the whole number
came to the ground; and these were supplied with
water from the snow, which lay there in abun-
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dance. Early in the morning of the 22d, the
enemy were seen making for the same point : they
were led by Ungut Surdar, who had just arrived
with a reinforcement from Almora. The party
at Choumou were still extremely weak; but
they had several standards, of which they made
such a display as deterred Ungut from an attack
which he seemed to meditate.

It was the 28th of February before all the sup-
plies could be brought up from the rear to Chou-
mou : on that day, however, a further short ad-
vance was made to Kampena-ke-danda; whence
the enemy were seen in force at Koompoor, a
rugged hill in front.

" The Lieutenant-colonel, having been obliged to
form depéts and establish’ garrisons at Kat-
kee-nao, Kotha, and several other places in his
rear, thought it ‘prudent to wait here for furfhey
reinforcements ; and particularly for one thousand
Putans raised at Hipur in the Meeruth djstrict,
and now on their way'to join him. Little hap-
pened in the interim of this halt, with the excép-
tion of two skirmishes, on the 6th and 18th of
March ; both of which ended in a manner highly’
creditable to the “Rohillas. In the former, the
Lieutenant-colonel’s  advanced-guard  succeeded
in driving back a party of the enemy who ven-
tured to descend from their stockade into the
intervening valley of Tarakot ; and in the second
L 2
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affair, which was rather more serious, between
six-and seven hundred men being engaged on
either side, the Putans made a resolute charge,
and put to the rout a body of the enemy of
equal strength, who ventured again to the same
ground. o :

The Lieutenant-colonel, while he thus ad-
vanced by the Kosila, had kept .a party in front
of the direct route from Rohilkhund by Bu-
mouree and Bheem T4l ; the commandant, how-
ever, attempted nothing, and was in the end or-
dered to join the main body.

Major Hearsey, having completed his levies,
at the same time with Colonel Gardner, ad-
vanced also, in February, from Peeleebheet, and
penetrated by the Kalee, or western Gogra, to
Chumpawut, without meeting any opposition.
" The population showed some disposition to. de=
clare in his favour; so, posting half his force to
guard the important passes of the Kalee, he
began to think of co-operating with Lieutenant-
colonel Gardner; by an advance to Almora from
the east. . o

In this view he moved upon Kootulgurh, a
very strong fort; but which some information
received as to the state of its supplies, induced
the Major to think must soon yield to a blockade.
The month of March was spent in these opera-
tions.. . . -
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In. the mean time, Colonel Gardner beihg
joined by the men from Hapur, on the 22nd
of March, again out-generaled’ the Goorkha
commander, and established himself in his rear,
and even within sight of Almora. The
same mnight that the reinforcement joined, a
strong detachment under Mohun Singh, a na-
tive commandant of known courage and steadi-
ness, was sent, by a circuitous route through the
valleys to the right, to seize the southernmost
point of a ridge immediately facing - Almora,
where was a temple called Sheeo-ka Devee. On
the morning of the 23d, in order to draw off the
enemy's attention from this operation; a demon-
stration was made of attacking Koompoor in
front. The movement was thus so well con-
certed, that it was not till twelve o’clock in the
day that the Goorkhas made the discovery of its
object, by seeing the Rohillas taking up their
position-at the temple behind them. The Lieu-
tenant-colonel, satisfied at the success of the ope-
_ ration, waited till the following day to see its

effect on"the enemy. Early in the morning he
advanced with the intention of attacking, or at
least turning, the left ﬂa\nk of the Koompoor po-
sition, in order to follow to Sheeo-ka Devee. The
_ Goorkhas, however, moved at the same time ; and:
setting fire to their stockade, hastened by Reonee
to Kutarmul, two points on the same ridge with



150 NIPAL WAR. .

Sheeo-ka Devee. The Lieutenant-colonel followed
by the same route; but the want of porters pre-
vented his reaching Reonee till the 25th, and a
halt of a couple of days was then necessary, to
bring up the guns and supplies. On the 28th
he marched in two columns upon Kutarmul; and
as he approached, the Goorkha commander, find-
ing himself between Mohun Singh’s detachment
and the main body, did not think 1t prudent to
continue on the same ridge, but crossed the Ko-
sila, and posted himself on the declivities between
Almora and that Tiver, leaving the Lieutenant-
colonel free to occupy the ground on the right
bank from Reonee to Sheeo-ka Devee. Thus had
Lieutenant-colonel Gardner, by sheer dexterity,
and without bloodshed, made an effectual opening
to the heart of the province of Kumaon. His
conciliatory conduct, and that of the Political
. Agent, had succeeded in effectually gaining the
natives; so much so, that the bazar of his camp
seldom failed to be supplied from the villages in
the hills; and the intercourse opened and main-
tained furnished certain intelligence of all the
enemy’s projects.

In the end of March, Lord Hastings, seeing
the. ‘state of things here, determined on sup-
porting the Lieutenant-colonel ; and following up
his successes, by sending a force of regular in-
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fantry and artillery, capable of subduing all fur-
ther opposition. He selected Colonel Jasper Ni-
colls, at the time Quartermaster-general of the
King’s troops in India, for this important service ;
and on the 23rd of March, placed under his com-
mand a force of two thousand and- twenty-five
firelocks, composed of the 1st battalion 4th
N. I, under Captain Faithful; the 2d battalion
.5th N. I. under Major Patton; and part of a bat-
talion formed of grenadier companies, and then
employed in Gurhwal. Ten pieces of artillery of
different kinds were added from Moradabad. The
state of the operations before Jythuk, combined
with the assurance that the tranquillity of Central
India would not be disturbed this season, were
the circumstances that enabled the Governor-ge-
neral to devote the troops of his regular army to
this service now; though two months earlier he
bad not deemed it safe to spare them. _
On the 5th of April, Colonel Nicolls entered
the hills with his advance, and hastened to join
Lieutenant-colonel Gardner at Kutarmul On
his way he heard of the entire defeat and capture
of Major Hearsey, and of the reduction of all the
posts he had established to guard- the line of the
Kalee or Surjoos; by which names the western
branch of the Gogra is here known. It seems that
the court of Katmandoo, finding all secure for the
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season to the eastward, determined on an effort
to succour Almora, and eventually relieve Jythuk.
For this purpose they ordered a battalien to cross
the Kalee into Kumaon, and gave -the command
of the force to Hustee-dul, the chief then go-
verning the province of Dotee. Having strength-
ened himself by collecting all the detachments of
his province, this chief crossed the Kalee, .on the
31st of March, at Khusmot Ghat. Major Hearsey -
had attempted the defence of a wider line along
this river than his force justified, besides being
still engaged on the blockade of Kootulgurh.
His men ‘were thus too much detached for his
whole force to be made available in the emer-
gency ; nevertheless, he hastened to meet the
enemy with the few men he had at Chumpawut,
and fell in with him on the first day’s march.
The Rohillas, being raw levies, deserted Major
Hearsey after the first fire; and he was wounded,
and made prisoner. None of the positions he
had garrisoned held out afterwards; but the men
hastened back again_'to the plains With the utmost
terror and, expedition. Little better was to be
expected from new levies, upon the loss of their
commander ; the defeat was, however, . of bad
effect in the impression it left on the inhabitants
of the province; and had not the support been on
its way to Colonel Gardner, its influence on the
raw troops of his force might, perhaps, have ren-
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déred necessary the relinquishment of all the ad-
vantages gained. It may be observed here, that
in every action between the Goorkha regulars
and Rohilla Nujeebs, or .other similar levies, the
former were always victorious. Hence the merit
of Colonel Gardner’s plan, under which, though
always advancing to his object, he avoided com-
_ mitting his men, except in skirmishes where he
‘had a decided superiority, or under circumstances
in which the enemy did -not think it prudent to
attack him, is the more conspicuous. -
Colonel Nicolls, on being informed of the defeat
and capture of Major Hearsey, hastened to effect
a junction with Lieutenant-colonel Gardner, and
reached him a day or two before Hustee-dul ar-
rived with his prisoner at Almora. The latter
event was announced by a salute which was both
heard and seen from the British camp. On the
~ 23d of April, Hustee-dul again left the town, with
a consliderable detachment, upon some expedition,
the object of which was not immediately apparent.
Colonel Nicolls, seeing the movement, despatched
Major Patton, with his battalion, the 2d. of the
5th N. I.,in the direction of Gunnanath, a sta-
tion about fifteen miles north of Almora, on which
Hustee-dul appeared to be marching. The routes
of the two detachments brought them in sight,
and close upon one another, before, they were
“well aware. They were both marching up the
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same eminence, and it was a contest which should
seize it. Hustee-dul first gained the summit;
but the British advance-guard, under Lieutenant
Webster, of the 5th N. I, attacked him before he
had time to make any arrangement for his de-
fence. He was dislodged with considerable loss ;
and in the action received a ball in his temple,
which secured the victory to us. Our loss was
only two killed, and twenty-five wounded in-
cluding Ensign Blair, severely.

Hustee-dul was an active and brave officer, of
high reputation in his nation, and his loss was
severely felt in’ Almora.

Colonel Nicolls determined, on the return of Ma-
Jjor Patton, to avail himself of the alarm he judged
the late defeat would occasion ; and on the 25th,
at one P. M., he led the lst battalion 4th N. I.
in person .across the Kosila, followed by Lieute-
nant-colonel Gardner and his irregulars, in order
to effect a lodgement on the Seetolee heights,
where the enemy were posted. Having reached
the height and taken measures to secure the pos-
session of it, he thought he observed symptoms of
alarm in the garrison of a stone breast-work before
him, and immediately in front of the town of Al-
mora. He was hence tempted to try an assault,
without waiting to bring up his guns to breach the
walls, which would have occasioned a considera-
ble loss of time. The assault was led by Captain
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Faithful in person; and the redoubt was entered
first, through an embrasure, by Lieutenant YWight,
who fell immediately, severely wounded by a
Goorkba chief. Captain Faithful followed at the
head of some grenadiers, and saved his brother
officer by cutting down the man; when the rest
fled, leaving the redoubt in our possession. All
the stockades of the ridge were carried or evacu-
ated; and the enemy were pursued into the town
of Almora; leaving the Colonel to make his dis-
positions for the night.

The Nipalese were not, however, disposed to re-
sign the possession of these heights, which commu-
nicated directly with the town, without a further
struggle ; and accordingly, at about eleven in the
night, having sent a detachment secretly round,
they attacked and carried our most northerly post,
though stockaded and defended by a piquet of re-
gulars, under Lieutenant Costly, of the 1st batta-
lion of 4th N. I. A party of the flank battalion,
under Lieutenants Brown and Winfield, immedi-
ately moved to the snpport of the post ; and with
the aid of a ghole of irregulars, under Colonel
Gardner in person, the place was recovered, but
not without a hard struggle. The firing in this
quarter was the signal for a general sortie from the
fort; but for this Colonel Nicolls was prepared,
and the enemy were driven back with loss; after
which they confined themselves to a little de-
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tached firing. We lost in this affair an officer,
Lieutenant Tapley of the 27th, attached to the
-grenadier battalion, besides many sepoys' and ir-
regulars killed and wounded.* The next day the
‘guns were brought up, and a position taken about
seventy yards only: from the fort of -Almora.
Bumsah Chountra, the governor of the province,
seeing. his situation desperate, proposed in the
evening of the following day a suspension of
arms, preparatory to a negotiation of the terms of
surrender.

The. armistice being granted, the Nipilese
wounded officers came boldly into our camp to
solicit surgical aid. They further stated, without
reserve, their extreme want of supplies, and allowed
us to examine the walls and defences of the place ;
thus exhibiting'a frankness and confidence not a
little remarkable in their circumstances. In ar-
ranging the terms of capitulation, their main stand
was made to obtain an article  permitting five
"hundred men, destined to the service by the go-
vernment at Katmandoo, to proceed westward, to

* Including the operations in the day-time, the loss in the
attack and maintenance of the Seetolee position, was one officer,
Lieutenant Tapley, twenty-nine sepoys, and twenty irregulars
killed ;» two officers (Lieutenants Wight and Purvis, of the
4th native infantr'y), ninety-eight sepahees, and sixty-one
irregulars wounded. Making a total of two hundred and

_ eleven killed and wounded.
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reinforce Runjoor Singh at Jythuk. This, of
course, was resisted; but they did not give up the
point until a renewal of hostilities was threatened,
if the surrender were not concluded by a given
hour. . At last, on the 27th of April, a formal con-
vention was signed by Colonel Nicolls and the
Honourable Edward Gardner, on one side, and
Chountra Bumsah, Ungut Kajee, and: Chamoo
Bundaree, on the other.

In this the surrender of the province of Ku-
maon, with all its fortified places, was stipulated ;
also the retirement of all troops and officers of the
Goorkha government, within ten days, to the east
of the Kalee; the British engaging to furnish
carriage to aid the transportation of private pro-
perty. Major Hearsey's unconditional release was
further stipulated. These articles were faithfully
executed ; and Colonel Nicolls, having accompanied
the Goorkha troops to the ghats of the Kalee,
disposed his force in the best manner for the de-
fence of that line, against any future attempt of the
Nipilese to molest our possession of the pro-
vince.*

Let us now return to the . events of the ‘cam-
paign further west. It has been stated that Major-.

* During the operations above explained, the Goorkhas
made an irruption from, Dotee into Khyreegurh, in the plains;
but were defeabed and dnven back by a detachment under
Captain Buchanan, sent from Futchgurh by Lord Hastmgs
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general Martindell, after the failures of December,
was so firmly persuaded of the inadequacy of his
force to do any thing against the position of .
Jythuk, that he lay long inactive at Nahn. In
the interim, several reinforcements ‘reached him;
and the instructions of his Commander-in-chief
continually urged the recommencement of active
operations. Towards the beginning of February,
Major Kelly was detached from Nahn, with a light
battalion, to occupy a post on the same ridge that
Major Ludlow had moved upon in December. He
established himself without opposition at-Nounee ;
and on the 12th of the month, being supported by
Major Ludlow and his battalion, he advanced to a
point called the Black Hill. This post being within
the range of heavy artillery, it was resolved by the
Major-general to carry up 18-pounders, and batter
the first of the enemy’s stockades. The side of
the hill was therefore prepared for the purpose, and,
by great exertions, guns and stores were dragged
up the precipitous part of the ascent. The ope-
ration excited the astonishment of the enemy, who
came out every where to see the wonder, but
made no attempt to preventit. In the mean
time, Runjoor Singh’s communications were left
quite open 3 and besides the reinforcement carried
to him by Bulbhudur Singh, others were continu-
ally joining. On the 17th of February, intelligence
reached camp of a party being on its way to
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Jythuk, from the Jumna.. Lieutenant Young was
accordingly. detached with a body of irregulars to
intercept it. Not finding the enemy at: the point
expected, he came back on the 19th ; but more
correct intelligence being then obtained, he again
marched with all the irregulars in camp, amounting
to upwards of two thousand men, and found the
Goorkhas in a place called Chumalgurh. Not
thinking it right to. trust his raw troops with an
immediate attack of the position, and relying on
his great superiority of number, he proceeded to
post detachments where most they could annoy
the enemy, and cut off the communication with
Jythuk. .

The whole number of the Goorkhas did not
amount to two hundred fighting men ; but seeing
their situation desperate, they called 2 council; and
adopted . the resolution to die bravely together *.
Having thus prepared themselves, they advanced,
and delivering their fire, eharged, sword in hand,
the nedrest post of the irregulars.- These unfor-
tunately . gave way immediately, and -were -pur-
sued, in the utmost confusion, to. the next post,
where the panic quickly spread ; until the whole
party :took to flight: without atteinpting any' re-
sistance, in spite of the utmost, efforts of Lieute-
nant Young: to induce:them to: face' the enemy.

# Ujumba Punt was the Jeader of this party.
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This unlooked-for result of their intrepidity ena-
bled the Goorkhas to continue their march to
Jythuk, without further opposition; and gave
them so much confidence, that they never after-
wards failed to attack a post of irregulars- when-
ever placed within their reach; and even when
stockaded, they generally succeeded.

The '18-pounders, from the Black Hill, were
opened against the first stockade on the 17th of -
March ; and on the 20th a battery was erected
in a more advanced position. The effect of one
day’s fire of this last, was to level with the ground
the whole stockade; but the Major-general, in-
stead of following up the advantage by an imme-
diate attack, which all the troops were eagerly ex-
pecting, came now to the conclusion that his pre-
sent plan was injudicious ; for that, if carried, the
post could not be maintained against the 'force
Runjoor Singh could bring up from behind it.
It would thus seem, that with an European regi-
ment and a force of at least five thousand of the
Company’s regular army, the Major-general yet
thought it dangerous to take a step that might
bring on a general action with an enemy, .who
had never more than two thousand five hundred
men at the utmost. This excess of caution was
an unfortunate consequence of the early disasters
above related ; but it was a feeling that none of
the officers or troops of the division participated
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with the general, and that, under the circum-
stances, was quite unwarranted. The vacillation
of mind exhibited in the adoption and aban-
doning of these different plans, was strongly re-
marked upon by the Commander-inchief. It
seemed to him that the practicability of reducing
the stockades by battering them in succession,
could as well have been determined upon before
bringing up the guns, and wasting so much la-
bour and ammunition ; in which case, more than
a month would have been saved for the prosecu-
tion of any other plan. It is painful, however, to
dwell upon the sources of such disappointments.
Upon relinquishing the hope of gaining any use-
ful end by the heavy artillery, the Major-general,
“on the 26th of March, came to the resolution of
surrounding Runjoor by detachments, and thus
reducing him by blockade ‘and starvation. Gene-
ral Ochterlony, he perceived, had effected every
thing by directing his efforts against the supplies
of his antagonist ; and there could be little doubt
that the same system must be efficacious at Jythuk,
though the end of March was rather late in the sea-
-son tocommence on such an operation. In execution
of this new plan, Major Richards was sent, on the
1st of April, to seize a post on the eastern ridge,
connected with Jythuk. He marched. with two
battalions, the 1st of the 13th, and Ist of the 15th
N. L. and some irregulars. Having made a eonsi-
M i
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derable circuit, to bring his detachment to a place
where the ascent could be made with artillery, and
without much separation of the files, he advanced
cautiously to gain the top of the ridge, which
was occupied by the Goorkhas in considerable
force. -The enemy allowed the Major to come
within forty yards before delivering his fire. The
post. was, however, overpov]rered without much
loss; and Major Richards followed up his advan-
tage along the ridge to a point called Punjab-ka-
Teeba, or Punchul; where the Goorkas seemed
disposed to make a more serious stand. The Ma-
. jor halted, to allow time for the rear companies
to close up; and then attacked this post in two
columns ; and carrying it, proceeded immediately
to make preparations to stockdde it against’ an
effort to recover it, that he expected Runjoor
Singh would make with his whole force. The
enemy were, however, deterred by the state of
preparation they witnessed, and by their past ill-
success ; and left Major Richards full leisure to
establish himself securely.

In the above affair the Goorkha commander,
Ujumba Punt ¥, was taken prisoner; and of thir-
teen hundred men that composed his force, one
hundred and seven were killed, and about two

* This was the same man, who with two hundred, or one
hundred and fifty Goorkhas, defeated the irregulars under
Lieutenant Young ;— Vide above, puge 159. ‘ o
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hundred and fifty wounded. The British loss was
trifling, being ounly seven killed and twenty-nine
wounded,.including two officers. On the 16th of

“April, Captain Wilson marched to occupy a point

midway between Major Richards and the head-
quarters of the Major-general: besides which,
several other points had, in the interim, been
seized and stockaded in execution of the plan of
blockade. Notwithstanding, indeed, the late-
ness of the period. at which it was adopted, there
can be but little doubt that the operation would

. have been' effectual in reducing Jythuk, had not

its fall been hastened by other means.
The glory of receiving the surrendef of Jythuk -
was reserved for Sir David Ochterlony, whose
further successes alone remain to be recorded.
‘We left this officer in position on the further
side of the Maloun ridge, with Colonel Arnold
at Rutungurh, between the enemy and Belas-
poor, while Colonel Cooper was left to reduce
the forts of the Ramgurh range. The first of
these attacked was Ramgurh itself, which, after

-great exertions in dragging up the heavy ar-

tillery, was breached at last on the 16th of
February. The garrison capitulated for them-
selves, and for Joorjooree, and were allowed to

march out with the honours of ‘war. The two
-commanders, however, on joining Umur Singh at

Maloun, were punished with the loss of their
' M 2 \
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ears and noses ;—an act of savage discipline not
perhaps wholly unmerited by the individuals; but
considering Umur Singh’s circumstances, not very
judicious. Each of the forts had a garrison of
one hundred men; and Joorjooree would have taken
some days to reduce, even admitting that Ramgurh
could have held out no longer

It -was the 10th of March before Colonel Cooper
could bring a battery to bear on' Taragurh, the
next place he attacked. The breach was practica-
ble the following day, and the garrison evacuated
the fort in the night. Chumba, on the same ridge, .
was next _attacked ;. and by the 16th of March,
after a day’s battering, the garrison hung out the
white ftag, and surrendered prisoners of war. The
chiefs expressed alarm lest their families should
suffer from Umur Singh’s severity ; to deceive him,
therefore, the Colonel ordered the guns to continue
firing occasionally with blank cartridges; while
some of the prisoners were released, that they
might endeavour to bring away the families from
Maloun.

The whole of the strong forts in the. rear being
thus reduced and occupied, Colonel Cooper fol-
lowed the main army, to take part in the last
operations against Maloun. By the 14th of April .
all was prepared for a combined movement, the
plan of which the Geperal had for some time been
maturing.
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The immediate object was to effect a lodgment
within the series ‘of heights that formed Umur
Singh’s present position. His line stretched be-
tween the stone forts- of Maloun and Soorujgurh,
presenting to the view a series of connected peaks
more or less abrupt, and each crowned with a
'stockade, excepting two, which had the names of
‘Ryla peak and Deothul. The former was conve-
niently situated for operations against Soorujgurh,
which it would effectually cut off from Maloup ;
the latter was in the very heart of the Goorkha
position, and not one thousand yards from Maloun
itself. It wasto be expected thatthe'whole force of -
the Goorkhas would oppose the occupation of Deot-
hul, which was the main object of attack. General
Ochterlony reckoned, however, that even if he
failed there, the possession of Ryla would still be
a great advautage; and that the movement on both
points at the same time, would contribute to dis-
tract theenemy. To assist the enterprize further,
a diversion was plannéd by other detachments,
which were directed  to march right upon the
enemy's cantonment under the walls of Maloun.

It will be proper to explain this movement more
in detail. Five columns altogether were put in
motion, besides detachments for the diversion, and
the following was the part assigned to each.” The
first from Pulta, one of the posts opposed to
Soorujgurh,. on the enemy's extreme right, con-
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sisted of two light companies of the 19th N. I.
under Lieutenant Fleming, who, attended by a
strong party of irregulars, was to make a secret
night movement on Ryla, and there show a light
as a signal for the movement of the other columns. -
Immediately on seeing it, Captain Hamilton was
to march on the same point, with his own and
Lieutenant Lidlie’s detachments, assembled for
the purpose at Jynugur; while a grenadier batta-
lion from head-quarters, under Major Innes, moved
simultaneously in the same direction. This force
was destined ‘to support Lieutenant Fleming, and
to occupy Ryla; while Major Lawrie; with the
2d battalion of the 7th N. L from his position at
Kalee, to the right, and Lieutenant-colonel Thomp-
son, with the 2d battalion of the 3d N. L from
General Ochterlony s head-quarters, were to lead
- each separate columns on Deothul, and two ‘field-
Pieces were attached to the latter, for the defence
of ‘the position when occupied* Two smaller
detachments, one led by Captain Bowyer, and the
other by Captain Showers, and consisting each of
three companies, besides irregulars, were to move
from opposite sides direct upon the Goorkha can-
tonment, in order to create the diversion, above
alluded to, in aid of the occupation of Deothul.

* These two columns were to wait for daylight in the
bed of the Gumrora, in order that their ascent of the heights
might be simultaneous.
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Ryla was occupied by Lieutenant Fleming in the
course of the night of the 14th ; and at sight of the
signal, by which it was preconcerted that notice o
this event should be communicated, Captain Hamil-
ton and Major Innés marched on the same point,
and in the course of the morning established them-
selves, without meeting any opposition. The signal
being repeated from a conspicuous station behind
the General’s camp, the two columns under Colonel
Thompson and Major Lawrie marched immediate-
ly to the Gumrora, and waiting there till daylight,
. moved from opposite directions on Deothul. They

just met at the last ascent, ‘and pushed on together
to seize the point, at about ten.in the morning;
whena contest commenced as severeas any in which
our native troops have ever been engaged. As
the head of the first column approached the sum-
mit of Deothul, . a picquet of not more than twehty
or thirty Goorkhas chirged fearléssly on the ad-
vance-guard, and occasioned a check that was near
proving fatal to the success of the movement. The
exertions of the officers, however, particularly of
Major Lawrie, restored the men to a sense of duty,
and they advanced boldly and dislodged the enemy
as well from Deothul ‘as from other posts in the
immediate neighbourhood. The day was spent in
desultory fighting about the position; and every
exertion was made in the evening and during the
night to throw up defences about Deothul, in the
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conviction that the struggle for the post had yet to

come. ' ) o

The Goorkhas had been occupied during the

- day in opposing and pursuing the detachments of
Captains Showers and Bowyer, which had thus
completely” succeeded in withdrawing their at-
tention from the main object. The former officer
marched from Rutungurh, and early in the day
found himself within the stockades of the enemy.
He was of a peculiarly chivalrous spirit, and
thinking he had instilled the same ardour and
fearlessness into his men, urged them to trust only -
to the bayonet, and in this view he commanded
them not to load. As the colamn approached the
cantonments, a body of-Goorkhas came boldly

" down, upon them ; when Captain Showers stepped
forward to lead the projected charge : the sepoys,
however, not being on ground where they could

_form readily, proved unequal to the trial, and the
Captain was lefi alone to stand the shock. A
personal combat ensued with the Goorkha chief,
and he was slain by the Captain, who happened to
be an excellent swordsman. This brave officer was,
however, shot dead immediately after, which com-
pleted the confusion. The detachment fled pre-
cipitately as far as Lag Village, and were pursued
by the Goorkhas; this spot being, howevyer, open,
the men were rallied by Lieutenant Rutledge; and
having had time to load, offered a successful oppo-
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sition, and again assumed the offensive.* Captain
Bowyer, in the mean time, had marched from
Kalee at daybreak, and reached the point assigned
to him asa post of observation by seven in the morn+
"ing; there he was attacked, and maintained him-
self till noon ; when perceiving the entire failure of
Captain Showers, and thus seeing the impossibility
of converting the feint into any thing more bene-
ficial, he commenced a . retreat in the face of the
enemy. The retreat was executed with field-day
precision, one half of the detachment retiring to
position, and the other following under cover of its
fire. The Goorkhas, who had anticipated confu-
sion, and the destruction of the column, continued
engaged in a fruitless pursuit during a great part of
the day, but could effect nothing beyond occasion-
ing a few casualties. They were thus effectually
drawn away from the more important post at
Deothul, which was in the mean time occupied
and secured, as we have before mentioned. -
The night was one of anxiety to both parties.
Bhugtee Thapa, or more properly Bukhtyar Thapa,
Umur Singh’s best officer, saw from Soorujgurh
the serious character of the operation intended ; he
accordingly left that p‘lace, with a chosen band, to

# The author of the Sketches of the Goorkha War states
that the flight and pursuit were continued till arrested by the
artillery of Rutungurh, which opened on the pursuers.
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take part in the struggle which impended. The -
absolute necessity of dislodging the British from
Deothul, was but too apparent to Umur Singh
and his council. ‘There were, however, two com-
_plete- battalions now ‘established there, - besides
irregulars; and two pieces of field artillery had
been brought up and placed in position, to say
nothmg of the works hastily prepared. The elite
of the Goorkha army were in this emergency col-
lected;  and two thousand, more than could well
oj)erate at once on the broken ground of the ridge,
were placed under the personal command of
- Bhugtee Thapa, for the attack of Deothul next
morning.* Umur Singh himself also resolved to
appear in the field with his youngest son, the only
oné with him, in order to encourage and support
the attack.

Agreeably to the arrangement thus determmed
upon, the British position at Deothul was attacked
at once on all sides where it was accessible, just at
daybreak on -the morning of the 16th of April.
The Goorkhas came on with furious intrepidity, so
. much so, that several were bayoneted or cut to
pieces within our works. Umur Singh stood all

* This officer assured Umur Singh that he would return
vicborious, or not at all ; and he gave notice to his two wives
to prepare for their sutee, as he had little hope of surviving.
They both sacrificed themselves on the funeral pile on whlch
his body was burnt the next day.
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the while just within musquet range, with the
Goorkha colours planted beside him; while Bhug-
tee was every where exciting the men to further
. efforts. The Goorkhas particularly aimed at
gaining possession of our guns; and directed their.
fire with so much effect against the artillery men,
" that at one time three officers, Licutenant Cart-
wright, Licutenant Hutchinson of the engineers,
and Lieutenant Armstrong of the pioneers, were,
with one artillery man, the only_ persons re-
maining to servé them. The British commandant
at Ryla, perceiving the desperate nature of the
struggle at Deothul, sent a reinforcement, with am-
munition, which arrived very opportunely. After
a contest of two hours’ continuance without inter-
mission, the Goorkhas being. observed to slacken
their efforts, it was resolved to assume the offensive,
" and drive them back. Major Lawrie led this
charge, and Bhugtee Thapa being killed in it, the
enemy was every where put to flight, and the
victory decided. « .

There were two hundred and thirteen killed
and wounded on the side of the Byitish*; and the
enemy left above five hundred men on the
ground about the post of Deothul. In' the

* -Lieut. Bagot died of his wounds, and Major Lawrie was
. slightly hurt:" Lieutenant Gabb, light battalion, and Ensign
Dalgairns, of the 3d N. I. were the other officers wounded in -
this part bﬁ the operations. ’

’
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- course of the day they sent to request permission
. to seek the body of Bhugtee Thapa; and it was
 found, covered with wounds, close to the foot of our
defences. General Ochterlony ordered it to be
wrapped in shawls, and delivered to Umur Singh, in
- order to testify the respect his bravery had excited.

The total loss incurred in the operations of the
15th and 16th of April was, two officers, three
Soobadars, four Naiks, and fifty-two Sepoys killed;
and fiye* officers, one sergeant, and two hundred
and eighty-seven men wounded. '

Taken altogether, this approached more nearly
to a general action than any event that occurred
in the campaign ; and it was a proud triumph to
the officers of the Indian army, to have achieved
so complete a victory on ground which gave such
great advantages to the enemy, and with numbers
'so nearly equal,—for not one half of Sir David’s
army was engaged. ‘

The dispositions for the ' operatlon exhibited.
wonderful skill, and the precision with which the
movement of the different detachments was cal-
calated, reflects the greatest ‘credit on those who
collected the intelligence, and. furnished the ma-
terials on which the plan’ was combined. Lieu-
tenant Lawtie of the engineers was the most

* The only officer not already named, is Lieutenant Spel-
lessy of the 7th N.1. attached to the detachment under Capt.
Showers.
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valuable instrument of those to whose exertions
the General was indebted on the occasion. This
young officer had, as field-engineer, directed the
operations of the late successful sieges, under
Colonel Cooper; and there had not been a move-
ment -or enterprize undertaken by the division,
since'it took the field, that had not benefited by
his professional zeal, activity, and penetration.
" His ardour in examining all the routes by which
the Maloun position was to be approached, with_
a view to provide against every possible contin-
" gency or mishap, led him into exertions that pro-
duced a fever of which he died in the beginning
of May *; but he had the satisfaction of first
seeing the completion of the triumph he so essen-
tially contributed to secure.

~ General Ochterlony, who considered nothing
done while any thing remained, set himself im--
mediately to prepare a road for heavy artillery to
Deothul ; and to straiten Maloun, by closing
his positions round it. The Goorkhas likewise
concentrated themselves about Maloun, with-

* General Ochterlony published. a general order on the
occasion of the death of ‘this officer, in which he spoke’ in
high commendation of his services and useful talents. The
officers of the division, uniting in esteem of his great merit,
went into mourning for him, and further subscribed for the
erection of a mgrble monument to his memory ; which now
stands in the cathedral church of St. John’s at Calcutta :—a
proud record to have been earned by so young an officer.

~
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drawing their garrisons from all the positions on
the further side of Deothul; and even from
Soorujgurh, though a place of some strength.
The evacuation of this post gave Lieutenant
"Murray an opportunity of showing his activity
and vigilance, by intercepting and dispersing the
garrison as it retired. .

By the ‘end of the first week in May, a battery
was raised against Maloun ; and news of the fall
of Almora having reached the Goorkha camp, all
the Surdars urged Umur Singh to accept terms
for himself, and his son, Runjoor, at Jythuk. The
old chief was, however, obstinate in refusing ; and
endeavoured, with much earnestness, to persuade
his men, that if they did but hold out till the
approaching rains the British army would be
obliged to withdraw.

Seeing the pertinacity of his refusal, the Sur-

* dars began to desert with their men, until at last
only about two hundred remained faithful to
Umur Singh. With these he retired into the
fortress of Maloun until the batteries were in
readiness to open on its walls. * Yielding at last
to his fate, this proud chief, on the 15th of May,
signed a capitulation ; in which it Wwas agreed
that the Goorkha nation should retire to the east
of the Kalee or Gogra ; and resign to the British
all the provinces from Kumaon westward. Run-
joor .Singh was, of course, included in these
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terms ; and ‘the father and son, after giving’ or-
ders for the surrender of all the remaining garri-
sons, were safely conducted, with all who chose to
accompany them, to the other side of the Kalee,
as stipulated. : _

Many of the Goorkha soldiers took service with
the British; and three battalions were, at the sug-
gestion of Sir David Ochterlony, formed of - them,
and called Nuseeree battalions. A provincial
corps was likewise raised for Kumaon . civil
duties, in order to allow a further opening for
the employment of the military classes.

Thus the campaign, which in January pro-
mised nothing but disaster, finished in May by
leaving in the possession of the British the whole
tract of hills from the Gogra to the Sutlej. A
very few words -will suffice to explain the nature
of the arrangements made for the occupation and
management of this tract. .

Kumaon was made a province of the British
territory, and the Honourable Edward Gardner
was appointed commissioner, with full power for
the administration of its affairs. The Doon was
likewise retained, and abnexed ultimately, to the
Seharunpoor district. The remainder of the hill
country was ‘restored to the several Rajas and
chiefs from whom Umur Singh had conquered it
with exception to Subathoo, Raeengurh, Nahn, and
one or two other places, which were made military
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posts for the Nuseeree battalions. 'The principle
- adopted was, to place all the chiefs in precisely
the same condition as they stood with respect
to each other before the appearance of the
Goorkhas ; and to leave them each. in the free
enjoyment of his ‘own, under the general pro-
tection of the British government. The fol-
lowing statement exhibits the names and relative
- importance of the principal chiefs, whom this ar-
rangement placed in a state of protected depen-
dence. Mr. Fraser, the Political Agent attached
to the force of General Martindell, was, in the
first instance, invested with the duty of intro-
ducing this system ; and for that purpose, some
time before the surrender of Jythuk, he under-
took a journey into Gurhwal, and afterwards
made a tour of the principal places in the hills,
where lie was instrumental in confirming the
Rajas and Thakoors in the assurance of their
security, and in reconciling them to the new
state of things. Ultimately, Gurhwal being re-
stored to its Raja, the superintendence of the af-
fairs of all the western chiefs was vested in Sir
David Ochterlony ; on whose part a military As-
sistant was api)ointed to reside at Subathoo.
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NAMES OF THE RAJAS AND THAKOORS,
AS ESTABLISHED AND TAKEN UNDER PROTECTION IN 1815,

WITH AN ESTIMATE OF THEIR REVENUE.
. Rupees,
Per Ann.

Kv)hlor, or Belaspoor, Eztcuding on both sides of the
Sutlej, but the eastern part only is guaranteed.
Raja Mohachugd - - - - 60000

Hindor, or Plaseea.
‘Raja Ram Surun Sein.—Hill territory 15015 in
the plains 80000 rupees - - - 45000

Sirmoor.—Nakn the capital.
Futteh Prokash Singh, infant son of Kurum Pro-
kash; who was set aside for profligacy and ty-
ranny, and died in 1816. Jounsur and Bhawur,
two Pergunnas east.of the Tonse, have been re-
tained by the British - - - 80000

Busahur.—Capital Rampoor.
Raja Muhindur Singh, a4 minor son of Oogur Singh,
deceased; Teekum Das is the Vizeer or manager.
- The Raja pays a tribute of 15000 rupees - 80000

Keonthul.

This is the largest of the Bara Thakoraees; Suba-~
theo was reserved from it as a British station; and
there being no family that had any claim to resto-
ration, the tetritory was given to the Seikh Raja
of Puteeala in reward for his services - - 40000

Bagul.—Capital Urkee.
_ Rana (name unknown) Co. - - 23247
N ‘
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Rupees,
Per Ann.
Joobul,
Rana Poorun Chund, with two subordinate chiefs,
Danjee Vizeer, and Prem Singh Vizeer - 19100

Besides some minor chiefs, of less than 5000
rupees per annum.

Gurkuwal, west of the Alknundra.
Raja Sheeo Dursun Sah, to whom, with exception
to theg Dehra Doon, and territory east of the Alk-
nundra, valued altogether at about 60000 rupees,
the rest of the province was restored. ° - 40000
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' CHAPTER&,

NIPAL.—NEGOTIATIONS.—SECOND CAMPAIGN,
AND PEACE.
1815-16.. - . .,

Disposition of the Goorkha cthiefs—Overture for Peace-s
Governor-general’s terms—Cession of Turaee refused, and.
negotiation broken off by the Goorkhas—Ifreparanons ‘

- ~Fresh overtures—Demand modified — Hesntatxon of
the Goorkhas-—Negotlatlons —-Treaty slgned-—-Further
concessions meditated—Ratification refused at Katmandoo
—Reflections—General Ochterlony takes the field—Plan
of operations—Chooreea Ghatee pass turned —The General
arrives before Mukwanpoor—Battle of Seekhurkutree—
Colonel Kelly's march to Hureehurpoor —Battle” there—
Submission of the Nipilese—Ratification of the former

- Treaty—Liberality of the British Government—Sikhim-
putee Raja received under protection—Objects proposed—
Goorkha representations at Pekin—Arrival of ‘a_Chinese
Minister at Digurchee—his proceedings there, and letter
to the Govemor-general—The Raja of Nip4l dies of the
smallpox.

IN hazarding a byeach with the British govern-
ment, the Goorkhas had never speculated on
rousing it to such exertions as they witnessed in the

N2

>
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first campaign. Notwithstan(fing their early suc-
cesses, therefore, they.very soon repented of the
rash measures by which they had brought them.:
selves into so hopeless a contest. Even when at
the height of their prosperity, the immensity of
the preparations, and the perseverance of their
enemy, convinced them their cause was despe-
rate; and they would willingly have given up
every object in dispute, could they by that means
have brought the war to an honourable termina-
tion. They were prepared also for some sacrifices,
if such should be required. It appears from an
intercepted letter,* addressed by Umur Singh to
the Raja, on the 2d of March, 1815, that imme-
diately on the fall of Nalapanee he was consulted
as to the policy of giving up the Dehra Doon, and
the hilly tract west of the Jumna, in addition to
the contested lands on the Sarun and Gourukpoor
frontiers. That chief’s opinion was adverse to
any cession of hill territory. Though vested,
therefore, with power to negotiate on this footing,
if the plan had met his approval,} he never indi-

* Vide this letter Appendix A.

4+ Some overtures were made to General Ochterlony by
Umur Singh, with the view of _discovering the extent of the
demands of the British, When the latter, however, found that
they included the cession of a considerable tract of the hill
country, he proudly replied, *That from the Sutlej to the
Teesta, the Goorkalces would dispute every inch of the
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cated to General Ochterlony any disposition to
treat on such a basis.

Upon the conquest of "Kumaon, the Goorkba
governor of that province, Bum Sah, a man of
some consideration in the state, expressed much
desire to be the means of re-establishing the former
relations between the two powers; and the occasion
was taken of assuring the court of Katmandoo,
through him, that the British government enter-
tained  a reciprocal anxiety to restore the ancient
good understanding. "

After the campaign had closed so triumphantly
for us, the desire of peace seemed to have increased
at the capital of Nipil. Most of the chiefs ap-
peared to have become sensible that their confidence
of security in the ruggedness of their mountains,
was a vain illusion; and although a considerable
faction still maintained their hostile dispositian, all
parties united in the wish to discover on what
terms- peace would be granted. Accordingly, in

mountains ; and if driven from them, would then retire to the
confines of China. This country,” he added, *is not rich in
"men and money, like Bengaland Hindoostain; but it contains
a race, of which not a man, while the soul remains in his
body, will submit to" become like the Rajas of the plains,
with all their wealth and luxuries.” Umur Singh finally
refused to hold further communication with the British gene-
ral, while he allowed the vakeels of the hill Rajas to remain
in attendance.
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May 1815, Gooroo Gujraj Misur, the family
priest of the RaJa, was sent down from Katman-
“doo with full powers under the red seal, and with
instructions to negotiate with Major Bradshaw,
the British, political agent in that quarter, an
entire adjustment of all differences.

‘This overture was met by an unreserved »dlS-.
closure of the sacrifices which Lord Hastings' con-
ceived himself to be now justified in demanding.
They were—1st, The perpetual cession of all the
hill country taken in the campaign, viz. from the
Kalee westward; 2dly, A like cession of the entire
Turaee, from the foot of the outer hills along the
whole line of the remaining territory of the Goork-
has; 3dly, The relinquishment by the Goorkhas of
the footing they had gained in the territory of the
Sikhim Raja, and the surrender to that chief of
the stockaded forts of Nagree and Nagurkot ; and,

~finally, The reception of a Resident, with the usual
escort and establishment, at Katmandoo, and the -
customary stipulation not to receive or give
service to Europeans without the special sanction
of government.

Major P. Bradshaw stated to the Gooroo that
he could not negotiate except on this basis; and
the Gooroo declaring he had no authority to treat
for any cession in the Turaee, excepting the dis-
puted tracts, the overture was broken off, and
Gujraj Misur returned to Katmandoo.
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From a hope that.other negotiators might be
more accommodating, the Goorkha court ém-
powered . Bum Sah to- make a second overture to
the Honourable E. Gardner, who was now Civil
Commissioner for the management of the province
of Kumaon. That officer had been instructed as

- to.the manner in which such an overture was to

be received. " Accordingly, the reply to Bum Sah
being similar in every respect to that made to the
Gooroo, the negotiation in that quarter was simis
larly broken off.

In the mean time; the army, which had beer
collected on the Sarun frontier, was cantoned to
" the north of the Ganges, or at Dinapoor, the can-

tonment of Patna, and was kept in. a state of
equipment to be ready to take the field imme-
diately the favourable season should return.

The- Marquess of Hastings,thinking that a se=.
cond campaign might be inevitable, determined on
so conducting it as to humble the proud spirit of
the Goorkha chiefs ; or, if that were impossible, to
crush this ambitious and aspiring nation for ever.
Preparation was made for penetrating with a
brigade from Kumaon, where Lieutenant-colonel

J. W. Adams, a most excellent and steady officer,
had succeeded Colonel Nicolls ; while the latter
“was to: operate against the Bootwul and Palpa
frontier, with. the army of Major-general J. S.
Wood, considerably reinforced. Major-general
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Ochterlony was at the same tirhe to be summoned
from the north-west, to ‘take the command of the
Sarun troops, which were destined to penetrate
into the valley of Nip4l,

Although. provision was thus made for pushmg
the  war with vigour, the: efforts of the govern-
" ment to reestablish peace were not relaxed; for
many powerful considerations made this much the
most desirable consummation at the juncture. - It
was with satisfaction, therefore, government learnt
that the negotiation was re-opened by the Gooroo, -
who came again into the Turaee, in August, for the
purpose. The Marquess of Hastings had, in the
jnterim, ascertained that a main objection to. the
relinquishment of the Turaee was, that most of
the principal officers of the Goorkha court had
Jageers there. Accordingfy, to reconcile them to
the cession, and to show that the British govern-
ment d1d not desire it from’ any avaricious motive,
his - Lordshlp authorised his negotiator to tender
the amount of the estimated revenue in stipends, to
be at the distribution of the court of Katmandoo.
The annual assignment thus sanctioned amounted
to between two and three lacks of rupees, and his
Lordship justly considered that a permanent peace
was worth this sacrifice. :
~ The Gooroo was made acquainted with the li-
beral disposition of the government; but, after
some consideration, he’again broke off the nego-
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tiation in September ; declaring that the Goorkha

.chiefs would never. accede to -a. cession of the

whole . Turaee,. which was the main source of
their subsistence ; the hills themSelves bemg com-
paratively. unproductlve.

.The Marquess of Hastings, having maturely
welghed the matter, resolved to proceed a step
further for the re-establishment of peace. It
seemed evident, from what had passed, that no
advantage offered in any other shape would com-
pensate to" the Goorkha government for the entire
loss of the Turaee and forests under the hills.
‘That court’s repugnance to the cession was ascer-
tained to be owing to the high estimate of the
pecuniary value. of the territory which was en-
tertained by the chiefs, rather than to any feeling
of pride or objection to the humiliation ‘of the
step. The reception of a resident was the article
most . offensive: to them on this score; but this -

~ had been insisted on as a sine qua non, and, find-

ing there 'was no hope of procuring a change, the
Goorkhas had -conceded the point. The Turaee
was, therefore, the only question remaining for
discussion. - For the last year that the British
authorities had held the greater part of the tract,
its management had been found very troublesome
and expensive; and the climate was- so noxious
as:to.render the continuance.in it of troops, and

" even of civil officers, impracticable for a large

-
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portion of the year. To us, therefore, the ac-
cession of territory promiSed little advantage, but
~ much trouble and difficulty in the maintenance of
the rights and privileges whence the revenue was

derived. The demand of the cession, it is to be
* ohserved, chiefly originated in'a desire, by exclu-
sion of the Nipélese from any interest in the low-
lands, to take away the source of future conten-
tion; and, at the same -time, to inflict an appro-
priate punishment for the encroachments, and
other acts of violence and insult, which _had
brought on the war ;—the hope of profit in the
tract formed no part of the motives which in-
fluenced the British, government. Balancing the
acquisition of the above objects, therefore, against
the advimtage of a restoration of peace, Lord
Hastings finally determined to relax the rigour of
the original terms; and a treaty was drafted,
which the British negotiator was desired to pre-
sent openly to the Gooroo, in case of his expected
re-appearance, accompanied- by a declaration that
it contained the British ultimatum. In the draft,
the Turace, from the Kalee, or western Gogra, to
the Gunduk, was all that was insisted on; and of
the rest, so much only as was in our actual pos-
session. S‘tipends to the extent of two lacks of
rupees were still offered to be placed at the distri-
bution of the court, in compensation for the re-
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tained lands, and the draft contained a stlpulatlon(
to this effect.’

As was expected, the Raj Gooroo again sought
out Major Bradshaw; and on this occasion Chun-
dur Seekur Opadheea,' who, at the close of the
campaign, had been allowed to return to Katman--
doo, was associated with him. The drafted treaty
was shown to them, when both declared that they
could not venture to accede to the terms, even as.
altered, without first submitting the draft to the
court. 'They engaged, however, that a definitive
answer should arrive in fifteen days, and for-
warded a copy of the proposed treaty to Kat-
mandoo ‘for the purpose. The term expired
without their receiving any reply; and the nego-
tiators, being unable to redeem their pledge,
begged submissively. that .the negotiation' might
not be broken off, until they should themselves:
go to Katmandoo to ascertain ‘the cause. The
Gooroo, .at the same time, offered to sign the
treaty, if the- portion of Turaee in the British.
occupation, viz. that lying between the Gunduk
and Koosa, were substituted for the offered sti-
pends.” This was refused, and the negotiators
took their leave on the 29th of October, pro-.
mising to return in twelve days, with the treaty
signed. '

The supreme government, on héaring of the
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continued reluctance of the Nipalese, called on
the authorities in charge of the contiguous dis-
* tricts, to state their opinion as to the value of the
several portions of the Turaee, and the means of
obtaining a good frontier line, by the retention of
part only of what had been occupied; thus pre-
paring itself to make some further gratuitous
concessions, either in lieu of the stipends, or if
addition to them, in order the better to gratify
the Goorkha chiefs, and leave them: in a dispo-
sition to execute and maintain the treaty when
signed. :

In the mean time the Raj Gooroo Gujraj
Misur came down again from Katmandoo, and
signed the -treaty according to the original draft.
This was done at Segoulee, on the 28th of
November, 1815. The supreme government, on
being apprised of the event, fired the usual sa-
lutes, and ratified the treaty on the 9th of De-
cember, with due solemnity. It was determined,
notwithstanding, to make the further concessions
contemplated; and it was considered fortunate
that the execution of the treaty without them,
would yet more decidedly mark the act as a gra-
tuitous bounty towards a fallen and suppliant foe.
The conciliatory effect of the boon on the Sirdars
would likewise, it was conceived, be enhanced by
their not feeling themselves indebted for it to
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their own obstinacy either in war or negotia-
tion. :

In the confidence of its own liberal views to-
wards the Nipilese, the British government never
doubted the sincerity of the enemy. The very
earnestness of their opposition in the course of
the mnegotiation, seemed to show that the accept-
ance of the proffered terms was the deliberate
act of the court; and though their assent was
unwilling and tardy in the extreme, still this
seemed to be fully accounted for by being attri-
buted to the reluctance with which they enter-
ed into engagements they felt to be inviolable.
Adopting this view, the Governor-general reckon-
ed that so soon as his further intentions for
'~ the benefit of the nation should be made known,
the partial discontent which existed would give
place to general satisfaction; and that all parties
would be thankful for the restoration of peace.
In this impression, the government hesitated not
to suspend the preparations which had hitherto
been actively making for a second campaign ;
and the commissariat officers, in their zeal for
economy, went beyond the bounds of due discre-
tion, and discharged a great part of the establish-
ments which had been entertained for the trans-
port of stores, selling also much of the grain
which had been collected in the frontier depdts.

Of this precipitancy there was soon reason to
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repent: It was a stipulation of the treaty that

the ratification under the red seal should be de-
livered ‘to Lieutenant-colonel Bradshaw in fifteen

days. The period expired, and no ratification

came ; moreover, it was ascertained, in the course

of the month of December, that after several very

animated discussions at the court of Katmandoo,

the war faction had again prevailed over that

which favoured- the Gooroo, and his late mego-

tiations. Hence a renewal of hostilities was all
that could be looked for; though it was, of course,

expected ‘to be the policy of the Goorkhas to

waste as much of the season of action as possible,
by amusing us with fresh offers to negotiate.

In order to anticipate such an attempt, and to
show the serious light in which the past conduct
of the court of Katmandoo was regarded, Sir
David Ochterlony was forthwith ordered_into the
field, and every possible exertion was made to
furnish the stores and establishments requisite to
give efficiency to his army. A letter was also
written to -the Raja of Nipal, complaining of his.
‘want of faith, and warning him of the approach
of the British army. "He was told, however, that
the consequences might yet be averted, by send- -
ing the treaty, duly ratified, to meet the General
in the Turaee.

A word or two may be required, in order to
explain the motives which seemed at this time to
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influence the Goorkha councils. The non-ratifica-
tion of the treaty of Segoulee has not, ordinarily,
‘been attributed to any settled plan of deceit prac-
tised on the British government; but it must be
. admitted, that the time of the Raj Gooroo’s
signing, which was just. that at which the army
would otherwise have taken the field, is a very
suspicious circumstance. There seems reason,
however, to believe that the Raj Gooroo was
himself sincere, and that the disavowal of his act
was the result, of a divided sentiment amongst the
chiefs; part of whom strenuoﬁsly advocated the
necessity of accepting the terms. offered, while
others as violently opposed the measure..

"The veteran Umur Singh, and his sons, who
had recently arrived at the capital, were amongst
the warmest partisans of the war. Some notion of

“the proud spirit ‘which actuhted this chief may
be formed from the intercepted letter written by
him in March 1815, when he himself was closely
beset on every side by the army of General Och-
terlony, against which he felt he could.make no
head. As the document is highly characteristic,
and shows the hopes which buoyed up the war
“faction in their determination to persevere, rather
than submit to what they deemed the first step to
subjection, it may not be out of place to give it at
length, though it has already been more than once
before the public. The letter will be found, there-
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fore, in an Appendix, being too volnmmous for
the compass of a note. .

The points most dwelt upon are the following *

First—That a treaty concluded after defeat
could not be trusted to, -as the British, knowing
the terms to be conceded through fear, would pre-
sume upon the weakness of the nation, and seek
new causes of quarrel, untxl its absolute subjuga-.
tion was effected.

Secondly —That the constitution of the Goorkha
power, which held several subordinate Rajas and
nations in unwilling subjection, would afford the
British numberless occasions of interference; and
that they would thus by intrigue, during peace,
. effectually weaken and undermine the dominion
established. ) ‘

Thirdly—The danger of allowing a Resident to
be permanently fixed at Katmaindoo, is particu-
larly dwelt upon as likely to lead to the intro-
duction of a subsidiary force, and to prove a preli-
minary step to absolute subjection.

Fourthly—The advantage of manful resistance,
as opposed to concession and submissiveness, is
strongly urged, from the prosperity enjoyed by the
_ Bhurtpoor Raja since his successful defence of that
fortress, contrasted with the utter ruin by which
Tippoo Sooltan was overtaken, after the conces-
sions made by him to effect the peace signed by
Lord Cornwallis in 1790. )
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The remainder of this curious letter contains an
exaggerated view of the resources of the nation >—
first, in the courage of its troops, and the natural
strength of the country ; and secondly, in the sup-
port to be éxpected from the ill-affected allies of
the British in Hindoostan, and eventually from the
Chipese, to whom an immediate application for
assistance in money is strongly recommended.

Assuming this letter to contain a fair statement
of the sentiment of those who advocated the con-
tinuance of war, it would seem that suspicion of
the ulterior views of the British was a main ingre-
dient of their present disposition. It is certain,
however, that independently of such a suspicion,
the events of the past campaign in the Turaee,
east of the Gogra, had filled many of the chiefs
with 'the most presumptuous confidence in the
strength of the barrier opposed by the forests and
hills, which skirted their eastern territories, and
that the occurrences to the west had very partially
removed this feeling. From the Gogra to the
Koosee, ou a line of near eight hundred miles, the
British armies had been whally baffled; and though
superior in force to those which achieved the
conquests of the west, had not even ventured to
cross the forest. Hence, the Goorkhas felt assured
that they might persevere in the war with impunity,
so long as they kept the passes of the first range
guarded ; and, under this impression, they saw no

o .
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reason why they should assent to a permanent re-
linquishment of their independence, by receivinga -
Resident; or give up the ambitious hope of reco-
vering some part of their lost territory in the
hills. . - L
In this state of the public feeling at Katmandoo,
the treaty of Segoulee was, as we have before -
related; finally rejected by the chiefs; and every -
precaution taken to fortify and render impregna-
ble the passes through the first range of hills. The
principal route into the valley of Nipdl is by the
Bicheea-Koh pass, which by distinction is called the
Chooreea- Ghatee, or main pass over the Choorea
hills. Other minor passes have occasionally the
same name applied to them, or at least to that part
of the route by them which leads over the same:
range.. The grand pass, however, is, as before
stated, by Bicheea Koh; and this the Goorkhas de-
fended by three successive fortifications ; the last
of which was absolutely impregnable;: all the other
known routes -were similarly defended ; and in this .
manner the Goorkhas awaited the arrival of General
Sir David Ochterlony, leaving him “the pa.ssage‘ of
the forest altogether free. :
The British army was already in motion to the
Turaee, when towards the beginning of February,
it was met' by Gujraj Misur, with a formal inti-
mation of the. determination of the Nipilese to
recommence .the war. Sir D. Qchterlony had a *
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force of ‘near twenty thousand effective men, in.’
cluding three European regiments, his Majesty’s
24th, 66th, and 87th. He divided this force
into four brigades: giving Colonel Kelly, of the
24th, one; Lieutenant-colonel Nicol, of the 66th,
another; Lieutenant-colonel Miller, of the 87th, a
third; while the fourth was commanded by Colonel
Dick, who has before been mentioned.

Colonel Kelly, with his brigade and regiment,
were detached to the right by Bhugwanpoor, with
orders to penetrate, if possible, by Hureehurpoor }
Lieutenant-colonel Nicol was similarly directed
on Ramnugur, to the left; while General Ochter-
lony, with the other two brigades, moved straight
through the forest, by Sim]abassa, to the foot of the

 Bicheea Koh pass.

On the 10th of February, 1816 the General
established himself at a kind of caravanseray at the
outlet of the pass, and at a short distance from the
enemy's first stockade. The -seray was quickly
converted into a depbt} and-the opposite works
having been reconnoitered, and found unassailable,
information was sought with earnestness as to the
possibility of turning the pass by some route un-
known to the enemy.

After four days thus spent, without interruption
of any kind from the Goorkha army, a route was
discovered by Captain Pickersgill, of the Quarter-
master-general’s department; and on the 14th, at

o2
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nine at night, Colonel Miller’s_ brigade was led by
the General in person through a deep and narrow
ravine, called Baleekola, which’ brougl_it}: the’ de-
tachment to a water-course, leading. to.a 'steep
acclivity, by which the first formldable barrier of
hills was to be’ scaled. " The march was. contmued‘
during the whole mghi, and 1)y seven in the morn+
ing, the Chooréa heights, to’ the west of the enemy’s
positions, were occupied w1thout‘-res1stance :In
the course of the 14th, the br Igade advanced about
five miles.to the Chukree Mukree Nulla, and there
bivouacked for four days; wa1t1ng the arrival of i its
supphes ‘and" tents, for.no laden ammal had been *
able to accompany the’ troops. R
For the first two ‘days the. men suﬁ'ered the
greatest privations; being for the- most part without
food. Their - hardships “were part1c1pated, in'a’
great measure, by the General himself,who had no
baggage, and slept under cover of a hut, hastlly
constructed: for him' by the men’ of thé 87th;. .of
boughs “cut;from! the green trees.: All this, how:-
ever, ‘'was submitted to with . cheerfulness by botfl"
"men and’ officers, in the conv1ctlorr that the ob_)éct._
“of the movemefit was gained.”” O "the’ morning
following that of the General’s “march,: +Colonel
“Dick moved up close to the enemy’s 's outer stockaJe, '
and, in the course of the followmg day, found . the’
triple fortification- evacuated by the- Gooxjkhas, in
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consequence of the success of the- dperatioﬁ for
turning the position.

By the 20th of February, the roads were pre-.
pared for a further advance; and the two prlgades
met again at Etounda, on the banks of the Réptee,,
which here runs in a valley remarkably pictu-
resque and beautiful. After a_ halt to establish a
second depét the Major-general marched again on
the  27th, ‘movmo-' up the valley to Mukwanpoor,
under which place he ‘encamped in the evening, at
a village called Chougurha Mundee.

. Mukwanpoor is situated on a low ridge, whlch
lay to. the north of the encampment, stretching
from west to east. The town and fort were to
the east opposed to our right, and on the other
extremity.was a_village named Seekhur Kutree,
which was also occupied by the enemy on the
General’s first appearance under the position.

Fot some unknown reason, the Goorkhas with-

- drew their men from' Seekhur Kutree next morn-
ing, which being observed by the British General,
he immediately detached four companies and forty
Europeans to seize the point. Captain Pickersgill
accompanied them, and was proceeding to occupy
some other points along the ridge, when he per-
ceived a large force of the enemy ascending the
northern side of the hill, so as to cut him off from
Seekhur Kutree, which he had just left. He
made good his retreat down the southern declivity
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into camp, while the Goorkhas advanced against-
the posts which had been occupied. They had
recovered all but the village itself, and the men
there had lost their commanding efficer, Lieute-
nant Tirrel,* and were beginning to feel the want
of ammunition, when the 25th N. I. which Gene-
ral Ochterlony had kept under arms prepared for
any. exigency, came opportunely to their relief,
accompanied by the flank companies of the 87th.
The post was how secured, and dispositions made
to maintain it; but the Goorkhas, unwilling to
telinquish the advantage, poured a force of two
thousand men from the stockade near Mukwan-
poor, and showed a determination to recover the
village at all hazards. Sir David Ochterlony,
seeing that the contest was becoming every in-
stant more serious, detached the 2d battalion of
the 12th N. I with four more companies of - the
87th, under the command of Colonel Miller, to
‘'support the troops at Seekhur Kutree; and
turni"ng out his line, he further ordered the artil-

® This officer was Adjutant of the 1st battalion of the
20th, or Marine Regiment, but was at the time doing duty
with the 2d battalion of the 25th, having left his staff situa-
tion to seek distinction in the active service of thiscampaign.
He had only joined by Dak a day or two before. The post
was maintained after the fall of Lieutenant Tirrell, by Lieute-
pant Kerr and Ensign Impey, who were publicly thanked in
general orders for the service.
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lery to play on the different bodies of. the enemy
as they passed along the ridge to the attack. The
Goorkhas seeing this, opened also their guns at
Mukwanpoor, turning them at first against the
advancing parties, and subsequently on the camp
and line where Sir David and his staff’ were a con-
spicuous object.®* In the mean time, the junction
of the reinforcement enabled the force at Seekhur
Kutree to advance on the enemy; and the Eu-
ropeans leading, a charge was made, which drove
the Goorkhas beyond a hollow separating this part
of the ridge from Mukwanpoor. Detached parties
of the enemy, however, still cowered down m the
jangul on the ridge, and kept up a very destruc-
tive, though desultory fire on our posts; they
brought also some guns to the opposite side of the
hollow, and thus continued to annoy us during the
whole day.t Towards the afternoon, Sir David

® A menial servant of the General's, who carried his pen
and ink, was killed by this fire; but, in other respects, it did
remarkably little execution.

+ In the duty of this day many officers found great ad-
vantage in the use of their double-barrelled fo:vling-pieceo,
with the skill acquired by practice in the sports of the field,
The officer who cominanded the light company of the 25th
N. L. was particularly distinguished for the certainty with
which he anticipated the aim of the Goorkha light troops,
who ordinarily lay secure under a rock, presenting nothing
except just at the momnent of firing. Ensign Shipp, of his
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Ochterlony despatéhed to Colonel Miller a fresh
battaliori, the 2d of the 8th N: L, to enable
him 'to finish the action, if possible, before sunset.
The battalion, upon its arrival, was conducted by
Major Nation across the hollow ; and advancing,
with charged bayonets, captured the nearest of
the  enemy’s guns: after which, the Goorkhas
retired within their fort and stockades, leavmg
their dead and wounded at our mercy._

The Goorkhas were, in this action, led by
Shumsheer Rana,- the chief who commanded the
attack on Captain Sibley’s post at Pursa in the
previous campaign. Their whole force was en-
gaged in the course of the day, and the defeat
was' signal ; “their loss in killed and wounded
having, by their own “acknowledgment, exceeded.
eight hundred men. Of the British, forty-five
were killed, including eleven men of the 87th;
and one hundred and seventy-five wounded, in-
cluding nineteen Europeans, and Lieutenant and
Adjutant ‘P. Young, ‘of the 2d battalion 12th

Majesty’s 87th, was noticed for a personal encounter'witba'
Goorkha chief, in the face of both armies. He was a capital .
swordsman, but his weapon broke early in the conflict, where-
upon, he threw it away, and trusting to his activity, closed
with the Goorkha, and wrenching his sword from him, laid him
lifeless with a back-handed stroke.—Feats of this kind are
not the proper duty of officers, but when they occur are very
encouraging to the troops; for the union of personal prowess
with gallantry dnd success will always command admiration,
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N. I. Lieutenant .Tirrell. -was the only oﬂi(:er
killed. S
.. Colonel Nicol, W1th ‘his™ brigade, Jomed the
Major-general on the day after the action; having'
successfully penetrated into, the valley of the
Raptee, by a pass to the north of Ramnugur, and.
ﬁaving -.marched_ thence up the valley without.
meeting any.” opposition. The Colonel left a.
strong” detachment -of two battalions in position.
at Ekoor, under Major Lualey, to maintain the
comm;mication by this route, and keep the vailey
free of the enemy.

In the mean t1me Colonel Kelly, who had.
" orders to penetrate by Hureehurpoor, succeeded
likewise in finding a route by which he entered
the hills’ without opposition, and' penetrated to. .
that fortress. His ‘march. was, however, ‘much:
' lmpeded by the difficulties of the ground ; and
it ‘was the 27th of February before he reached
Rutunpoor, a_village on the left bank of the Bag-
mutee,~'.a few miles’ to the south of the -fort.
He immediately made from hence a strong re-
connoisanc_é ; -and . finding "the. p‘ost‘ to be unas-
sailable :from the south, he resolved on crossing
the Bagmutee and advancing to Joorjoor, a vil-
- lag_e'to the west of .Hureehurpoor, whence the
approach seemed more easy. -This movement
was effected on the 29th of February. The
principal stockade of the enemy was about one
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thousand yards to the west .of Hureehurpoor,
crowning the ridge in a semicircular form, and
commanding the valley of the Bagmutee. On
the Colonel’s first arrival at Joorjoor, he observed .
an eminence at about eight hundred yards dis-
tance from this stockade, which the enemy had
Jeft unoccupied. He, accordingly, next morning,
before daybreak, detached his light companies,
under Captain (Brevet-major) Hughes, of his
Majesty’s 24th, supported by seven battalion-
companies, under Lieutenant-colonel O’Holloran,
to seize the point. This detachment ascended,
and quickly established itself, driving off a,pic-
quet of the enemy it found there; no sooner,
however, was it well in position, than the whole
force of the Goorkhas came on to the attack;
‘and Colonel. OHolloran had to sustain an un.
equal fight from six in the morning until half-past
eleven, exposed on every side to the fire of the
enemy. At length a strong reinforcement ar-
rived, with two .6-pounders, and two howitzers
on elephants. The enemy was then driven back
with considerable loss, and the attempt on the
position was not repeated *. The Goorkhas, in-

#* The British loss consisted of four Europeans and four
Natives, killed; five officers,—Captain Lindsay, artillery;
Captain (Brevet-major) Hughes, Captain Smith, and Lieute-
nant O'Leary, of his Majesty’s 24th; Lieutenant De Voeus,
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~ deed, although their first attack was vigorous and
obstinate, did not evince, on this-occasion, quite
so much bravery as was expected from the repu-
tation of their commander; who was ne ogher
than Runjoor Singh, the defender of Jythuk. He
‘had with him also a choice band of his associates .
in that defence, whom he had distinguished by
crescents on their turbans, and by the pompous
title of *Band of the Moon.” Runjoor was him-
self one of the first to leave the field; and his
.conduct in the action, and in subsequently aban-
‘doning his post, tarnished his bright name, and
brought him into permanent disgrace at the court
. of Katmandoo. The fort of Hureehurpoor was
evacuated in the night after this affair; and
‘Colonel Kelly, having converted it into a depdét,
was preparing for a further advance, when hé
received the General's orders to retrace his steps.
"The news of the first defeat at Mukwanpoor,
spread consternation at Katmandoo ; and without
waiting for intelligence of the event at Huree-
‘hurpoor, the-court immediately resolved on an
-attempt to deprecate ‘further vengeance by un-
" qualified submission. The red seal was affixed
Jjn haste to the treaty of Segoulee; and an envoy
sent to the camp of General Ochterlony, to notify

Chumparun Light Infantry; twenty-three Europeans, and
twenty-five Natives, wounded.
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that' it"was ready for delivery. The messenger
brought a letter from. Bukhtawur Singh, the.
Goorkha commander, requesting. permission to.
send the. instrument by Chundur Séekur Opa-
dheea, who was stated to have come to Mukwan-

poor for the purpose. The General returned for:
~ answer, that thé. Goorkhas miust 'noq expect the

same terms now, as before the re-commencement
of hostilities; but that he had no objection to
receive the Opadheea if he came with full powers.
At the same time the approaches were pushed on
' to “within five hundred yards of Mukwanpoor,
and a battery was made ready against the place.

- Chundur Seekur made] his appearance in camp
on the 3rd of March, and earnestly ‘entreated
the General to accept the ratified treaty. Sir
David had been vested with full powers to use
his own discretion, in the acceptance of the former

terms, or in advancing further demands, according

as circumstances and the state of the season
might prompt; but he was not to conclude a
treaty until the enemy were sufficiently humbled
to make it safe to rely on their sincerity.

This period seemed to Sir David to have now
arrived ; ‘and in ‘order to put their humility to
‘the test, it was explained 40 Chundur Seekur,
that the letter of the treaty would give to the
British all the territory in their occupation, and
would now, therefore, include the valley of the

t
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Raptee, as well as Hetounda -and Hureehurpoor.
At the sarhe time the Opadheea was assured that
he must no longer expect any concession beyond
the letter, and he was called upon to give a spe-
cific note in writing, declaratory of his being in-
‘fluenced by no such hopes, and further to engage
that the Raja should -specifically confirm the de-
claration in a letter to the Governor-general.

To all this the Goorkha negotiator readily as-
sented ; and he agreed, moreover, to present the
ratified treaty on his knees at the General's
* durbar, in the presence of all the Vakeels in
camp.

“This solemnity having passed the General con-
“cluded the treaty, and despatched Lieutenant
Boileau of his staff to act as Resident at Katman-
doo, until the Governor-general should nominate a
p’rdper officer. He prepared, also, for his own
return ; but did not finally leave the hills untll he
received the orders “for the surrender of ‘the forts
of Nagree and Nagurkot to the Raja of Sikhim,
“and had ascertamed that they would be duly

executed.

Lord Hastmgs was much pleased with the
result to which Major-general Ochterlony had
thus broubht the campaigu in so short a space of
time ; more partlmﬂarly so, because the late period
at which the operations had unavoxdably been un-
dertaken, after the interruption to the preparations,
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which occurred ‘in November and December, had
made him apprehensive of the arrival of the
unhealthy season before there would be time effecs
tually to humble the enemy. Sir David himself,
too, had discovered that the capture of ‘Mukwan-
poor would be the limit of what could be: effected-
this campaign; for he found it would not be safe
to keep the troops in that valley after the mid-
dle of March; this, therefore, was not the least
powerful of the motives which influenced him in
granting the terms. ’
“The articles of the treaty were all punctually
executed, according to agreement.* The supreme
government thought, notwithstanding what had
passed, that it would be a politic act of conciliation
to give np such of the Turaee as might not be re-
quired to form a straight and even frontier, in lieu
of the pensions stipulated in the treaty. The
: Marquess of Hastings, therefore, a.fter every article
had been executed, gave notice to the Raja of his
intention to send the ,Honourable E. Gardoer to
" Katmandoo, as Resident, and to empowerer him to
conclude a new arrangement on that basis. This
was subsequently effected, after a boundary had:
been surveyed and marked with pillars of masonry,
to prevent the possibility of any.future disputes
between the Nipélese officers and our Zemindars.

* Vide Treaty, Appendix C.
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The part of the Turaee thch skirted the Oudh
dominions was, however, retained, and with Khy-
reegurh, a perguna of Rohilkhund, lying on. the
Oudh side of the Gogra, was made over to the
Nuwab Vizeer, in extinction of the second loan of
a crore of rupees obtained from him during the
war. . )

With the Sikhimputee Raja a treaty was con-
cluded by Major Latter, at Titaleea, on the 10th of
February, 1817,* in which, amongst other articles,
there is one guaranteeing the possessions of the
Raja to himself and his family ;—a small stripe of
the Turaee also, lﬁng between the Mich,hee and.
the Teesta, (part of what was retained under
the final arrangements concluded with Nipél), was
ceded to this Raja for a line of communication,

The policy of this guarantee cannot be doubted.
Its effect has been to shut out the Nipilese from
any ambitious views of aggrandizement to the
east, and to circumscribe their territory on three
sides by the British power, while on the fourth,
the stupendous range of the Heemalaya, and the
Chinese frontier, present an effectual barrier.
Thus, while the British and Chinese empires con-
" tinue in their present strength, the hope of
extending their dominion must be extinguished,
and the military spirit, which was fostered by the

* See Appendix D.
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series of victories gained over the surrounding
Rajas, must die away for want of employment.

It only now remains to state the nature of the
relations subsisting between the government of
Nipél, and the Celestial Empire, and the result
of the application made to Pekin for ‘assistance,
during the campaign of 1814-15.

In the first government of Lord Cornwallis, the
Goorkhas having invaded Tibet, and plundered
the palace of the Teeshoo' Lama, at Jigurchee or
Digurchee, a Chinese army was sent to punish
them. . The Goorkhas retired before it, but con-
trived to maintain theniselves for some time with-
out much loss. - - . ‘

~'This produced an - overture from the Chinese
commander, that the British should co-operate in
a simultaneous attack on Nipil. The proposition
was not favourably received; and the Chinese,
having changed their General, gained an im-
portant victory in the Tingree desert, and thus
succeeded at last in reducing ‘the Goorkhas to
submission. From that time Nipal has been con-
sidered by the Chinese as a tributary country;
and though nothing is demanded beyond some
nominal offerings, still a legation proceeds every
three years from Katmandoo, to renew the as-
‘'surances of allegiance and good faith.

On the war breaking out with the British, the
Nipalese represented to the court of Pekin that
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the difference had arisen in -consequence of our
having ‘demanded the passes through the Heema-
chul, which they, as faithful allies, had refused
to give. The Chinese attached no credit to the
representation, until they received, through their
own officers at Lassa, a long manifesto ;: which
the Supreme Government, knowing the relations
which existed between Katmandoo and the Celes-
tial Empire, thought it expedient to fonward in
- explanation of the real cause of war.

" The Chinese now argued that there mlght pro-
hably be some truth in what the Goorkhas had
representedr of  our ambitious views, as so much
pains was taken to disavow, or, as they conceived,
to disguise them. Accordingly, it was determined
by the Court of Pekin that a force should immedi-
ately be’ directed to the quarter ‘menaced;  and
that ‘one of ‘the most confidential- miniéters, and a
military Iar, should proceed to -ascertain the state
- of thmgs in Nipal. - ; '

~ So slow were the Chinese in executing their de-
terfniua_tiqn, that the war was actually over before
their army was heard of at Katmandoo. In Sep-
tember 1816 however, the Governor-general re-
ce1ved through the Sikhim Raja, a letter, written
in scarcely mte]hgxble Persian, from a person
styling himself Shee Cheeoon Chang, Vizeer, or
Prime Minister, with whom were associated the
chief authority of Lassa, and another principal

P
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officer of the frontier.: . The. object of the letter
was, to ask'distinctly what were the views of the
British government in'that direction,* and to state
how they had been misrepresented.. In the course
of the same nonth, :the Goorkhas; having heard
that a Chinese force had arrived at Digurchee, or
Jigurchee, in August, applied directly to the Resi-
dent to know whether, in case the Chinese ‘de-
manded any further submission beyond what had
already been acceded to, they might depend on
the co-operation of the British in resisting them.

- In this state of things, the Supreme Government
forbad -any assurance of support being given to
the: Nipalese, lest .it should encourage- them in
seeking cause of quarrel with the Chinese.. The
Governor-general als6 communicated a statement
of “all that had occurred, in reply to the letter
which had ‘been received through the Sikhim
Raja.- With' this answer the Chinese authorities
professed themselves satisfied, in -so far as the
British were concerned:-they demanded, however,
that some- confidential agents from Nipil should
wait upon them; artd the following account of what

" ~® The Bengal government had furnished the Com-
- pany’s officers at Canton with a full explanation of all that
passed ; 'but the Chinese cautiously avoided any allusion to
‘the NipAl war -in their official communications with the select
‘committee there,
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passed at the interview, was obtained afterwards
from a Cashmeerian of the suite.

The first visit was one of pure ceremony.; but
the Goorkha Vakeels, Dilbunjun Pande and Co-
lonel Runbeer Singh Thapa, waited again- on
Cheeoon -Chang on .the following . day, when his

Excellency commenced by asking, “ What had
" become of the Pandes and Bishnawuths ?” (leaders
of the exf)edition into Tibet before alluded to;)
and he added, “ Who are these Thapas that I
never before heard -of? You Goorkhas are a
mischievous race, and have caused the ruin of
‘many Rajas. Digurchee, too, you plundered
without cause or provocation; and now you have
thought to act the Digurchee scene with the
English, and so murdered their police-officer,
after settling the question by vnegotiatiidn. You
have been punished justly ;—you wrote us of
war, and have since written of peace; yet still
ask our aid.—What kind of peace is this?” The
. Nipélese urged that'if not inclined to give as-
sistance to recover what had been :lost, the
- Chinese authorities would, at least, lend their
good offices to procure the:removal -of the Resi-
‘dency from Katmandoo. Cheeoon Chang replied,
“You wrote that it was to establish a factory
that the English had come; why should I re-
move merchants ?” Dilbunjun, one of the Va-
"keels, on this said, “ They were not merchants,
P2
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but soldiers and officers that they desired to be
rid of.” Cheeoon Chang replied, “ The English
have written that their object is to cement peace ;
and it appears you have agreed to receive the
Resident. . You wrote us that the English had
demanded the passes into Koten China; but
we know this is false ;—if they desired to come
to China, it would not be by that route.” Turn-
ing to Colonel Runbeer, the other Vakeel,
Cheeoon Chang continued in a tone of irony,
“ You Goorkhas think the hills have no soldiers
but yourselves : how many.of you may there be?
About two lakh, I suppose!—and what is your
revenue ?” Runbeer replied, “ That his Excel-
lency was right in the number of fighting men;
~ and that the revenue of the hill country was very
small, -not exceeding five lakh of rupees.”—
“ Truly,” said Cheeoon Chang, “you are a mighty
nation ” and with this he dismissed the Vakeels.

The Chinese were so fully satisfied with the
intelligence procured on this occasion, that they
immediately withdrew their troops from Digur-
 chee and Lassa, They betrayed, however, a
little Jealousy at the establishment of a Resident
~at Katmandoo; and, in reply to the letter of
the Governor-general, after stating that they were
perfectly satisfied, the Vizier introduced a hint
that they should be. still better pleased were he .
withdrawn. It was couched in the following
terms.
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“ You mention that you have stationed a
Vakeel in Nipil. This is a matter of no con-
sequence ; but as the Raja, from his youth and
inexperience, and from the novelty of the thing,
has’ imbibed some suspicions, if you would, out
of kindness towards us, and in consideration of
the ties of friendship, withdraw your Vakeel
from thence, it would be better, and we should
feel very miich obliged to you.”

These minute details are, perhaps, too puerile
‘to be recorded at such length; but as so little
is known of the conduct pursued by the Chinese
in their relations with other Asiatic powers, at
the same time that there is an interest about
every thing that brings us politically into con-
tact with them, it is hoped that this full account
of thelr proceedmgs at Digurchee will not prove
unamusing or out of place.

To the above statement of occirrences after
the treaty, it only remains to add, that the
young Raja of Nipil died, on the 20th of No-
vember 1816, of the small-pox; and was suc-
ceeded by an infant son named Raj Indur
Bikrum Sah. -This event contributed to fix
more firmly the authority of the party of Ge-
neral Bheem Sein, by giving him another-lease
of uncontrolled dominion, pendmg a second long
‘minority.
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CHAPTER VL
OUDH.--BHOPAL.
© 181415, - ,
Financial embarrassments-—Irritating discussions with Nu-
wab Sadut Ulee—set at rest by Lord Haatihgs——Nu-
wab’s death, and succession of Ghazee-ood-Deen Hydur
—Resident’s proceedings at Lucknou—Intrigues there—
First Oudb Loan—Second ditto—Governor-general’s in-
-tentions . respecting Pindarees—Defensive plans—Reasons
for adopting Bhopél and S'agurb alliance—Condition of
BhopAl—Designs of . Mahrattas—Chief applies for British
protection—Terms offered—Consequent military arrange-
ments—Negotiation—Communication to Sindheea—How
received by him—The Bhoosla and. Pésbwa——Preparatibns
* in the Dukhun and Hindoostan—Augmentation of Bengal
army— Effect of these measures in maintaining tranquillity
~—Conduct of Bhopil—Vakeel dismissed—Reflections.

IN order to avoid confusion from ‘interrupting’
‘the Narrative, the Nip4l war has been related from
its origin to its close without mention of the affairs
of the rest of India. We shall now supply this
“omission ; and the completion of the war will en-
‘able us to pursue consecutively the thread of those
‘affairs, after first noticing one or two matters ot
general interest connected more or less with the
events already described. )



FINANCIAL EMBARRASSMENTS. 215

When Lord Hastings left the presidency in
June 1814, with the Nipal war upon his hands,
‘the finances of the Bengal government were at a
very low ebb. Great efforts- had been made to
furnish to Europe as large a cash remittance ‘as pos-
-sible; and the treasuries of. the western provinces,
instead of being ina condition to supply the wants
of a campaign, had beéen drained of their resources
to provide funds for this purpose, or to- relieve
other pressing demands at the presidency. Of
‘these, the faremost were the necessity of supplying
from ‘Beéngal a' considerable- deficiency in. the re-
‘sources of Java, -and of :meeting, besides, a heavy
"drain from China, where the provision-of the tea
investment depended on- the:negotiation - of - bills
oh. Calcutta: © But a.new and rather unusual
“sourcé” of embarrassinent arose from the state of
.thé  exchange.with’ England; at this times3. for,
‘owing to the great’ depreciationof the: British
~currency, the sicca rupee, which intrinsically was
--worth "a 'small fraction more .than two: shillings
~and -'a halfpenny, cdme to bear a remittance-value
- of twdand eightpence, 'and even two and tenpence.
.While. this: yas the case, all the public creditors,
:who- had heretofore - availed themselves of the
-option_of receiving their dividends by . bllls on

- England at two shillings and sixpence, | demanded
_:cash-in India to purchase private bills at the ad-
.yanced -rate}. and as a. very large proportion of
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‘the entire Indian debt was at this-time held by
retired servants, and others, resident in Europe,
the sudden drain on the Indian treasuries from

- this cause was inconveniently heavy. The same

-unfavourable state of the exchanges operated, of
course, to prevent the Indian governments from
obtaining relief by bills on the Court of Direc-
tors, had they been disposed to seek such aid.

In this extremity, the natural-resource would
have been to open a new loan; but several cir-
- cumstances precluded a resort to this step. In
the first place, the securities of the existing loans,
“which had then very recently been negotiated
with much trouble, and at the expense of much
obloquy and dissatisfaction, at six per cent. in-
terest per annum, in substitution for the old debts
at.eight per cent., bore in the market a discount
‘of nine and ten per cent.; indeed, at one time,
 the discount was as low as sixteen, This showed
the utter impossibility. of raising money at the
same rate of interest ; while the manner of reduc-
tion rendered it as impossible, without forfeiting
all pretensions -to consistency and fair-dealing
towards the public creditors, to depart from the
principle on which the preceding loans had been
made, and open a new one at’ a higher rate.
Moreover, the distress for money was, at this
'juncfure’, so great and so general at Calcutta, that
the first mercantile houses were giving twelve per
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cent. on the security of go-vemment obligations.
To open a public loan, therefore, at even a higher
rate of interest than six per cent. would but add
to the general distress, and produce, from the
alarm it would occasion, a very great .further de-
preciation of all existing securities, without being
-in itself productive in a degree to coinpensate
such evils.

Being thus compelled to look abroad for some
extraordinary source of supply, Lord Hastings
cast his eye upon the Nuwab Vizeer, whose ter-
ritory had suffered equally with our own from the
aggressions . of the Nipilese, and who was known
to have -accumulated an immense hoard, which
lay unemployed in his treasuries. Sadut Ulee
~ Khan, the ruler of Oudh, was a man of considera-
ble ability, and, naturally, not illiberal in disposi-
-tion; but from dwelling on his own and his
‘brother Asuf ood Doula’s misfortunes, all owing,
as it seemed to hiin, to the want of ready money,
he had become latterly extremely greedy and par-
simonions. His administration, since the forced
- cessions of 1801, bad been conducted systemati-
cally on a principle of selfish avarice, which aimed
to draw as much as possible from the country,
at the smallest possible charge. Every district
was, in consequence, farmed out yearly to the
person who offered most for it; and no care
whatsoever was taken to protect the population
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either in' property or person.* The farmer was
the only government officer employed; and he
‘'was absolute in. power, and accountable to no au-
thority but thé Nuwab himself.

In the treaty cencluded with Sadut Ulee by
Lord Wellesley, there was a loose engagement on
the Nuwab’s. part to reform his.internal adminis-
tration, and ‘the right of tendering advice to this
-end was specially reserved to the British govern-
ment. 'No result, however, had yet followed from
this stipulation, except: an interminable and most
‘unsatisfactory discussion between the Nuwab and
the Resident.- The former, of course, relished no
plan of reform that trenched at all on his means
-of accumulating wealth; while the latter urged the
‘necessity of providing establishments for the sup-
pregsion of crimes which had become enormously
-prevalent, and for the administration of civil and
criminal justice. After much fruitless negotia-
-tion, a plan of reform was devised, npon the prin-
-ciplé of assimilating the administration pf Qudh
"to that of the British provinces, and dividing the

-* ‘As an example of the character of Sadut Ulee’s admi-
nistration, it m:iy be noticed that one of his first acts after
the cession, was to resume all jageers, and rent-free tenures,

by whomsoever granted, and for whatsoever purposes, Reli-

- gious tenures, as. well: Mohummedar as Hindoo, and. all
.political grants, excepting only those protected by British
interference, fell before this general and indiscriminate con-
fiscation. - :
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territory into districts, with revenue, and judicial
officers ‘acting, as with us, under separate con-
trolling authorities at.the capital. This scheme
was referred to government by the Resident at
Lukhnou in 1810 ;. and being approved, was then
formally submitted to the Nuwab Vizeer, along
with a letter from Lord Minto, urging strongly
its adoption. ‘The Nuwab met the proposition by
declaring his readiness to adopt any scheme that
might seem to him practicable; but he denied this
‘to be so. He dwelt upon his utter want of trust-
"worthy public officers of the kind possessed by the'
British government in its civil and military ser-
vants; and contended that the plan was, in other
respects also, inapplicable to the state of things in’
his country, and. to the relations which subsisted
‘between himself and the people of his court, who
- must be his instruments, -as well as with his sub-
jects at large. 'The objection was plausible, and
certdinly not unfounded; but the truth is, that
the Nuwab saw in the scheme, besides the expense
of a large establishment, a very great abridgement
- of his own authority, and most probably, the direct
and perpetual interference of the British Resident
between himself and the public officers to be em-
ployed *. Hence he was extremely apprehensive

* Major haillie, the Resident, went so far as to-assume, in
the discussions which took place; a right of secing that pro-
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of the tendency of such a system; and notwith-
standing the Resident’s most persevering endea-
vours, backed by occasional remonstrances from
the' Governor-general himself; nothing could re-
concile him to its introdiction.: Indeed, the dissa- -
tisfaction he showed at the manmer in which the
measure was pressed,. threatened to end in a dis-
solution of the relations of the state. ,
Several other irritating subjects of discussion
contributed to augment the soreness produced by
this negotiation. There were in Oudh some fami-
lies and individuals that, from past services, claim-
«ed to be under the special protection of the British
government.. It was usual. for the Resident to
receive complaints from these against acts of the.
Nuvwab or his officers affecting their interests, and
-also to interfere to adjust disputes between differ-
ent members of the privileged families. It was
impossible, in such a state of things, to avoid col-
lision with the Nuwab ; but Major Baillie was, be-
sides, far from discreet in his manner of advocating
the cause of those to whom he gave this support,
‘and "pushed the principle much further than was
‘intended, by mcludmg his Moonshees and per-

per persons should be selected to execute the plan and fur—
ther, on one occasion, in answer to the Nuwab's objection
from the want of instruments, offered to recommend him
some,~an interference which threatened, at the very outset, to
*deprive the Nuwab of all his patronage
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sonal adherents amongbt those entitled to the ad-
vantage.

Such was the state of things at Lukhoou to-
wards the commencement of 1814. It was an.
éarly determination of Lord Hastings to adopt, as
far as possible, towards the native princes linked
in unequal alliance with us, a course of policy di-
rected to the conciliation of their personal good
will.. Seeing, therefore, the acrimony and irrita-
tion apparent in the communications between the
Nuwab Vizeer and Resident, and in the appeals
and references to which they gave rise, it was a
question with him, very soon after his arrival, whe~
ther it might not be expedient to make some ex-
change of _'Residex;ts, in order to avert the crisis
which' seemed to bé impending. The measure

. would have been a strong one, and might, perhaps,
have been misinterpreted, so as to weaken our per-
manent influence at the court of Oudh. For this
reason it was not adopted, and his Lordship rested
satisfied with enjoining Major Baillie to be more
cautious in his interference in future; and as an
earnest of his desire to conciliate the Nuwab, he

~ directed the further agitation of the question of
reform to be dropped altogether.

. Sadut Ulee Khan was naturally grateful for tlus

change of policy, for which he felt himself in-
debted entirely to the new Governor-general.

Lord Hastings, on the other hand, reckoned on
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the favourable change of sentiment thus produced,
-as likely to lead. his Excellency to enter readily
into his views in case his assistance should be
needed for the prosecution of the Nipdl war.
With this predisposition to a mutual good under-
standing, Lord Hastings commenced his journey
to the Western Provinces; but before he had pro-:
ceeded half-way, he was met by intelligence of the
death of Sadut Ulee, which occurred on the 11th
of July, 1814.. 'Ghazee-ood-Deen Hydur, the de-
ceased Nuwab's eldest son, was' at once raised to
the musnud in his room, to the prejudice of the:
interests of the second son Shums-ood-Doula, in
whose favour Sadut Ulee had created a party; for
having a mean opinion of his eldest son’s abilities,
he had desired to supersede him. Major Baillie,
in reporting these events, added, that the first act
of the new Vizeer was to yield an immediate assent
to the introduction of the plan of reform, and to
- give up all the points on which his predecessor had
so strenuously resisted. It was impossible. for
Lord Hastings to approve .of so injudicious an
exertion of influence; and his displeasure was fur-
ther excited at finding, on his arrival at Lukhnou,
.that all the most lucrative ‘appointments, created
under the scheme of reform, were filled by the
Resident’s own moonshees and dependents. It was
~ too evident that Ghazee-ood-Deen had not been
a4 free agent in what had been done. This the
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Nuwab himself did not hesitate to declare to those
about him, and he even went so far as to give in
a paper of complaint on the subject to Lord Hast-
ings ; but his fears afterwards got the better of
him, and he retracted when the matter was or-
dered for investigation. There was so much in-
trigue and mystery in all these proceedings, that
for a considerable time little was known of their
real character, and except the extreme folly and
timidity of the new Vizeer, which very soon be-
came apparent, all else was mere suspicion and
vague rumour. Major Baillie subsequently sent
in a full statement of $he whole transaction, which
led to his immediate removal from the residency,
It appeared from this, that the Nuwab’s effort to
emancipate himself from the state of thraldom in
which he was held, was the effect of an intrigue
instigated by the confidential advisers of the late
Nuwab, aided by some English gentlemen at
Lukhnou. The project was defeated by a counter
intrigue, wherein the Resident’s own- moonshee,
by holding out the example of Vizeer Ulee’s de-
gradation, and representing it as the consequence
of his quarrel with the Resident of the time,
created such an alarm in the mind of the Nuwab,
as led to his recantation of his complaints, and
nomination of the person of this party’s selection
for minister.
The truth was not discovered till after Lord
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Hastings had left Lukhnou, consequently Major
Baillie, for -the time, retained his situation, but
with the diminished confidence of the Governor=
general, and the expression of some dissatisfaction
at his past conduct. Until his removal, indeed,
which occurred about a year after, he maintained.
also, through his moonshee and the new minister,
his hold on the fears of the Nuwab; thus, for the
time, defeating the declared wish of the Governor-
general, for the Vizeer to be left unfettered in the
exercise of authority within his- own dominions.
But after this event, and the disgrace and death
of the moonshee in question, his Excellency as-
sumed the reins with a more decided hand, re-~
lying with confidence on Lord Hastings' frequent
assurances that he might consider himself in
reality, as well -as in name, independent. :This
confidence, however, in a timid mind like that of
his Excellency, was not the growth of a day, and
it .was some time, therefore, before the Nuwab
was convinced of the sincerity of the assurances
he received. - ' B '

It has been necessary to say thus ‘much of the -
passing intrigues at ‘the court of Oudh, in order
to explain the circumstances under which the
two loans’ were obtained from the Vizeer.. The
subject has else no immediate connexion with
the political history of India, and is far from
‘inviting.
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- 'The first loan was procured in October 1814 ;.
when the Resident and his party were under some
apprehension lest the complaint about to be pre-
ferred against him should be successful; and when
the Nuwab was. anxious. to 'do’ every.thing in his
power to. secure .the favour of the Governor-
general, as the only means of:securing himself
against the designs of :Shums-cod-Doula, and
eventually of emancipating: himself from the state
of thraldom in which he was held. Lord Hastings
thus found all parties eager to show zeal in pro-
moting any object known to be personally inte-:
resting. to himself; accordingly, upon’ the very
first ‘hint, through the. Resident, that financial as-
sistance was desired, his Excellency readily came
forward, and offered a crore of rupees at his next
interview. The sum was accepted as a subscrip-
tion. to the last preceding six per cent. loan, and
‘ an arrangement was at the same time made, to
reliéeve the Nuwab from the payment of stipends:
equivalent to the ‘interest payable on it. Most of:
these having been guaranteed by the British go-
vernment, or obtained, at its instance,. for indi-
viduals of the privileged class above described,
the necessity which was constantly recurring of
interposing to urge punctuality of payment.had
heretofore proved bne_ of the most fruitful sources
of irritation. The Nuwab was fully sensible of
the advantage of ridding himself of the annoyance:
Q
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of such interpesitions; so much so, that of his own
motion he added eight lakh to the principal sum
lent, in order to relieve himself from a further
stipend, beyond the amount of interest on the
- crore of rupees originally tendered.*

The aid so obtained from the Nuwab Vizeer
enabled Lord Hastings to fill the western. tred-
suries, and send his armies into the field against
Nipil, in the manner already described. A con-
siderahle portion was, at the same time, furnished
for the relief of the presidency; but his Lordship
could not avoid feeling some disappointment at
the use there made of it. There was on the
register still one remaining loan, at eight per cent.
amounting to about fifty-four lakh and a half
(Sicca. rupees, 54,56,000). In their anxiety to
be rid of this now anomalous species of stock, the
officers of finance recommended. the whole debt
being at once advertised for peremptory payment.
Such a measure, they urged, would be of the best
effect at this juncture, in restoring public credit,
and reliéving the mercantile community, who still
suffered ‘much distress from the want of money
in the market. The step was accordingly taken,
without consulting the Governor-general, upon the

& Amongst the provisions thus secured, was a liberal al-
lowance fo his Exeellency’s second brother, Shums-ood-Doula 3
who, to quiet all apprehensions from his rivalry and in-
trigues, was required to fix his residence at Bunarus.
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presumption that the Oudh loan would furnish
ample means beyond the wants of the campaign ;
but in this respect the calculation proved falla-
cious. Extensive preparations had become indis-
pensable in e\feiy quarter, and the call for in-
. creased exertions on the side.of Nipil grew every
day more urgent. The consequence was, that a
-deficiency of funds was again experienced before
the campaign was half over. In this emergency,
& second application to the Nuwab Vizeer was
deemed necessary ; the financial officers \being
unablé to devise any other remedy. - The request
for further aid was accordingly submitted, -accom-
panied with a full and candid explanation of our
difficulties. ' So applied to, his Excellency could
not, consistently with his professions -of sincere
and ardent attachment, refuse the solicited assist-
" ancej but he did not afford it so readily as on the
former occasion. He &t first offered fifty lakh,
but this sum was not accepted, and the offer was
assumed to be made from an imperfect acquaint-
ance with the extent of the embarrassment for
which ‘we sought relief. 'Thus urged, his Ex-
cellency was, at - lepgth, brought to consent to
furnish another crore on the same terms as the
preceding. It is to be observed, that the mass of
treasure accumulated by Sadut Ulee Khan, and
. made over to Ghazee-00d-Deen on his accession,
was estimated to amount, at the lowest compu-
' Q2
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tation, to seven or eight crore,* so that the ac-
commodation solicited was not more than the Nu-
- wab could well afford.

- .Having thus explained the source whence sup-
plies were drawn for the extraordinary exertions
made in 1814-15, it is time to relate the measures
they gave the means of undertaking in Central
India, while the war, already described, was waging
" to the north.

It had been resolved by the Supreme Govern-
ment, on the eve of the Governor-general’s de-
parture from the presidency, in 1814, to make a
strong representation of the formidable and rapidly
augmenting power of the predatory associations to'
the home authorities; with the view of impressing
them with the like conviction of the danger to
the British interests, arising from the continu-
ance and progressive increase of bodies so capable
of acquiring a mischievous pre-eminence; and of

. *® Major Baillie stated the amount, in money and jewels,
at fouftqen crore. In the course of 1816, the death of the
Fy.zabad Begum, widow of Shooja-ood-Doula, put govern-
‘ment in possession of fifty-six lakh more, on the condition
of providing annuities equivalent to the interest, at six per
cent. This also was a most seasonable relief. The Begum
"enjoyed our guarantee of her jag